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Preface

THE hidden seed does not spring forth until it is surrounded by the necessary
conditions to start its fermentation. When first its little bud reaches the light of day
only the keen observer can tell to what family it belongs; by most it is unnoticed.
In years it may become a very giant amongst trees. The Labor Movement in
Australia has now become an almost dominant factor in the political life of the
community; hence its history, its character and aims should be studied by every
citizen of our great Commonwealth. The need of some work setting forth the
causes leading up to the present position has been felt for some time. I have in this
book attempted to meet that much-felt want from the Labor point of view. In what
I feel to be an incomplete form I endeavor to furnish a mirror of the past, and to
present from the inside what I conceive to be the future outlook. If the Socialist
Movement of the world is helped, encouraged, and stimulated by this record of
our success in Australia, I shall have ample reward.

W. G. SPENCE.

Parliament House, Melbourne,

June, 1909.



AUSTRALIA'S AWAKENING



Chapter 1. Bedrock.

SETTLEMENT in Australia took place under conditions which differed
vastly from those obtaining in other countries. At first it was merely a
convict settlement under English rule. The Aboriginal race was a
comparatively weak one, and gave but little trouble to the pioneers, and
there were no dangerous wild animals. In America the pioneers were
forced to settle on small areas of land, so that they could mutually help
each other in defence and development. When the white man came to
Australia he found in possession the aboriginal squatter, whose runs were
tribal and whose stock were kangaroos and opossums. The white man gave
no consideration to the black man's rights, but drove him off, took up
enormous areas, and stocked them with cattle and sheep. The early white
squatter secured Crown grants, others have since purchased; and thus we
had the evil of private ownership of land before we had population.
Naturally the best land was secured by the first landgrabbers. One of these,
in the Western district of Victoria, took up blocks in his own name, then in
the names of each of his family and of the servants, and finally, when these
ran out, it is said he dummied blocks in the names of his working bullocks.
The story may not be true, but it is a fact that Australia starts its national
life with its best lands monopolised by a few families.

In Sutherland's “History of Australia” the following appears, under the
heading of “Edward Gibbon Wakefield”:—

“In 1829 a small book was published in London which attracted a great deal of
attention, not only by reason of its manner, but also on account of the complete
originality of the ideas it contained. It purported to be a letter written from Sydney,
and described the annoyances to be endured by a man of taste and fortune, if he
emigrated to Australia. He could have no intellectual society; he could not enjoy the
pleasures of his library, or of his picture gallery; he could hope for none of the
delights of easy retirement, seeing that he had to go forth on his land, and with his
own hands labor for his daily food. For, said Mr. Wakefield, the author of this little
book, you cannot long have free servants in this country; if a free man arrives in the
colony, though he may for a short time work for you as a servant, yet he is sure to
save a little money, and as land is here so excessively cheap he soon becomes a
landed proprietor. He settles down on his farm, and though he may have a year or
two of heavy toil, yet he is almost certain to become both happy and prosperous.
Thus, the colony is an excellent place for a poor man, but it is a wretched abode for a
man of means and culture.

“Wakefield, therefore, proposed to found in Australia another colony, which
should be better adapted to those who had fortunes sufficient to maintain them, and
yet desired to emigrate to a new country. His scheme for effecting this purpose was
to charge a high price for the land, and so to prevent the poorer people from



purchasing it; the money received from the sale of land he proposed to employ in
bringing out young men and women as servants and farm laborers, for the service of
the wealthier colonists. Now, said Wakefield, on account of the immense natural
resources of these colonies, their splendid soil, their magnificent pasture lands, their
vast wealth in minerals, and their widespread forests of valuable timber, which
stands ready for the axe, a gentleman possessed of only £20,000 will obtain as large
an income from it as could be procured from £100,000 in England; yet he will be
able to enjoy his learned and cultured leisure, just as he does at home, because all the
work will be done for him by the servants he employs.”

As a matter of fact, South Australia was first settled upon the conditions
advocated by Mr. Wakefield as far back as 1829. The South Australian
Association acted upon his suggestion, and at the outset sold land at not
less than 12s. per acre, and subsequently at £1 per acre. The system
adopted by all the States of selling at £1 per acre land worth, in some cases,
£3 or £4 an acre, and in others only 15s. per acre, had its origin in Mr.
Wakefield's suggestion.

The foregoing gives us the bedrock of the Labor Movement. Place the
essentials of wealth production in the hands of the few, and the rest of the
community are little better than serfs. Those who control natural
opportunities control the conditions of life for all. The worker depends on
the will of another for the right to live. The other will only employ him if
he pays tribute. In commercial life and in manufacturing, where employers
compete with each other, they cut down the cost of production by lowering
wages and by the displacement of labor by machines. Displaced labor
increases the number of the unemployed, and decreases the purchasing
power of the wage-earning class. Lessened demand affects output, and
increases competition and the war of trade. The weakest are crushed out;
the strong, the heartless, the least scrupulous, survive. Rapid invention
forces the controllers of industries into combines, trusts, and monopolies,
still further decreasing employment.

The few required to attend to the machines are but a part of the
machinery of the factory, and are counted, not as human beings, but as
“hands.” They are unknown by name or person to the shareholders of the
syndicate, company or combine whose riches they help to produce. The
manager whose brains are hired to organize and supervise the work knows
but a few of the workers, and to maintain what he thus terms discipline
holds himself aloof as if made of superior clay. Employers all aim at
securing a monopoly, and though they speak in favor of non-interference
with a competitive system, in action they soon destroy competition and
abolish the alleged law of supply and demand.

When workers, by forming trades unions, attempt to secure at least a



living wage, the employers are against them. They argue against any
restriction, and want the iron law of wages to operate. That law is that
wages fall to the lowest rate that will maintain a sufficient supply of
labor—in other words, such rate as the most needy individual workman
will accept. In unrestricted competition there is no standard, and wages are
fixed by the most greedy and unscrupulous employer and the meanest and
poorest of the workers. The standard is set by the need of workers and the
greed of employers.

With the lands and machinery in the hands of the few, the mass are
forced into wage slavery, and hence the trade union is a necessity, and is
always the first step taken by the intelligent worker towards securing better
conditions of life. Every industrial gain secured to the workers is the result
of the efforts of unionists and of no others. In the old world and in the new
the history of Labor is the same in that respect. A few individuals outside
of the workers have done good by writing and speaking, but practically the
masses have had to fight for all they have now in the shape of improved
conditions, and have had all the powers of law and law makers, of pulpit,
press, and platform against them.

The history of the movement in Australia, as in the United Kingdom, is
one of self-sacrifice, heroism, and suffering far greater that has ever been
shown on any battlefield; and there are no rewards, no Victoria Crosses, no
decorations or titles. On the contrary, there is misrepresentation,
contumely, imprisonment, starvation. The unemblazoned courage of the
wives of trades unionists locked out or on strike can never become known
or appreciated until the world becomes humanitarian instead of
commercial. The grit which enables men, women, and children to go
hungry to bed every night, rather than that the husband and father should
take the place of a fellowman with whom he is voluntarily united in
fighting against injustice and tyranny, is evidence of a quality which
inspires confidence as to the character of our race and gives us hope of our
future. We read of the hardships of the long-enforced marches of soldiers
on half rations. They are all men, and have the stimulus which comes of
comradeship and emulation. There is the help of sympathy, in the keeping
step of the march, and the music of the band. In the other case there is the
appeal of innocent children who do not understand why food is short—an
appeal which is heartbreaking to loving parents. It is the mentally strong
and intelligent who are unionists and fight the battles which lead to lasting
good. The soldier, with all his laudation, has never been noted as a class for
intelligence. He is but a machine in the hands of others to do as he is told.
Most wars are unjust, and in any case the soldier has no say in it. The
unionist is ever on the side of the welfare of his fellows. His fights are



against injustice and wrong. He sees good to be done for those who come
after him by persistent resistance of evil. The trades unionist workers—
men and women—are the true heroes and heroines of the world. Their
names are unrecorded in history, but their work lives after them and has
given color and force to a movement which cannot die, but is becoming
more powerful and better understood as time goes on. After all names
matter not; it is deeds that count.



Chapter II. Gold Digging Days.

THE discovery of gold in Australia not only brought a rush of very fine
immigrants, but put Labor in a position not contemplated by Edward
Gibbon Wakefield. There was no life more free and independent than that
of the gold digger. He was no wage slave, but a free man, with all those
high qualities only developed under free conditions. His influence counted
for much in our early history. He was a democrat. He believed in law and
order of the true kind—that which considers the interests of the mass as of
first consideration—not that of the kind we hear so much of in late years,
in which the mass and their wishes are to be suppressed for the
gratification of the ignorant and selfish ideas of a few. No force was
required in those days, as the digger recognised that he was a citizen
interested in putting down anything calculated to work against the common
good of all. Thieves were promptly dealt with by the diggers, and made to
feel that honesty would pay best. No injustice was done. Freedom begets
justice. If a dispute arose over a claim, as a mining property was called, the
Commissioner rode on to the ground, heard both sides as he sat on his
horse, and settled the matter at once. There was no delay, no lawyers nor
other humbug, as is the case to-day.

Other and more important matters were not handled satisfactorily,
however. The Government was autocratic. A Legislative Council and a
Lieutenant Governor did as they liked. The Council was all the Parliament
they had, and was practically nominated and appointed by the Crown. It
imposed a license fee of thirty shillings per month for the right to dig for
gold. This covered each calendar month only, no matter what date it was
taken out on. If a digger had just arrived on the field on the morning of the
last day, and had not started work at all, he was haled up and fined if he
failed to show a license. If he took one out he would have to take out a new
one next day. The police force of the time were a pretty bad lot. Many of
them were ticket-of-leave men from Tasmania, who played the petty tyrant
when they got a chance. These were paid—footmen 2s. 9d. per day,
mounted men 3s. In addition the force was made up of black-fellows, who
were paid 11/2d. per day. In December, 1851, the license fee was doubled;
£3 per month was demanded, or 30s. if the license was taken out after the
15th of the month. Diggers were only allowed to take up a claim of eight
feet square for one man, or eight by sixteen for a party. They were not
permitted to dig for gold within half-a-mile of any homestead. Big squads
of mounted men would ride around arresting all who had no license, and
doing so in the most offensive and brutal way. Commissioners' boundaries



were ill defined, and hence the ground was often gone over more than once
in the same day under different Commissioners. Digger hunting became a
pastime for Commissioners and police. The taxation was unreasonable, the
manner of collection unendurable, and those who had to pay had no say in
government. No body of intelligent men would justifiably stand such
treatment.

The only injustice came from the Crown—from authority—and it was so
great as to lead to our first great strike, known as the Eureka Stockade, or
Ballarat Riot. I well remember the excitement of that period, as, though not
present on the spot, I heard the firing and saw the digger hunting, etc., that
led up to it. I saw diggers under arrest made to follow on foot the mounted
police for the greater part of the day, and then saw them tied up to a tree at
night in the open cold air. The law was unjust, its enforcement was cruel,
and the democracy refused to stand it. The stand made led to lasting
changes. Several circumstances combined to bring about the final attack by
the soldiers on the diggers on Sunday morning, December 3, 1854.
Fortunately there were but a small number within the enclosure wrongly
termed a stockade. These resisted bravely enough, and 20 lost their lives.
Of the military, Captain Wise and five soldiers were killed during the brief
combat. The subsequent trial of the men arrested and the exposure of
tyrannical government led to government by the people, so that though the
diggers were beaten in the fight at Eureka they won politically.

Digging days could not last. The shallow leads ran under the basalt and
into deep wet ground, and soon led to the days of big mining companies,
and the free, independent digger became a worker for wages. In the
opening up of the deep quartz mines it was the same. Towns and cities
grew up, and so we soon had the civilization of the old land set up in the
new, with all its evils and disadvantages, modified as to degree, but there
all the same.

The 1dea of Wakefield was put into force, and land sold at £1 per acre
quite irrespective of its real value. The object sought was gained; we had a
land-owning class; rent and interest added to profits for the moneyed class,
who also took over the law making. Gradually manufacturing was
introduced, more especially in the cities, and sweating—Ilong hours and
low wages—came to the workers. In a broad, general way the history of
Labor and Capital in England during the past century would describe their
history in Australia. Details vary, but the fight is the same. Hundreds of
artisans came to Australia who were trades unionists before they left the
motherland, and they were naturally the first to apply union methods to
industrial conditions in Australia so soon as circumstances gave rise to the
need for them. That strikes should eventuate was inevitable.



Commercialism should not complain of strikes, as all buying and selling is
built on such a system. One man offers another an article at a price; the
article is refused at that price, even though the person wishes to buy. That
is a strike. Any one man has the right to refuse to work under conditions
offered to him. A thousand have the same right, and when they agree and
do so it is denounced as a wicked thing by the very class who uphold the
existing competitive system of trading. Strikes are never sought by the
worker. Almost invariably every effort is made to avoid the extreme step,
but when employers absolutely refuse even to meet the representatives of
Labor, no course is open but to strike, as that is the workers' only weapon.
It i1s common for the pretended friends of Labor, as many of the clergy are,
to tell the workers in a patronising sort of way, that they sympathise with
them and believe in unionism so long as it does not go too far—so long as
they do not strike. Practically this means that Labor shall give way to the
employers every time. But few of the leaders of high moral and religious
teaching and thought denounce the social system and conditions which are
responsible for all strikes and all forms of injustice, industrial war, and
misery.

Australia is a country of rapid development. In a very few years we have
the extremes of great riches and dire poverty. Fortunes have been made in
a quarter of a century or less, and a rich and idle class dwell in the suburbs
of our cities who assume airs of superiority characteristic of the small mind
and ignorant worshippers of gold. They have been aptly termed the
“wealthy lower orders.” For admission to their caste possession of riches is
all that is needed; moral character does not count. They rule the social life
to a large extent, and until recently dominated political life. As they sneer
at the poor as persons dependent upon the capitalist, and because poor,
consequently inferior, so they decline in any way to recognise the right of a
worker to have a voice as to the conditions he should be permitted to work
under. The capitalist provided the employment, and knew best how to
manage his business; therefore he ought to fix the terms. He believed in
freedom of contract. The worker could leave if he did not like it; but he, as
the employer and the benefactor of the whole community, must not be
dictated to as to how he should manage his business. This tone amongst
employers, together with the rapid change from individual to company,
inevitably led to friction. Though forced to earn his living by working for
another man, the Australian worker never lost his independence of spirit.
He would not cringe to anyone. The employer was to him nothing more
than a man—certainly no better than himself. Strong objection was early
taken to the terms “master” and “servant,” and in our later Acts of
Parliament the terms “employer” and “employee” are adopted to express



the industrial relationship; while in our electoral franchise for the
Commonwealth Parliament, as also for the Assembly in the States, there is

no recognition of property, but merely of manhood and womanhood in
adult suffrage.



Chapter I1I. The A.M.A.

THE Australian Labor Movement naturally divides itself into two
separate periods. One is that running from the days of early settlement, and
more particularly from the period following the gold discovery to the year
1890; the other, the period since that year. The year 1890 is, by unanimous
assent, the turning point in Australian Labor history, and marks the
beginning of the abolition of class dominance and the introduction of truly
democratic government. It was the period of a conscious awakening
amongst the workers to the fact that social salvation could not be secured
by the old methods of confining trade unions and their efforts each to its
own industry, but that union principles must be applied politically, and
reform and better conditions sought through political machinery. To
understand the position it will be well for us to get a grip of the conditions
leading up to the change, and then briefly review the results so far accruing
from the departure. When we do so it will be seen that the value of
industrial organization cannot be over-estimated. Prior to the gold
discovery in 1851 wages were low and more on the basis of those paid in
the United Kingdom. Wool-growing was the main industry, and squatters,
as the owners of sheep and cattle were termed, were little kings on their
large holdings. There was practically on Labor Movement in those days.
Squatters and others in

New South Wales could get “free” laborers then by having convicts
assigned to them. The goldfields period was from 1851 on to the sixties.
When the goldfields broke out in New South Wales there was naturally a
rush of men from other occupations. The squatters actually sent a petition
to the Government of the day, asking that martial law should be
proclaimed, and digging for gold peremptorily forbidden. Though such
unions as the Stonemasons existed in the fifties, it was not until the decade
following the falling-off in gold finding that organized Labor began its
fight.

The evils existing in connection with gold mining, which led to the
formation of the Miners' Association in 1872, were mainly a ten hours' day
or shift as it is termed; attempts to reduce wages; to introduce Chinese
workmen; and neglect of precautions to safeguard the life or health of the
miner. The miners of Bendigo, in Victoria, were the first to move. They
organized and made a demand for an eight-hour shift. Opposition was
shown to the request, when the miners offered to stake their claim on the
result of one month's trial. If they failed to do as much work in eight hours
as had previously been done in ten they agreed to forego their demand. The



mining companies accepted the challenge, and the trial took place, the
result being that the miners won, and established the eight hours. In
October following, in the same year, a big strike took place at Stawell, in
Victoria, for the eight hours, the men winning the day. Unions were
established in a number of other mining centres, and in 1874 a Conference
was held in Bendigo, when it was resolved all should unite under the title
of the Amalgamated Miners' Association of Victoria. They adopted rules
based on those of the National Miners' Association of Great Britain. Later,
the association drafted a Bill providing for eight hours, for proper
ventilation of mines, and inspection of machinery, etc. This was laid before
the Government, and owing to pressure by the Association was taken as the
basis of the Regulation and Inspection of Mines and Machinery Act of
1877, which repealed and took the place of the Act of 1873. During the
few years following, the A.M.A. fell back, until in 1878 there were only
three branches, with a total of 250 members.

The revival came from the alluvial gold mining field of Creswick,
Victoria. The immediate cause was an attempt to reduce wages from 7s. to
6s. 6d. per shift. The conditions in that and the Ballarat districts as to
wages and ventilation were especially bad. The system was what
employers called contract work. The manager fixed a price or piece work
rate of so much per foot of driving. The rate was that by which a picked
party of men working in the best places in the mine could make equal to
the standard wage of 42s. per week. It naturally followed that the average
made by other parties was under the standard in spite of straining every
nerve in hard effort. Further, a practice grew up of the manager deducting
whatever sum might be earned over wages and holding it in reserve to
make up a pay which might be under wages. Very soon, however, they
improved upon this by paying the party whatever they earned at the price
fixed when they earned less than wages, but when their true earnings
exceeded wages the excess was deducted and never paid. It was “heads 1
win tails you lose” all the time. Not only were miners' earnings very small,
but much time was lost owing to foul air and lack of ventilation. The
number of fatal accidents was very large, whilst more or less serious
accidents ran up to over fifty per cent. each half year. A form of phthisis
called “miner's lung” overtook men after a few years, and led to a more or
less lingering death. We are told that a man cannot live where a candle will
not burn, but the writer has worked many an eight hours' shift where no
candle would burn, and where light was dimly secured by placing two
candles one on the other horizontally in the mouth of the air pipe. The two
candle flames would unite, and what air came through the pipe kept them
supplied with oxygen, but left little for the miner working six feet away.



The lack of legislation to enforce sanitation and care for miners' lives and
limbs applied to all forms of mining—gold, silver, coal, and copper. In the
coal mines of New South Wales, where several thousand miners were
employed, organization was forced upon the men as early as 1869. In order
to secure trade in competition with each other, employers would cut the
selling price of coal and then try to make a profit by cutting the men's
wages. In such a field as Newcastle the employers require to have a
sufficiency of labor always on hand to supply a full market, and as a
consequence the average earnings of the men are very considerably under
the rate shown by the mineowners' books on the working days. The
employers were united in a union of their own, and were supposed to fix a
selling price, but some of them would every now and then blackleg on the
rest and thus bring trouble. Many strikes have taken place, and it has only
been by loyalty to each other and persistent resistance to reductions that the
miners have maintained a subsistence wage.

The attempt to reduce the wages of the miners at Creswick, Victoria, was
cleverly planned. One mine was almost worked out, a second nearly in the
same position, whilst a third was just opening up and had only one man on
wages. It was expected that the miners would not trouble to resist in the
mines which were so nearly worked out, and that the temptation to get
work would prevent refusal in the new mine. The directors in the mine in
which I was employed did not join in the movement at all, and most of the
workmen spoke pretty strongly against the others accepting a reduction.
The first step taken was a suggestion contained in an anonymous letter
published in the press, that the miners should organize and resist the
reduction. This was written by the manager of the mine in which the first
move was made by the board to reduce wages, a mine called Cameron's
Freehold. The letter was followed by an advertisement calling a meeting at
Dibden's Hotel for Thursday, July 11, 1878. No name was attached, but the
advertisement was put in by one of the men in Cameron's Freehold. The
afternoon shift in that mine wanted to attend the meeting, but the manager,
with apparent indignation, refused, and on the night of the meeting sent
them underground. He called one of their number into his office, however,
and told him to go to the meeting and speak on behalf of the others. This
man was named Jack McHenry, and it was his wife and daughter who a
few days later stoned a boss Chinaman who was on his way to take the
mine on tribute. The attack on the Asiatic was so vigorous that he retired,
the two women chasing him over the hill back towards where he had come
from. The meeting was largely attended, every man bar two from my own
shift being present, though our wages were not affected. I was appointed
chairman of the meeting, some suggestions made by myself were adopted,



and a branch of the A.M.A. was formed. I was elected secretary, and held
the position for nearly sixteen years. McHenry, who attended from
Cameron's Freehold, was paid his shift for that night; so we had the unique
experience of the mining company which started the reduction paying the
men who fought against it.

One of the directors in an adjoining mine was a farmer, and somebody
told him that if he went for reduction of wages he would find a firestick put
into his crop. This frightened the little wits he had out of him, and he
mounted his old grey horse and rode down to the mine to assure the men
that he was no party to the reduction. One or two others were also
frightened, as there was considerable excitement. In troubles of this kind it
i1s always wise to help your opponent out rather than force him to back
down. Finding out privately that the directors of the mine (Dyke's
Freehold) were prepared to give way, I drafted a letter which I got one of
the workmen in the mine to copy and send to the board in the name of the
rest of the workers, asking the directors to reconsider their decision
regarding the reduction of wages. It also gave some reasons for the request.
Immediately after the board meeting the men were informed that, owing to
the absence of the chairman, the consideration of the letter had been
postponed, but that in the meantime the old rate of wages would be paid. I
had arranged with the chairman that he should be absent. Of course the
matter never was reconsidered, though I had to use strong influence with
the men in the mine to induce them to refrain from demanding a reply.
Some men are great on dignity and formality, and too often unionists are
eager to humiliate the employer instead of being satisfied with gaining the
end sought.

On the morning of the day following all hands on our shift in the Ryan's
Junction Company's mine were in the act of changing to go underground
when one of the shift named Tom Ryan came rushing into the changing
house, saying in an excited tone,

“It's now or never, boys; they are sending the police to force the men
down at the Ristori mine. We must go and stop them.”

I said, “Go and see if Dyke's men will go with us.”

This mine was only a very short distance away, and within the space of
half a minute after Tom had entered their changing house he emerged,
followed by Jack Reid, Ned Russel, and others. Together with one or two
others, I at once started off at a run, and nearly ran over our manager, Mr.
W. Maughan, who shook his stick at us and said, “Mind what thoo are
aboot.” He got into his North of England dialect when excited. The whole
shift from each mine followed us. We had over a mile to run, and about ten
minutes in which to get there before it was time for the men to go below.



We crossed the paddock of private land and pulled a rail or two out of a
fence as we went, which we threw into a big sludge drain, and thus got
across. The Ristori mine was just opening up, and the only wages man, a
Mr. B. Q. Richards, went on strike against the reduction of wages. The
company called for public tenders for driving, and in spite of our warnings
miners from Ballarat had tendered at a price we considered too low to
make wages. The president of the association, Mr. John Sampson, had been
deputed to attend before eight o'clock that morning to try to persuade the
new contractors not to enter on the work. The management had sent for the
police, and two mounted constables were on the ground. All the mines
were on private property. President Sampson had been parleying with the
manager ere our arrival, and the latter had asked the police to arrest him,
only to be informed that they had no power to do so, but that he (the
manager) could sue him if he liked. The whistle blew for eight o'clock just
as we rounded the corner of the engine house. In a few minutes there were
three hundred men on the ground, and the manager changed his tone. We
put the mine on strike, and he begged permission to allow enough to go
below to make things safe for standing idle. We took care that none of the
new men did so, as we marched them out into the road, where I mounted
the stump of a tree—for, I think, my first time—and addressed the men.
We picketed the mine night and day, providing a tent for the men to stay
in, and within a week the directors gave way and we won all along the line.
We got back to our work that morning in less than two hours, and what
with the excitement and the fact that we had a good boss, we put our best
foot first and did as much work in the six hours as we usually did in eight.
This fact, although admitted, did not stop some of the shareholders from
trying to get us severely punished. First they tried to get all hands
discharged, but when informed that this meant stoppage of every mine in
the district out of sympathy, they asked for the discharge of myself and a
couple of others, but especially myself as secretary. They were informed
that this would have the same result, so we were allowed to keep our
employment.

Creswick miners made a departure in organization in this respect.
Experience had shown that something was needed to keep members in the
union after the first excitement was over. Hence the organization was made
an accident society as well as a trade union. The companies had previously
adopted the practice of enforcing payment to an accident fund in each
mine. Of course this saved their pockets. We made use of this by taking
over the existing funds, and making provision for benefits on a more liberal
scale. It also gave us an excuse, if one were needed, for compelling every
man who worked in the district to join the A.M.A. Owing to the accident



benefits saving so much to shareholders' pockets there was less opposition
to the principle of refusing to work with non-members. Almost at once we
enforced this rule, and it has been maintained successfully in that district
for nearly thirty years. The Creswick miners were practically the
organizers of the A.M.A. We became aggressive, and opened new
branches in Ballarat, Egerton, and other places, the Creswick rules, system
of account, accident pay, etc., all being adopted by the others. I became
General Secretary in 1882.

Holding the view that organization is the first step essential to social
salvation, I worked for the extension of the movement. The organization
soon added to its strength in Victoria. We sent an officer to resuscitate
Bendigo, where, with four thousand miners, they had a membership of
fifteen. Believing then, as I do still, that Labor is one in aim all over the
world, my ambition was to unite all miners— gold, silver, copper, and
coal—in one body, with an Intercolonial Council to deal with large issues
and arrange for financial aid in case of need, leaving each colonial district
self-governing in its own sphere. It took four years, however, to break
down the conservatism of delegates to our annual conferences. After
eleven and a half years' hard work my ambition was gratified. Branches of
the A.M.A. were established in every colony, including Tasmania and both
Islands of New Zealand, and all those engaged in any form of mining were
united, with a total membership of about 23,500. I regret to say that after
my retirement the conservatives who had always opposed uniting with any
other than gold miners, and only with them if in Victoria, once more
secured power, and broke up the intercolonial organization. The same
element is responsible for the A.M.A. holding aloof from the political
movement.

We had uphill work in organizing. The first nine branches had to fight for
their bare existence. Members locked out or on strike were paid £1 per
week. This involved levies and a strain on the finances, but it was good
training for those called upon to levy themselves, as it forced them to take
a wider interest in a movement in which selfishness should have no part.
During the eighteen years, 1872 to 1890, there were 29 cases of strikes,
eight of lock-out, and six other serious difficulties. The lock-out was in all
cases an attempt made by the employers to stop workers from joining the
union. There were thirteen attacks on unionism. In addition to these, our
industrial battles were for shorter hours, three; to resist reduction of wages,
thirteen; to resist attempts by employers to increase hours, two; against
Chinese, two; against non-unionists, four. In most cases the A.M.A. won.
Some were settled by compromise, and one by arbitration. After a time
mine-owners readily met us in conference, and friendly settlement took the



place of industrial war. In 1882 the Creswick Branch asked for an increase
of wages of sixpence per shift. A conference was held between delegates
from both sides, the result being that the increase was conceded, as well as
some other advantages. The agreement, though not in writing, has been
loyally observed by both sides, and was only varied by a similar
conference held a number of years later.

Creswick miners do not allow a member to fall into arrears. If he owes
over a month's contribution he is called upon to pay up, or the members
will not work with him, nor will the engine-driver lower him underground.
There is no interference with men seeking employment, nor with the
choice of the management. When a newcomer appears he is asked by the
steward of the shift if he is a member. If he is he produces a clearance
certificate. If he is not he is asked to join, and if he has not got the cash it
will be lent to him so that he can become entitled to benefit in case of
meeting with an accident. Should he refuse to join, then the steward quietly
informs the underground manager or captain of shift, as he is termed, and
he gives the man his choice of paying or leaving the mine. I can only recall
three cases in fifteen years where it reached this stage. In one or two mines
the management gave authority to stewards of the association to send about
his business a man who made any bother about paying into the A.M.A.

The experience of the A.M.A. has shown that whilst the benefit system
undoubtedly tends to keep up membership, and also to lessen the
opposition of the employers, on the other hand it hampers the distinctly
union side. There is a tendency to increase benefits without increasing
contributions, and thus leave finances short for bona-fide union work.
Members come to look upon it as a purely accident relief society rather
than as a union. Good leaders may counteract this to a large extent by
vigorous propaganda, but good leaders are not plentiful. The miners'
organizations have done splendid work for their members and for the
mining industry, not only in Victoria, but in all the other States. They have
influenced legislation to a considerable extent, though they have been slow
in Victoria and in Newcastle, N.S.W., to officially join with the other
unions in the political movement.

A very important series of amendments of the Regulation and Inspection
of Mines and Machinery Act was made in 1883, and it is worth recording
how these were secured. An election had been held and a new Ministry had
taken office. The gentleman appointed to the office of Minister of Mines
(Mr. J. F. Levien) was a grower of onions, and had no connection with or
knowledge of mining. A storm of protest was raised in the press of the
mining districts of the colony, and it is hard to say what might have come
of it but for our action as officers of the A.M.A. Three of us went to



Melbourne to wait upon the new Minister. At his invitation, the night
before the day for officially meeting us we met him in a small room in the
Library of Parliament House, and there we coached up the Minister on
various phases of mining matters of which he was previously utterly
ignorant. He was an apt pupil, and was very affable. As we parted he
remarked that next day we must remember that he would have his official
cap on. Next day we solemnly laid our requests before him, the press being
fully represented; and the papers commented afterwards on the highly
intelligent grasp of mining matters the Minister evidently possessed, as
indicated by his reply to the deputation. All opposition to his filling the
position was killed, and we got our amendments put through, and they are
still the law of the State.



Chapter 1V. “He Vos Come Back No More.”

ABOUT 48 years ago, rich copper deposits were found on a part of
York's Peninsula, S.A., now called Wallaroo and Moonta. It was so rich
that something like £1,500,000 has been declared in dividends without
investment of any outside capital to develop the mine. To work it a large
body of miners were brought direct from Cornwall, England. For many
years they lived isolated from the rest of the colony, remaining more
Cornish than Cornwall itself. Eventually the iron horse reached Kadina and
Wallaroo, twelve miles away. The discovery of silver at Broken Hill drew
away some of the young men, and so it came about that the sons on their
visit home told the older men of the advantages of Unionism. It caught on
like a new gospel, and a strong branch of the A.M.A. was organized. The
Cornish miner is generally a man who can do his share of grumbling, and
frequently reckons he knows how to run a mine better than the manager, so
when Unionism caught on they realised that many injustices might have
been remedied years ago had they been organized and pulled together
instead of merely growling as individuals. This feeling led to
concentrating, as it were, all the grievances of a quarter of a century into
the living present. There were enough genuine grievances without that, but
the strong feeling so common when “strike” is in the air partakes of
memories of the past as well as exaggerations or misconceptions of the
present. Certain concessions were asked for, which the company refused,
and so a strike was threatened. This was in 1889. The rules of the A.M.A.
prohibited any strike being entered upon without the authority of the
Executive Council, who had first to exhaust all means of amicable
settlement. The President, Mr. J. B. Burton (since a Minister of the Crown
in Victoria) and myself at once visited the district.

Moonta mine had, owing to its isolation, made provision for almost every
requirement, and had extensive surface works, such as a foundry and other
large workshops. It had its own little railway over the works, telephone and
telegraph, etc. Until the railway came to Kadina it was, in fact, a self-
contained community. To get at the facts, we wired ahead asking that
representatives of all the various departments of labor on the mine above
and below should meet us. They did so, and we had a few hours of
cramming with the grievances of all and sundry. Moonta miners are a fine
body of men, and they selected intelligent men to state the case to us. It
was after closing hours when we reached our hotel, but we had no sooner
said good-night to our friends and got inside when we were informed that
four men wanted to see us privately. We met them in a parlor, and after



seeing that the door was locked, they introduced themselves. They were
four sensible miners, past middle age, and after satisfying themselves of
our privacy, one of them said:

“See here, we do know that thee two be'est come here to do a fair thing
by us miners, so we just come to tell 'ee that things ain't so bad for we
underground men as some ov 'em do make out. Some ov 'em got nice little
bit in the bank yon. It's they surface men wot's worst treated.”

We found out afterwards that there was truth in what the old chaps had
told us, and that and other information proved very useful. On retiring to
our room after seeing them out we overheard a dialogue in the adjoining
room. Two men, one of whom was a German, were loudly discussing the
threatened strike.

“Ach, you vas vant to do like dey did in my gountry vonce.”

“What was that?” asked his companion.

“Vell, ve try all vair means. Ve ask dem to meet mit us und dey say no.
Ve find de boss he act de tyrant, and vill not do away mit de injustice. So
von night, bretty late, ve march oop, a goot many oondreds, to de hose of
de manager, and ve say, ‘Come oudt,” undt he come oudt. Ve ask if he vill
give us justice, und he tell us go to 'ell; so ve surround him and march avay
mit him into de bush a long vay. Den ve all come back but dot manager; he
vas come back no more.”

Next morning we had arranged to see the general manager, Captain
Hancock. Representatives of the branch had been appointed to go with us;
but the Captain objected to seeing them if they retained as one of their
number a man who had led in some trouble some time before, and who had
since been boycotted by the company. He still had the confidence of the
men, and they stood by him. Fault was found with us for not taking up their
attitude, until we explained that we were there to steer clear of local heat or
difficulties, and to get the true hang of things so as to advise our Executive.
We found in Captain Hancock a rather nervous, elderly gentleman, but we
readily got all the information he could give us, and then we decided to go
to Adelaide and meet the directors. On our return to the hotel the landlord
told us that a big Cornishwoman had just been there to borrow his stable
broom because, as she said, “it had plenty of wood in en” and she “might
want en to sweep Captain Hancock out.” It appears that the Captain's
predecessor had been swept out of Moonta by the women, carrying a
broom each. The German's remark of the preceding night, “Dot manager he
come back no more,” was given a new significance, and fully explained the
very evident nervousness of Captain Hancock. We met the directors, and
put what we felt was a strong case before them. Their reply was not a
denial of some of the grievances, but simply that at present prices of



copper they could not grant the requests, as the mine would not pay them,
and if the men persisted they would have to close the mine and let it stand
idle. They said, however, they realised that we only wanted to be fair, and
so they did not ask us to take their assertion as to whether the mine would
pay, but had given their secretary instructions to allow us to examine and
inspect the company's books and ascertain for ourselves the exact cost of
the production of a ton of copper. We accepted the offer, and by that means
were enabled to explain away several errors which the officers and
members of the branch had quite naturally fallen into.
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If the example set by that board of directors was followed by others,
many a serious strike would be prevented. Troubles arise from a want of
frankness on the part of employers. They make the mistake of ignoring the
workers as if they had no interest in the industry or its success. At the same
time the employers are often loud in their complaints that the workers do
not consider the losses. If the workers make a suggestion they are charged
with wanting to dictate to the employer how he shall manage his business,
whilst the employer assumes a dictatorial attitude all the time. Instead of
treating the worker as a partner, he is looked upon as one who constantly
wants to take advantage of those who stand in relation to him as owners of
the industry upon the success of which his living depends. We had an



interview with the directors of the Wallaroo mines before returning to
Moonta, and gained some slight concessions from both companies, but
failed to secure what the men were asking.

The delivery of our report and ultimatum to the miners was a scene never
to be forgotten. Excitement ran high. The brooms were ready, and their
plucky owners equally so. No sooner had the signal bell rung for knock off
work at 5 p.m. than the men assembled around the platform of the
tramway, from which we were to speak. All hands came just as they were.
The women stood generally in the outer circle of the crowd. They left the
work of decision to the men, but were prepared to loyally carry it out
whatever it might be, even if it meant going hungry in order to secure
justice. About 2000 persons were present, and ere the meeting ended
torches were lit, giving the gathering a more varied hue and more intensity.
Mr. Burton and I had an unpopular report to deliver to them. We had to
explain away many exaggerations. We had to give them solid, hard facts.
We had sifted every grievance. Most were genuine; in fact, generally those
touching wages were so. We had to show that in many things they had
wrongly blamed the manager, as we had seen the press copies of
instructions sent to him by his board. Having gone through the books, we
had ascertained for ourselves the exact cost of production. Having secured
certain concessions, with a better understanding and recognition of the
men's claims, we recommended that no strike should take place. Others
spoke, and amongst them one who, with fine voice and elocution, delivered
an oration in rhyme. I think it was a parody, but it was a good one. He had
put it together, and there must have been about thirty verses. It was
expressive of the idea common to most—namely, that we were bound to
have gained for them all or nearly all that they were asking; so it was a
song of victory, and likened us to Moses and Aaron, who were to lead the
miners of Moonta out of the bondage of slavery, and our names were to
live when those of the “tyrant directors had sunk in the dead sea of
forgetfulness.” The meeting fully accepted our recommendation, expressed
confidence in us, and later were specially glad that no strike had
eventuated, and that there had been no need for that broom with “plenty of
wood in 'en.”

In the detail of the Moonta trouble several instances came under our
notice typical of what will be found in all industries where men are not
organized. We found grown-up young men working for from 2s. 6d. to 4s.
6d. per day, and in more than one case they were married. Starting as boys,
it was apparently forgotten by all concerned that they had grown older as
time went on. As their producing power increased so their share of wealth
decreased. It was only when unionism came and the body took up their



cause that their wages were increased. We found in charge of pattern-
making in the foundry a first-class tradesman working for 7s. per day. He
was a very superior tradesman, with considerable genius for invention. He
was of the type who take a keen interest in their work for the work's sake,
and but little in what they receive for it. Quiet and unassuming, and content
with a living wage, his only ambition was to excel in the quality of his
workmanship. At an exhibition in Adelaide the manager of the mine had
been accorded great credit for a rock drill with improved jacket. The drill
was the unacknowledged patent of a Victorian, and the improved jacket the
invention of the workman paid 7s. per day, while his market price
anywhere else was at the lowest 12s. per day. Naturally we made a good
deal of this man's case, and as it was published in the press it came under
the notice of a big firm at Gawler, whose manager was waiting on the
railway station at 6 o'clock in the morning to intercept us and offer the man
12s. to come to their firm. We declined to give his name at that stage, but
promised to tell the man himself of the offer. Some time after this I met the
man referred to at Waukaringa, earning double the wages he had been paid
at Moonta, and of course more highly appreciated. Union officials should
be careful to be thoroughly honest and just in their dealings with the other
side. It always pays, to put it at the lowest. In the Moonta case Captain
Hancock sent his second in command all the way to Kadina to thank us for
clearing his name, and to ask our advice on a certain matter connected with
the mine and the men. He honestly carried out our recommendation.



Chapter V. The King of the North-East.

A STRONG and well-known personality in the North-East of Victoria
was the late Hon. J. A. Wallace, M.L.C. He owned mining leases all over
the district, and had big influence in the Mines Department—in fact, was
quite a petty king in his way. When the miners at Bethanga began to
organize in 1885, his manager posted an intimation that anyone joining the
AM.A. would be dismissed. The men joined in spite of it. A lock-out
resulted, and it cost the A.M.A. £100 per week for some weeks to support
the miners. The engine drivers stood by the employer, and hence I sent a
circular letter to each, appealing to them to join with their fellow-workers
in the fight for freedom—to unite for the purpose of improving the
conditions of life. These letters were published, and Mr. Wallace and the
local secretary had some controversy in the press. One day a constable
called on me in my office, and asked for and obtained a copy of my
signature. A day or two later I was telegraphed for to go to Melbourne at
once. This was by order of the late Mr. (afterwards Sir Graham) Berry. On
arrival at his office, the Chief Commissioner of Police (the late Mr.
Cholmley) was sent for. The Chief Secretary (Mr. Berry) had just
discovered that under an old law of George the IV., then in force in
Victoria, proceedings had been initiated by the Commissioner against me
for intimidation. This meant a minimum penalty of six months'
imprisonment. The late Commissioner did not look comfortable. When
asked by Mr. Berry upon what authority he had acted, he could only
produce newspaper clippings containing copies of my letters to the engine
drivers and Mr. Wallace's letters to the same papers. Chief Secretary Berry
was very severe on Mr. Cholmley. He said:

“I am astounded at your action. You consult me on the most trivial
matters, and yet here you take action involving serious political
consequences without consulting me at all. You send a constable to worm
the signature out of this man” (pointing to me), “and act without saying a
word. If such a thing occurs again I shall take steps to secure a new
Commissioner of Police.”

A special meeting of the Cabinet was held, and in the afternoon I was
informed that it was “all right.” Subsequently I learned what had taken
place. The king of the North-East had moved the Commissioner to take
proceedings against me. The constable stationed at Bethanga, when asked
to take action, reported that he saw no grounds for action against anyone
unless it was Mr. Wallace himself. This did not suit, so it was found that
under the old law—Ilong since repealed in England—a case could be made,



and the constable was ordered to proceed by criminal summons. At this
stage the Chief Secretary heard of it through a member of Parliament. He
at once saw that such a case would turn popular feeling against the
Government; hence he moved at once. When the wires were set in motion,
however, it was found the summons had been made out and posted to the
police at Creswick for service on me there. The Cabinet were in a dilemma,
as no Government could interfere with law at that stage, and what they
wanted was to avoid anything coming out. It was got over by the Minister
for Mines hunting up the Hon. J. A. Wallace, and, under threat of forfeiture
of his leases, he who had initiated the proceedings had to withdraw them.
They were only just in time, as about one day will carry the mail from
Bethanga to Creswick.

One of the drawbacks to mining development is the evil of
“shepherding.” Mining leases are granted subject to certain labor
covenants; that is, so many men per acre must be employed or the lease can
be forfeited. Syndicates and companies evade this by securing suspension
of labor covenants on various pretexts. The A.M.A. very early took a hand
in seeing that all suspensions were granted on some reasonable ground.
They did not object to time being given to those who had laid out capital in
opening up a mine, and who met with difficulties, such as influx of water
necessitating new machinery. They opposed the “shepherd”—the man or
company who took up a lease and did nothing but merely await a chance to
sell and take advantage of the efforts of other men who had proved
adjoining country. We had a long fight with the Department and the late
John A. Wallace over his Bethanga leases. The Ministers were getting tired
of giving him concessions, and at last we were to meet him before the
Acting-Minister for Mines (the late Hon. Duncan Gillies). The appointment
had been made for 11 o'clock on a Wednesday morning at the Treasury,
but on arrival in Melbourne we received a message to the effect that the
interview was postponed until next day on account of the indisposition of
the Hon. J. A. Wallace. However, we went to the Department at 11 o'clock,
and were in time to catch our friend Mr. Wallace on his way to see the
Minister. He was surprised to see his ruse a failure, and we all went in
together, and after much haggling Mr. Wallace was forced to agree to
putting on at least ninety men at once or have his lease declared forfeited.

The anti-Chinese movement was one of the early developments of
democratic feeling in Australia. So strong was it that in 1861 it led to riot
amongst the diggers at Lambing Flat, Burrangong, New South Wales. They
drove the Chinese off the field, some of the pig-tailed heathens losing their
lives. There were at that time 38,000 Chinese in the two colonies of New
South Wales and Victoria— 12,988 in the former, and 24,732 in the latter.



But for the action of the gold diggers and restriction of Chinese
immigration by a poll tax and otherwise, Australia would have been
practically a Chinese possession. The same strong feeling that caused the
Lambing Flat diggers to revolt actuated the miners of Clunes, Victoria, in
1876. The directors of the Lothair Gold Mining Company decided to
introduce Chinese labor. The miners, who were all members of the
AM.A., determined to resist. The Chinese were to be brought from
Creswick, eleven miles distant. Two coaches were filled with Chinese and
placed under police escort. The miners had mounted pickets out, and were
informed of every move. There are two roads to the town, and that on the
west side, where the mine was situated, was blockaded by the miners. On
discovering this the coaches were turned, and, crossing a deep creek, they
made for the town by the other road. The miners rushed across, having
about a mile to run, and hastily improvised a barricade, effectually
blocking the way so far as the coaches were concerned. The excitement
and cheering were great, men, women, and children joining in the
resistance. Near by was a heap of road metal, and arming herself with a
few stones a sturdy North of Ireland woman, without shoes or stockings,
mounted the barricade as the coaches drew up. As she did so she called out
to the other women, saying:

“Come on, you Cousin Jinnies; bring me the stones and I will fire them.”

The sergeant in charge of the police presented his carbine at the woman,
and ordered her to desist. Her answer was to bare her breast and say to
him:

“Shoot away, and be damned to ye; better be shot than starved to death.”

With the words she threw a stone, cutting the cheek of the officer. After
that stones flew rapidly; the horses began to plunge, and the Chinese to
yell; whilst the terrified director (by name Solomon) in charge crawled into
the boot of the coach for safety. In less time than it takes to tell it, the
horses were turned and driven off whence they had come, the Chinese
invasion was repulsed, and no Chinaman has ever gained a footing in
Clunes even unto this day. Needless to say a fuss was made by the
authorities, but no one was punished. The mayor of the town at the time—a
fine old man named Blanchard—was an officer of the local A.M.A. Those
who put law and order as superior to the welfare of men, instead of being
considered as a power to be used for good, of course found fault with the
mayor for not reading the Riot Act and tried to get Blanchard into trouble,
but wiser counsels prevailed. Clunes residents were and still are proud of
their fight against capitalistic greed and Chinese. A few years later, through
the influence of the A.M.A., the Mines Department agreed to insert a
clause in every mining lease issued providing that Chinese labor would not



be recognized as fulfilling the labor covenants.



Chapter VI. Capitalistic Intrigue.

NOTHING so manifests the unfairness of the press generally as the way
they hide or condone offences committed by capitalists whilst they
invariably exaggerate any mistake made by Unionists, and too often invent
an offence in order to cause public opinion to be in favor of the
commercial classes, in whose interests most newspapers are run. One of
the most cruel means adopted by employers is that known as the “boycott.”
I early had my first personal experience of it, and of the bitter hatred
employers feel towards one who takes an active part in inducing his
fellow-workers to seek justice. As I have said, I was working in a gold
mine at Creswick, Victoria, when we organized the Miners' Association.
Shortly afterwards we took the mine on tribute under a three years'
agreement. Thus we could not be treated as ordinary wages men. So soon
as we finished our term, however, there was no more work for me in any
mine. The boycott was enforced, and I had to seek a living for myself and
family as best I could. It turned out a good thing for me, however, as I have
not done any mining work since; and it really gave me greater freedom to
become a bigger thorn in the side of capitalism by my being able to devote
my whole efforts to organizing work and extending Unionism. Our first
president of the Miners' Association at Creswick (Mr. J. Sampson) was
also boycotted as soon as he got out of the job he was working at. Another
of our presidents (Mr. T. Phillips), a very fine, quiet, decent, and moderate
man, with a big family dependent upon him, was boycotted because of a
remark wrongfully attributed to him by the press in reporting one of our
general meetings. He was driven out of the district, and it was over a year
before he could get back to his family. Several active members of our
committee were treated in the same way, and had to leave to seek work
elsewhere. At last, when the employers came to realise that many of these
men were getting into something else much better than mining, they eased
off the persistent boycott. They found also that there were others ready to
take the places of the men who were put out of office, and that they could
not kill Unionism that way.

Shortly after we organized the miners of Broken Hill in 1887, a black
list, containing the names of eight men, was sent round all the mines in that
district by the Mining Managers' Association. The eight men were not to be
employed in the district. No reason was given, nor were the men informed.
They were allowed to go from mine to mine seeking work, always hoping
to get a chance, but always meeting with the reply that they had “no room
for more hands.” These are only illustrations of a practice quite common.



In some cases where it was clear that men were spotted because they were
Unionists strikes eventuated; but this only made the employers more
careful in the method of boycott; it did not stop the evil.

The Pastoralists' Union is without doubt the most bitterly unscrupulous
organization in the world, hence we find them carrying out the most
complete system of organized boycott it is possible to conceive of. Under
the guise of giving references as to character and ability, they have
extended over a whole continent a huge system of organized boycott
intended, not to weed out incompetent workmen, but all Union men who
had the courage to ask for a reasonable measure of justice. The system was
first introduced into Queensland after the industrial war of 1891. At the
finish of shearing work in each shed each workman was handed a
reference, giving name of station, classifying the man as “good,” or “very
good,” etc., under the head of ability; also stating how classed under head
of character. The document was signed by the employer or his manager,
and so far as appeared on the face it was a genuine document. Each
reference was numbered, and exceptional type and paper were used to
prevent fraud. As it is well-known that Union men are invariably the best
workmen, they thought they had nothing to fear from honest references,
and so accepted them. They soon found out, however, the real object. Two
men, each holding a reference filled up exactly in the same way, present
themselves at a station, and ask for work. They are asked to produce their
reference. One is put on; the other is refused employment, although the
station is short-handed.

The plan adopted by the P.U. is this. A confidential list is sent in by each
station manager at the end of each shearing season to the P.U. office. This
list contains the men's names and the number of their references. Under the
head of “remarks” it is indicated as to whether the man 1s “desirable” or no,
and ‘“‘agitators” and “staunch Union” men are specially noted. The man's
ability as a workman is quite a secondary consideration. (As a matter of
fact, a man may be considered a good workman by one manager and
inferior by another, so that it is often merely a matter of opinion.) Prior to
next season a book is made up for each district and a copy sent to each
station, and hence when a man presents himself and his reference, or when
he writes applying beforehand and encloses his reference, the employer or
manager simply looks at the list in the book and decides accordingly. The
good man from the Union point of view is sent away, or refused work by
letter in case of writing. By this system they drove all the active spirits of
1891 out of Queensland.

The A.W.U. in the Southern States fought against the system for some
years, but eventually had to give way, though steps were taken in other



ways to counteract its effect. The system is still in force. Some of the
references acquired a money value, and £1 each for those given by a
certain station manager was readily paid. It has been reported that as high
as £5 has been paid for one of the references issued by Mr. Chase, of
Lanillo Station, in 1894. The possession of one of these was certain to
secure a man a job, because it had originally been issued to one who had
taken a striker's place. The man who bought the reference simply assumed
the name for the time being.

Change of name in dodging the boycott became so common that it is
alleged that some men forgot what their right names really were. One man
who had bought one of Chase's references for £1 did not get through with
it. It was in the name of Cohen, and that name suited the buyer with his
Irish brogue well enough. But it just happened that the original holder of it
was a Jew with somewhat broken English; so when the Irish “Cohen”
presented himself Chase remembered the peculiarity of a Jew shearer, and
so he impounded the reference and the £1 deposit, and “Cohen” lost his job
as well.

Other means of using the boycott were adopted—such, for instance, as
punishing the local storekeeper or butcher if he supplied a strike camp with
rations or meat. They could make it uncomfortable for the butcher by
refusing him agistment for his horses or cattle, and as the squatter held
nearly all the country it would prove effective enough to close up his shop.
They also controlled the Bench, as the squatter is always a J.P. Then there
were the many methods taken to block the Union organizer from getting
near the men. In many cases they ordered them off the run, and if they
refused had them fined for trespass.

Organizers have been fired at and Unionists have been shot by non-
Unionists without any action being taken by the authorities. All the old
musty laws which, though repealed in the land of their origin, are found to
be in force here were dug up against Unionists. Since the advent of Labor
in politics, however, these things are disappearing fast.

Experienced Trade Unionists know that many strikes have been secretly
organized by the employers for trade purposes, and with a view of
affecting the prices of either commodities or shares. One such attempt, of
which I had experience, will prove of interest. Briefly, the circumstances
were these. The Amalgamated Miners' Association included in its
membership every person employed in or about a mine, and in Creswick
included the engine drivers. The engine drivers in Victoria formed an
organization of their own, and a branch of it was opened in our district.
Those who joined it remained members of the A.M.A. as well. There was
much discussion, however, as to whether they should not cease to do so,



and it was then that a few schemers who did much mining speculation saw
their opportunity.

The plot was laid by the Board of one mine, and they arranged to call a
meeting of mine directors. The meeting was duly held, close upon 40 being
present. No one who was known to be favorable to the miners was invited.
An understanding was arrived at that in the event of a strike taking place
there was to be united action on the part of all the various Boards, and all
the men were to be locked out. But stoppage would save calls upon the
pockets of the directors and shareholders. The mines were all on private
property, and those in the call-paying stage could not be stopped without
an excuse of this kind or the landowners would come down on them under
the agreement. The other dividend-paying mines chanced to be in a good
position just then for being allowed to stop without much damage
occurring underground.

If a strike took place over a quarrel amongst the members of the A.M.A.
a lock-out would be popular amongst directors, and the stoppage of all
work would send the price of shares down with a run, When they had got
to the lowest the directors in the know would quietly buy up, and when
they had got possession they could start the mines going again, either at
reduced wages or even at the same rates; the shares would jump in value,
and the buyers would steadily unload and thus quietly pocket thousands of
pounds among them.

Thus was the plot made, and everything was ready, even to the man who
was to make the trouble. The secretary of the newly-formed Engine
Drivers' Association allowed himself to run into arrears. He persisted in his
refusal to pay, and so it was decided that the men were to refuse to go
underground until he paid up. He was on afternoon shift, which starts work
at four o'clock.

As secretary of the A.M.A., | went to the mine. The men were all ready
to refuse to go below unless he paid up. I had found out the plot by this
time, but could not betray my informants. I wanted to gain time, so I used
plausible arguments, flattered the vanity of the weak man who was the tool
to be used, and got him to agree to pay up. I pointed out that I was sure he
wanted to do the honorable thing, and that was to do as men did in a
Friendly Society or other body—they paid up and then sent in an official
resignation of membership. He hesitated, and did not give way until he
went to the office of the mine manager to consult him. I knew it would be
all right when he went there, as I had been there before him.

The matter was staved off for a month, but again it came to the time
when a stand was ordered to be made by the same shift of men. I tried hard
to induce the committee to take another mine as the test case—one which I



knew to be outside the ring—but they were stubborn, and would not
believe my forecast of what would result; and of course I could not give
my authority. The vice-president of the A.M.A. (Mr. Evans) and myself on
the day fixed for the stand to be made visited the private home of the
secretary of the Engine Drivers, who had again refused to pay up his
contributions. We were admitted to his front room, but I noticed that his
wife (they were a young couple) stood behind his chair during the whole
interview. He was a weak man. She evidently knew it. My persuasive
tongue had won him over once—it was not to have a second chance.

However, we had a mission to fulfil. We pointed out the misery that
would happen to the wives and children of the miners if a strike took place.
We appealed-to his sympathy and fellow-feeling for the women and
children, if he had none for men; but in vain. That thin-lipped woman
behind him stood firm, and her heart was as stone. We pointed out that in
any event his organization was bound to be crushed. If the mine-owners
won—as they were likely to do—both Unions of the men would go under.
If the A.M.A. won, then they would swallow up the drivers, the latter being
so few in number. At last, in spite of that cold ruler of his life behind his
chair, we secured a promise from him that he would call a special meeting
of the officers of his Union for that evening, and that in the meantime he
would not go to work.

We left it at that. I did not go to the mine; but evidently the woman did
her part, because the man went notwithstanding his promise not to go; and,
taking the engine, lowered the men to their work. They were prepared to
stand out, but were too well disciplined to act without orders, so his effort
to bring on a strike failed; and the letters lying in the drawer of the mine
manager's desk—ready to send to the other mines—were not sent, nor was
the horse which was ready in the stable needed to carry them. Had I carried
out my committee's instructions there would have been a strike, followed
by a lock-out, to the ruin possibly of a very fine organization. However, we
met the executive of the other body that evening. They were all straight
Unionists, and a mode of settlement between the two bodies was arrived at,
and thus the plot of the schemers failed; and that wife's ambition, whatever
it may have been, was not gratified.

No sooner had the Arbitration Act become law in New South Wales than
a move was made by the pastoralists and shearing contractors to prevent
the A.W.U. from securing any advantage under it. They secretly organized
a bogus Union, called the Machine Shearers' and Shed Employees' Union.
This body they registered, and were allowed to do so owing to bad
regulations under the Act, though the Judge held that the intention of the
Act was clearly that there should be only one Union representing an



industry.

This bogus organization was backed up by funds given to it as donations.
A conference was held between it and the Pastoralists' Union, which came
to an agreement for a reduction of wages and rates; and this agreement was
duly registered under the Act, and became binding under the law. The
bogus Union—the M.S.U.—had but a small membership, but as employers
refused to engage men unless they could show a ticket in it the membership
naturally increased. It started with a subscription of 2s. 6d. per annum, but
soon raised it to 7s. 6d. The rules secured the official positions for two
years to those first elected, so as to prevent any scheme of swamping them
out being carried.

The genuine body—the A.W.U.—was thus kept out of Court after
fighting for arbitration for years, and by the Act itself was prevented from
striking for higher wages. The fear of the law did not prevent its doing so,
however, and a big strike took place in 1902. A Royal Commission was
secured to enquire into the bona fides of the M.S.U., but could get no
evidence from either the officers, the auditors, or the bank manager. These
gentlemen took the risk of a £20 fine rather than disclose the crookedness
of the bogus affair patronised and supported by the P.U. The Commission,
of course, declared their lack of bona fides.

Still, their audacity knew no limit, and when the Federal Arbitration
Court became law they registered under it, but withdrew when the A.-W.U.
began proceedings to have the registration cancelled. Fortunately, A.W.U.
members are too strong in Union principle to allow their organization to be
destroyed, otherwise the move would have succeeded in breaking up the
Union.



Chapter VII. The Wool-Kings of Australia.

THE biggest industry in Australia is that of wool - growing, so far as
value of product is concerned. The labor cost is the lowest. The squatter
holds large areas of leased lands, and also owns vast areas of freehold.
Over all these he is monarch of all he surveys, and prior to 1887 he did as
he liked. He fixed his own terms for labor himself, drafted the agreement
which the men had to sign, and so early as 1846 got a Masters and Servants
Act passed in New South Wales—the principal wool-growing State—with
special provisions enslaving the shearer under penalties of fine and
imprisonment, and in addition forfeiture of earnings. When we also
remember that the squatter was in most cases the magistrate administering
the law, we can see that the unfortunate shearer or other station employee
had but a poor show for justice.

The general shearing season in New South Wales lasts from July to
December. The custom is for shearers to write beforehand and ask for a
“pen” or “stand”—that is, an engagement to shear. (The sheep are placed in
a pen, where the shearer catches one at a time and carries it to the shearing
floor.) The employer replies, and if he engages he asks for £1 deposit to be
sent, which is forfeited if the shearer fails to turn up at roll call. Shearing is
by piece-work—or contract, as it is called. Each man engages to shear at so
much per 100 sheep, the rate for some time having been 20s., but is now
24s. The shearer finds himself in shearing requisites and food. They all live
in a hut provided for the purpose, and engage their own cook, to whom
they pay four shillings or a little more per man per week. Rations are
obtained from the station store.

In the pre-Union days not only did the squatter offer low rates for
shearing, but he took advantage in many other ways. A favorite method
was known as “second price.” The squatter would provide in the agreement
which the shearers had to sign that he would pay for all sheep shorn to his
satisfaction the sum of 17s. 6d. per hundred, but if at any time the shearer
failed to do his work in a manner satisfactory to the employer or his agent
he would be paid at the rate of 15s. per hundred—not only for the sheep
alleged to be badly shorn, but for all those shorn previously and already
passed as well done. Under this clause many men have had their work
condemned during the last few days of the shearing, and have been
victimised to the amount of 2s. 6d. per hundred on thousands of sheep,
which had been shorn satisfactorily.

Another scheme was known as “raddling.” This meant that a whole
penful of sheep would be marked and not paid for because the last one or



any other one was not done to please the boss. As the employer was sole
judge, he had the men at his mercy. The greatest of all schemes for robbing
the shearer was the almost universal practice of charging exorbitant prices
for rations. For instance, £2 10s. per bag has been charged by the station
for flour, though it could be bought at a store a mile away for £1. Men have
had to pay 3s. per bar for soap which could be bought for 8d. in the shops.
Everything was from 20 to 100 per cent. dearer than ordinary store rates in
the same neighborhood. To make sure of securing these prices they would
insert a clause in the shearing contract agreement binding the men to
purchase everything at the station store. Further, many of them prohibited
hawkers from coming near the shearers' hut.

As the cook had to obtain the supplies when required, the cost would
depend largely not only on his ability as a cook, but his attention to the
weight and quality of goods. Some squatters insisted on having a voice in
the appointment of the cook, though they had nothing to do with paying
him. In the new agreement put forward by the Pastoralists' Union in 1894
they had a clause claiming the privilege.

It is not hard to understand why they wanted to have their own man
appointed. Once a shearer or shed employee signed on he was a prisoner
till the work was done. He could not leave, but could be discharged at the
sweet will of the employer or his agent, and often the conditions of
agreement made it to the advantage of the employer to discharge him.
Needless to say, all classes of labor on stations were treated in a similar
way so far as circumstances would permit. It is not claimed that all
pastoralists acted unfairly, but nevertheless the great body did so. As might
be expected under such provocation, it was not every worker who treated
the employer with due consideration.



Photograph facing p.64. Monument to Wm.McLean, shot at Grasmere, 1894.

The accommodation provided for the workers at shearing time was
something awful. Mostly it was unfit to put human beings into, and
consisted of long, draughty buildings without windows, the timber often
being so open that you could put your arm through. Two and often three
tiers of bunks, one above the other, would be ranged all round the walls of
the narrow hut. The table at which the men ate their meals ran down the
centre. The cooking was done in a huge fireplace at one end, with the oven
at its side. When the cook wanted to grill chops he spread burning coals on
the earthen floor in front of the fireplace and laid his gridiron—a frame
about three feet square—on the coals, the smell of the burning fat filling
the hut where the men had to dress and undress, eat and sleep, all in one
room.

The bunks for sleeping in were made of rough boards, neither mattresses
nor even straw being provided. They were only a bare six feet in length
over all, and as Australians are mostly tall men— from five feet ten inches
to six feet seven being not uncommon—the closeness of your neighbor's
feet to your nose can be pictured. The odor of clothing saturated with the
yolk of sheep's wool, mixed with perspiration, is anything but pleasant.



The floor of the hut was earth, frequently worn lower than the surface
outside, thus being full of stagnant water when unused between shearing
seasons.

The surroundings of the hut were insanitary, the men being left to make
provision for themselves. Frequently the drainage of the hut and its
insanitary surroundings ran into the only water supply available to the
workers. In more than one station typhoid fever appears almost annually,
and many deaths occur from this and other ailments distinctly traceable to
the want of reasonable provision on the part of the employer for the
comfort of his employees. As a matter of fact, the horses and dogs of the
pastoralist were better housed and cared for than the workmen out of
whose labor he made enormous profits.

Shearing is very hard work, and is inevitably done under severe
conditions as to temperature. Men try to out-do each other in their ambition
to be the “ringer” of the shed. The stooping position, the handling of sheep
sometimes wet, inhaling impure air under a low roof of galvanized iron in
a hot climate, are all conditions which entitle the worker to high wages.
Further, there is no industry in which the value of the product is more
readily and seriously affected by inefficient workmanship.

Then, again, men who follow shearing must travel long distances prior to
starting. The average would probably amount to 300 miles. Very rarely can
this be done by rail, and in any case some means of travel is needed
between stations, as men must have more than one shed or it will not pay
to go out at all. The inevitable lost time is never allowed for by the
pastoralist.

At one time there was work during the off season on the stations—tank-
sinking, fencing, etc.— but that is done away with, and the pastoralist must
now depend on many thousands of men leaving other occupations to
furnish the labor required in the shearing season. He is very slow to see
that he will have to give better terms or he will fail to get it. The evils here
referred to, and an attempt to reduce the shearing rates by 2s. 6d. per 100
sheep. led to the organization of the Amalgamated Shearers' Union in
1886.



Chapter VIII. Organizing the Shearers.

THE organization and work of the Shearers' Union (now the Australian
Workers' Union) have had a very decided influence on the Labor
Movement in Australia, therefore some details as to its history are
excusable. Quite a number of attempts had been made to organize the
workers in the pastoral industry prior to 1886, but all had failed. Those
who had moved in the matter lacked experience, and confined their efforts
to a limited area. With a nomadic class who only worked at the occupation
a portion of each year, and many of whom had thus no settled abode, the
work of organization was naturally difficult.

In all such work it is essential to choose the right time. It came in 1886.
A reduction in price had been notified, and those who usually went out
shearing were indignant and ready for concerted action if some one in
whom they had confidence, and who was widely known, would take the
matter up. A young man named David Temple was working in the gold
mines at Creswick, in Victoria. He and his brothers usually went shearing
each year. He was a member of the A.M.A., and knew of the good work it
had done. When the notice of reduced shearing rates appeared he said to
his brothers that it was not worth while going out shearing unless they had
a union like the A.M.A. The young man's mother, a practical
Scotchwoman, said to David:

“Why don't you start a union, then?”

He said he did not know enough of such work, and all previous attempts
had failed.

His mother replied, “Why don't you go to Mr. Spence? I am sure he will
help you.”

He took his mother's advice and called on me. We talked matters over
until I got a grip of things, and then we made a start.

I at once wrote a letter, which appeared in the “Ballarat Courier” on the
27th May, 1886, urging shearers to become organized if they wished to
prevent a reduction of wages, and offering to assist. Three letters from
shearers approving of the suggestion appeared on the 29th, and two others,
with one from myself, on June 2nd. On June 3rd Mr. Temple opened an
office at 30 Armstrong Street, North Ballarat, and commenced to enrol
members. I gave him a letter of introduction to the late Mr. Bateman, editor
of the “Ballarat Courier,” who wrote a leading article setting out the
grievances of shearers. This appeared on the 4th June. In it he said:

“The effort was originated by Mr. Spence, secretary of the A.M.A., whose abilities



in such organizations could not be overdrawn or overpraised, and his proposal has
since had warm support in other letters which have been published since.”

The following advertisement appeared in the “Courier” of June 12th:—

“IMPORTANT TO SHEARERS.—A meeting of Shearers will be held at Fern's
Hotel, Sturt Street, this (Saturday) evening at 8 o'clock. Business—Re establishing a
Shearers' Union. All shearers particularly requested to attend. David Temple, Sec.
pro tem.”

The meeting was held, Mr. Temple reported 40 on the roll, and about 100
in all when returns came in. Objects and rules were adopted. I was elected
chairman, Mr. Temple secretary, and a committee of nine was chosen.
Thus in a small way was launched the Union which now numbers 44,000
members.

A Union was started at Bourke, N.S.W., which had 21 members at its
first meeting held in Dugan's Shakespeare Hotel on Saturday, October 2nd,
1886. Shortly before that date a similar Union had been started in Wagga
Wagga, N.S.W. Both these joined the A.S.U. in January, 1887, and became
branches of the amalgamated body. Bourke has continued as a branch, but
Wagga became merged in a larger district.

After our first meeting in Ballarat in June, not much was done until the
start of shearing in August, but finding from Mr. Temple and others who
had gone out shearing that the time was opportune I sent out three
organizers, who volunteered for the work—Messrs. D. Temple, J. A. Cook,
and J. Slattery. These men went from station to station enrolling members.
The entrance fee was half-a-crown, and the contribution for the year five
shillings.

Near the end of shearing I sent the three organizers to New Zealand, and
they organized the shearers in that colony also. We had the rules translated
and printed in Maori. We enrolled a considerable number of that race and
found them staunch Unionists. Acting as president, treasurer, and general
director of the movement, I enrolled close upon a thousand in the office.
As a result of our work we came out at the end of the year with over nine
thousand members.

All through the history of the Union the plan was followed of trying to
conciliate the employers. In taking up a new district, circulars, copies of
rules, etc., were posted to each squatter, inviting him to reply or to join in
arranging for a conference at which conditions mutually satisfactory might
be arranged.

A new shearing agreement was drafted by the Union, admittedly one
which fully protected the employer, and in 1887 we commenced to enforce
it. We had £740 with which to begin a fight against the wealthiest and most



powerful class of employers in Australia. The men won, and the next two
years saw an amicable settlement and recognition of the Union in some
districts, whilst there was still fighting to be done in the new portions of the
colonies taken up for organizing.

Queensland had in the meantime also organized a Shearers' Union, whilst
the A.S.U. extended until it covered New South Wales, Victoria, and South
Australia. At the start the station labor other than shearers was also
enrolled, but as these workers did not come in very readily it was made a
distinctly shearers' organization. The shed hands, however, were organized
in 1890, but both Unions became one body in 1893 under the name of the
Australian Workers' Union. In 1904 the kindred body in Queensland
joined, so that the A.W.U. is now one organization, covering practically all
the States, and with a membership of 44,000.

From the beginning the Union has been Federal in spirit. In its allotment
of districts to branches it ignored the political boundaries of colonies. It
also ignored all class or sex distinctions, and admitted all who had no other
union which they could conveniently join. Owing to the effect of the
Arbitration Act under which the A.W.U. is registered the rules had,
however, to be narrowed in respect to those admitted, and it is now
confined to those engaged in pastoral work. The Union draws the line at
colored aliens, as,—“No Chinese, Japanese, Kanakas, or Afghans or
colored aliens other than Maoris, American negroes, and children of mixed
parentage born in Australia shall be admitted to membership.” That the
Union is broad in its aims the following quotations will show. The first 1s
Rule 3, in which the objects of the Union are set out, and the other is the
preface to the Rules, which indicates the spirit in which the Rules are to be
interpreted:—

Objects.

3. The objects for which the Union is established are, by the provision and
distribution of funds and by all other lawful means, whether industrial, political,
municipal, or otherwise;

(a) To regulate and protect the conditions of labor, the relations between workmen
and employers and between workmen and workmen;

(b) To impose restrictive conditions on the conduct of the trade, business, or
industry of the members;

(c) To promote the general and material welfare of the members and to improve
the relations between employers and workmen,;

(d) To gradually replace the present competitive system of industry by a co-
operative system,;

(e) To provide legal assistance in defence of members' rights where deemed
necessary,

(f) To establish and maintain a Funeral Fund for the burial of deceased members;



(g) To endeavor by political action to secure social justice;

(h) To establish and maintain Labor journals;

(1) To assist by federation or otherwise kindred organizations in upholding the
rights and privileges of workers, and generally to assist in the emancipation of
Labor.

Disbursements in furtherance of any of the above objects shall be deemed to be
part of the ordinary expenses of the Union within the meaning of Schedule B of the
Commonwealth Conciliation and Arbitration Act.

Preface.

“Daily, as the various and widespread sections of the human family are being
insensibly drawn into closer touch with each other, it becomes clearer that men
should become co-operators—mates—instead of antagonists. ‘No man liveth to
himself.” We are all mutually dependent one upon another. Under the existing order
of things, however, each is forced into warfare with his fellow, and life is made a
struggle in which the success of the winner means that those whom unjust conditions
have forced into a fight are crushed back into hopeless misery. So long as man
depends upon his fellow man for leave to toil, so long will the lives of the great mass
be one continuous struggle, rendered more keen and uncertain by every scientific
and mechanical appliance brought in to facilitate wealth-production. Nature's
storehouse holds ample supplies to gratify the needs of all; but so long as the few are
allowed to hold possession the many must starve. The doors of the storehouse must
be thrown open to all and the toll-bar of monopoly be broken down ere justice can
be done. Production must be for use and not for profit before robbery of Labor will
cease and the fear of poverty be for ever banished. With the disappearance of
enforced poverty, crime will gradually cease. With machinery put to its proper use—
that of contributing to the happiness of mankind—the increased leisure will give
opportunities for the cultivation of all those higher faculties latent in man, but now
repressed by the pressure of a social system which makes the satisfaction of mere
material wants an all-absorbing struggle.

“It is evident that the changes so essential to the true progress and development of
all that is best in humanity can only be effected by setting up its accomplishment as
our aim, and working towards its realisation. Experience has taught us that no great
reform can be secured otherwise than by systematic organized effort. Alone, we can
agitate; organized, we can compel. It is by the organization of Unions that the
conditions of life for all have been prevented from becoming worse than they are. To
continue, however, upon the lines of old Trades Unionism alone will but stave off
the crash that now threatens our civilisation. To narrow the fight to a mere question
of employers and workmen is but a waste of energy, and can never secure that
reconstruction which will leave one no longer dependent upon another, but under
which all shall have equal opportunities.

“Realising, then, that we must attack a system, and change it so that there will no
longer be room for conflict between interests—no room for narrow selfishness to
govern men's actions—the Australian Workers' Union starts with new aims.
Realising that all workers, no matter what their occupation or sex may be, have a
common interest, the A.W.U. aims at embracing all within its ranks. Whilst it of
necessity uses that power which combination and that alone gives for protection of
present material interests, the A.W.U. looks to education and such social and



political reforms as strike at the root of the injustice from which the masses now
suffer. By loyalty to principle, unity of purpose, aim, and method alone can we
succeed. Rules are but a means of securing unity of action; nevertheless their
observance and recognition are essential to success. We trust, therefore, that each
member of the A.W.U. will strive to understand the high and noble aim this Union
has in view, and become an active unit in the great army of Reform—active as an
agitator and true to his comrades, as a Unionist always is—and success is certain.”

The A.W.U. was the first to introduce the idea of applying Trades Union
methods to secure political and social reform. It teaches its members that to
vote straight for Labor candidates is as necessary as to act straight in regard
to Union rules and conditions industrially. The working man who supports
any candidate for Parliament opposed to a Labor candidate is considered as
politically blacklegging on his class. The effect of this teaching has been
such that wherever the A.W.U. holds sway the representatives in
Parliament are all Labor members, and if there be any member of the
Union who votes for any other he is unknown and unheard of.

The Union has recognised that it is not by hoarding money, but by the
judicious expenditure of its funds, that success comes. To secure an
educated membership is its aim rather than the building up of big funds. It
is men rather than money who will win the fight for social justice. Every
year the Union sends out organizers, and last year it had twenty-eight
working at one time, all of whom are paid, and whose duty it is not only to
enrol members, but to educate them industrially and politically. A certain
sum is spent in literature, and one shilling per member per year is set apart
in a Parliamentary fund for paying the expenses of candidates.

The annual contribution is fifteen shillings for shearers and cooks, and
ten shillings for others. From each of these subscriptions the sum of five
shillings is paid to “The Worker” newspaper, published in Sydney, which
entitles each member to a copy of the paper free of charge posted weekly to
his home. The Queensland members pay a subsidy of 3s. 6d. to “The
Worker” published in Brisbane, and get a copy in the same way.

The Southern “Worker” is entirely owned by the branches in the three
Southern States. The paper was started at Wagga Wagga, N.SW., as a
small sheet called “The Hummer,” and was first issued on the 19th
October, 1891. The name was changed to that of its Queensland
predecessor, “The Worker,” in 1892, and in 1893 it was removed to
Sydney. Since then it has gone through troublous times, but kept alive; and
1s now practically the largest union-owned paper in the world.

For some time past all profits from the journal and from job printing have
been devoted to enlarging and improving the paper. It has the largest
circulation of any weekly in Australia giving news of the day to its readers.



It has a special correspondent in Melbourne and another in Adelaide, and
keeps its readers in touch with Federal and State politics. It owns a fine
five-storied building in Bathurst-street, Sydney, with an up-to-date plant,
including the latest and most improved machinery.

The Queensland “Worker” was the pioneer in Labor papers in Australia.
It is owned and controlled by an Australian Labor Federation of that State,
and has done splendid work. The paper is on the up-grade, and exerts a
powerful influence on the Labor movement in that State.

Unionism came to the Australian bushman as a religion. It came bringing
salvation from years of tyranny. It had in it that feeling of mateship which
he understood already, and which always characterised the action of one
“white man” to another. Unionism extended the idea, so a man's character
was gauged by whether he stood true to Union rules or “scabbed” it on his
fellows. The man who never went back on the Union is honored to-day as
no other 1s honored or respected. The man who fell once may be forgiven,
but he is not fully trusted. The lowest term of reproach is to call a man a
“scab.”

Experience has taught that the man who sells himself to the employer at a
time of strike is a man of weak character, if not worse. At many a country
ball the girls have refused to dance with them, the barmaids have refused
them a drink, and the waitresses a meal.

Unionists have starved rather than accept work under other conditions.
Hundreds of men have worn their boots and clothes to tatters seeking work
upon Union terms; and not finding it, have gone without for a year—
remaining penniless, but independent and proud that they had not degraded
themselves. It was such men who made the Union a success, and enabled it
to hold its own against well-organized Capitalism aided by friendly
Governments. Men imbued with such a spirit put the cause above personal
self-interest. They needed no prompting— no exciting by fiery orators—
but stood loyal to principle, no matter what the consequences might be.
Rough and unpolished many of them may be; but manly, true, and “white”
all the time, and the movement owes them much.



Chapter IX. A Fighting Union.

SHEARING sheds employ a varying number of hands, ranging from
half-a-dozen to upwards of 200. Each shed, therefore, can be likened to a
factory. Generally it is far from any centre of population, and is only used
at shearing time, being locked up during the rest of the year. Counting each
shed as corresponding to a factory, it is safe to say that more strikes have
taken place in connection with shearing sheep than in all the other
industries combined. Probably 10,000 cases since 1886 would be under the
number. These lasted from one hour to eight weeks. But one hour meant
that the Unionists were prepared for a much longer term if necessary.

Sometimes the employer would be merely trying the men, and if they
gave in he profited; but if they held out he was not prepared for the risks
and delay, so would come to Union terms. Up till 1890 there was no
collective unity amongst pastoralists except the natural class feeling. Each
had been so accustomed to having his own way that he took any
interference unkindly, even though he admitted that the Union demands
were quite reasonable. Some came to terms at once, and did well for
themselves, as they got the pick of the men, who on their part showed their
appreciation by more carefully looking after the Union employer's
interests.
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The majority put up a fight, however, objecting either to paying Union
rates or using the Union agreement. The latter contains the specifications
as to how the work is to be done, although many prefer a verbal agreement
only. If the men failed to get their terms at roll-call they would either go
away and look for another shed, or, when so directed by the Union, retire
to some reserve near at hand and form a camp. In the latter case a cook
would be appointed, rations obtained from the nearest store, and a
complete system of picketing adopted. The shed would be surrounded, and



any man looking for work would be brought into camp and fed with the
rest, the Union paying the accounts. In all sheds the men select one of their
number to act as spokesman, and also a committee to help him look after
mess accounts, etc.

This training rendered it easy to fall into line when in camp. Strict
discipline was maintained, and good behaviour insisted upon. No one was
allowed to bring any drink into camp. In dry seasons the grass seeds ripen
and get into the wool, so the pastoralist cannot wait, or the value of his
wool will be lessened. This fact helped the Union to win many a shed.

In many cases, when a Union organizer called at a shed he found it had
started, and after he had addressed the men they not infrequently struck and
demanded that the agreement they had signed should be cancelled and
Union terms conceded. This gave the pastoralist an opening under the
“Masters and Servants' Act,” and he sometimes sued the men. The Union
in such cases provided for defence, and also paid the fines, often making
good the wages forfeited as well. However, law was not much good to the
squatter, as he had to get his sheep shorn in any case, and so he had often
to give way with the best grace he could.

Sometimes the men at work were non-unionists, who refused to make a
stand, but worked on. On many occasions their hut was rushed at night,
and they were taken away to a Union camp, where the employer would
come next day and interview them. They generally assured him that they
were in camp of their own free will, and intended to stay there until he
gave them Union terms. This would be said in the presence of the police,
and it is not easy to ascertain how much the non-unionists were influenced
by fear, as many of them remained true to Union principles afterwards,
although at first brought into it by compulsion.

The years 1887 to 1889 inclusive saw a great deal of fighting of this
kind. Penalties were imposed on the shearer who stood out against the
Union. He was made to pay up sums equal to the total paid by those who
had joined at the beginning. Then fines were imposed, and some had to pay
as high as £10 each in cash in order to be placed on the right footing with
their fellows.

Organizers were kept very busy, often knocking up several horses during
the season in rapid riding to get from one shed to another in time to be at
roll-call. One man had thus nine changes of horses in a season. Owing to
the pastoralists ordering them off the run, the organizers and leaders had to
obtain maps showing the roads, reserves, etc., and as these had been in
many cases fenced in and made use of by the squatter, he was often
surprised at finding the men simply camping within a few yards of his hut
and setting him at defiance. He himself had forgotten where the road or



reserve was till the Union found it.

Up till 1890 the struggle had been with the individual pastoralist, and the
Union had won pretty well all along the line, and had come to friendly
arrangements with some sections of the pastoralists who had become
organized in different districts. The year 1890 saw the federation of the
Pastoralists' Union, and their unity with the Employers' Union. It altered
the methods of fighting.

The P.U. began to systematise the work of getting anti-union Labor.
They raked the cities, offering work to any kind of creature in the
semblance of a man. Professional thieves and burglars who were well
known to the police were engaged, and under police escort were taken on
free passes on the people's railways to the sheds to fill the places of
respectable workers.

Higher pay than that asked by Unionists was given these creatures, who
enjoyed the change and the good things provided on the road. They were
taken from Tasmania and from New Zealand by steamer, first to
Queensland and afterwards to New South Wales and Victoria. This was in
1891 and again in 1894. The A.W.U. was of course alert. Boats were
watched, and Pastoralists' Union offices picketed. We used a secret code of
our own for telegraphing, and often sent a man with the crowd in the
steamer or train, as the case may be. Once these men started on their
journey they were practically prisoners, as they were locked in the railway
carriages, the man in charge of them having the tickets.

The Government of the day sided with the capitalists, and gave them the
use of the police—ostensibly to keep the ring clear, but in reality to try to
crush Unionism. The squatter was at first called upon to pay for any police
sent to his station, but if any disturbance took place the cost was then
thrown upon the country. It was not difficult to have a disturbance,
especially as the press was strongly anti-Labor. The fight was a costly and
unsatisfactory one to the pastoralists.

One station owner, who was notorious as anti-Union and as an employer
of Chinese, engaged a body of non-unionists in Melbourne for his shed on
the Darling River, N.S.W. He had to take them over 1000 miles by rail, and
then drive them by coach to his shed. They were a lively lot, and made him
treat them handsomely on the way. They had, in fact, a really good spree.
The Unionists were on the look-out for them at the place where they had to
leave the train, and interviewed them on arrival, the result being that they
left the squatter to pay all expenses of their trip and then go and look for
another team to do his work.

Those who did succeed in getting non-unionist labor lost severely, owing
to the inferior workmanship causing deterioration in the price obtained for



the wool. Some of the squatters' homesteads suffered also, as the family's
jewellery sometimes disappeared. In 1891, for the first time in the history
of Bourke, N.S.W., big firms in that town had to put on night watchmen,
on account of the thieves brought into the district by the P.U.

Nothing was too hot or too heavy for these new-found friends of the
lordly squatter. One young fellow—a Sydney larrikin—brought back with
him a huge bunch of door keys which he had collected on his travels out
back. Unfortunately a certain number of the same class have gone out ever
since under the P.U. engagement system, and shearers find it unsafe to
leave a watch or any other valuable in the hut, as it was at one time
reasonably safe to do.

The fight against the Bushworkers of Queensland in 1891 proved so
costly to the P.U. that they came to terms with the Shearers' Union in
August, 1891, in time for the major portion of the shearing. It was
understood that the agreement then signed between the two bodies,
representing New South Wales, Victoria, and South Australia, would hold
good until altered by mutual consent. The A.S.U. had conceded the point
of refusal to work with nonmembers owing to a blunder made by one of
the branch secretaries, but the A.W.U. loyally carried out the agreement
arrived at, and for three years work went on smoothly.

In 1894 the Annual Conferences of both bodies sat in Sydney at the same
time, and some communications passed between them. Without warning or
consultation the Pastoralists' Union broke its shearing agreement, and
issued a new one, containing, amongst other objectionable clauses, one
declaring the employer or his agent sole judge in any case of dispute as to
breach of agreement. This was actually contrary to law, but as the squatter
1s mostly the magistrate, its illegality did not matter much.

This action on their part brought on the strike of 1894—by far the biggest
fight any Union has had to put up in Australia. The P.U. were favored by
the bad times which had followed the financial disasters of 1892-3, and
which left a mass of unemployed. In spite of that fact the A.W.U. won in
the great majority of the sheds. The years 1895-6 saw the A.W.U.
considerably weakened, but quietly re-organizing and recovering the losses
of 1894. From the year 1897 it has been on the up-grade.

Ever since 1891 the Pastoralists' Union has persistently refused to meet
the A.W.U. in conference; and, being tired of asking, the latter in 1902
made a demand for increased shearing rates. This was resisted by the P.U.,
and a number of strikes took place. In many cases the increase asked for
was conceded, and probably further fighting would, under the old
conditions, have enlarged the number.

But now we met with a new experience. The decisions in the Taff Vale



and other cases in England had given a new interpretation of the law as it
affects Trades Unions, and hence, when a camp was formed at Coonamble,
an injunction was applied for and obtained against the officers of the
A.W.U., which forced the breaking up of the camp and rendered it unwise
to continue the struggle on those lines.

The action in this case was taken by Mr. Keogh, who, it is alleged, was
not a member of the P.U. He was bringing a body of non-unionists, hired in
Melbourne, to his shed at Warrana. Suspecting trouble, he hired five
professional pugilists in Sydney to come with them, whose duty it was to
punch any Unionist who came interfering with his team.

The non-unionists were travelling in coaches after having left the train,
and were being taken across a paddock so as to avoid the town and the
crowd. It was necessary to cut the wires in the fences in order to get
through, but ere they had time to do so a number of men from the Union
camp—about one-half of whom were not members of the A.W.U.—arrived
on the scene and interrupted proceedings. The hired pugs were expected
then to do their duty, and each to earn the “fiver” which he was to get. One
of them, eager for the fray, issued a challenge, which was immediately
taken up by a young man—a Union shearer—who looked a quiet, simple
chap. A ring was formed, and they took up positions facing each other in
proper style.

The first round ended the fight, as Mr. Keogh's professional pugilist had
found more than his match in the quiet young man, who was quite prepared
for any of the others if they wanted it. They did not “care about any” just
then, however, and, instead, joined the Unionists, and all hands marched
off to the Union camp. It was following this that Mr. Keogh took legal
action, and proved that the law is once more in favor of the employer and
against organized Labor.

The organizers of the Union have had to resort to many schemes to gain
their ends. Some of them became clever strategists, and would make
splendid officers to lead an army. The Union was anxious to get a small
station owned by a big Scotchman named Graham, and situated close to
Kingston, in Victoria. The Union organizer (O'Brien) was amongst the men
who were camped in Graham's hut waiting for roll-call. Of course it was
not known that he was a Union organizer, but when he stood out as
spokesman for the men when roll was called, Graham found him out and
ordered him off the premises. O'Brien got nearly all hands away with him,
however, as he had not been some days amongst them for nothing. The
shed was declared on strike, and the men camped in the town.

Graham secured another team of men from Ballarat, some 16 miles
away, and was driving these to his place when he was met by O'Brien, who



rode alongside trying to talk the non-unionists into coming away with him.
Graham was driving a pair of horses, and whenever he got a chance he
would cut at O'Brien with his whip. The latter kept alongside, however,
until they got into Kingston, near the Union camp. He then rushed his
horse in front of the heads of Graham's pair, and blocked them. It was dark
by this time. Meantime the men from the camp and others came up, and the
non-unionists were lifted out of the vehicle just as the constable came
along on horseback and dispersed them.

A friendly landlady planted O'Brien until we should find out how things
stood. The press, of course, had a sensational account of a riot, and of
stone-throwing, and other things. The Union secretary (Mr. Temple) and
myself drove out to see about matters. As Graham did not know Temple, I
sent the latter down to interview him on behalf of the press, and Temple
had the pleasure of dining with Graham and of getting the full strength of
things. He was shown over the shed, and was able to see how many were
there, and to obtain other details. Graham also told him that he did not
intend to prosecute, as he could not swear to any of the men; though he
said, of course, that he wanted the press to say that he intended doing so, in
order to frighten them. That was all we wanted, and we were back in time
to meet the head of the police, who had called at the office to inquire about
the disturbance.

Graham was stubborn, but got along badly with a poor team of men.
Finally, to get to know how many he really had, we sent for another
organizer—Jim Cook—whom he did not know, and got him to engage as a
non-unionist. He came by train, and the play was beautifully acted on his
arrival, as the men from the camp were there, and in loud tones were trying
to persuade him to be a man and join the Union, Jim giving the usual and
well-known answer of the non-unionist that he had a sick wife, and was not
going to let his kiddies starve. Near the gate there was quite a “tussle,” and
as Jim did not want to carry his leggings with him he gave them to one of
the men from the camp.

The press made a great deal of that incident, and related how the shearer
had been hustled and actually robbed by the Unionists on his way to earn
an honest living. Of course, the boys in camp knew all about it; but their
acting was good enough to deceive Graham and the press as well. When
Cook saw how things were he left, and the strike was declared off. The
constable, in commenting on the O'Brien incident, complained of his not
stopping the buggy further out instead of directly in front of the police
station. Said he:

“How the divil could I stay indoors whin the row was forninst me. I got
me horse so as I could gallop about and not see anny of them, so divil a



one o' them could I identify.”

Some of the Unionists were great believers in immersion as a cure for
“scab.”One experienced organizer said he had only known one case which
required more than one dip. That was in Western Victoria. He was on
picket duty, and caught the “scab” creeping across a bridge over a stream at
three o'clock on a frosty morning. He tried moral suasion without avail,
and finally he dropped the “scab” from the bridge into the cold water. The
poor fellow came out still loyal to his desire to oblige the employer, so he
was again pushed in. He came out the second time still a hardened sinner,
and after some further parley was again dipped under the cold water. He
repented this time, and came out a convert to Unionism and a monument to
the efficacy of cold water in judicious quantities properly applied.

This was at Barwidgie, where Mr. Arthur Rae, whilst travelling
organizer, got in as a shearer and worked amongst the non-unionists a
while ere the boss (Mr. Ware) found it out. Rae had just time to get away,
and Ware got out a summons for him for leaving his hired service. Of
course Rae was under an assumed name. That summons was all over the
country, and mostly in a direction where Mr. Rae was not expected to be
found. It was once handled by Mr. Rae himself, who was unknown to the
constable, who was asking for someone not of the name of Rae. Ware got a
renewal extending the time, so anxious was he to get at the Union agitator;
but he didn't get him, and after nearly wearing the summons out he gave
up.

The writer has been President of the Union since its inception, with the
exception of three years, when he was the General Secretary; and, in
closing this chapter reviewing some of the achievements of a fighting
Union, in which he necessarily played an important part, cannot refrain
from quoting an excellent caricature of the malicious misrepresentation to
which he has been subjected. The verse is from the pen of a Union shearer,
and appeared in “The Worker” some years ago:—

Spence's Station.

[In the old Union days it was a favorite gag with squatters to tell Union
men that Spence was making a good thing out of them. In New South
Wales I've heard them say Spence had a station in Victoria; in Victoria
they'd say he had a run in New South Wales. Have known Spence many
years, and have travelled Australia from the Territory to the Bight, but
could never locate Spence's Station. ]



Beyond the furthest far-out-back, beyond the setting sun,

Beyond the Western desert plain, where rivers never run;

Away beyond the border fence, 'neath azure summer skies,

Where droughts and floods are both unknown— there Spence's Station lies.

He owns five hundred million sheep of Lincoln-Leicester breed,

That's crossed with old Merino strain, true type of squatter's need;

His stud ram weighs ten thousand pounds, of wool he cuts a ton;

He's three weeks' shearing with the blades for Howe, the Queensland gun.

His shed is roofed with beaten gold, brought from the planet Mars;
From huts to shed the shearers ride in cushioned motor cars.

The drummer shears two hundred sheep and never turns a hair;

No cuss words on the place are used, all work doth start with prayer.

He got eight million pounds, we've heard, by pinching Union funds,
And purchased houses in the moon and many station runs;

And when he's made his pile they say he'll give the Union best,
And live in regal style while we are tramping in the West.

I've toured this land from north to south, from westward to the east,

In times of flood, in times of drought, of famine, and of feast;

I've tramped it when the plains were dry and when the plains were wet,
But never crossed the boundary fence of Spence's Station yet.

F.J. MURRAY.



Chapter X. The Employers' Union and Freedom of
Contract.

THE following is said to be a programme laid down and agreed to by a
private meeting of the capitalistic combination of New South Wales,
comprising shippers, pastoralists, merchants, members of Parliament, and
other large employers of labor:—

“1. Plan to overthrow the combination of labor and unionism, and the universal
advancement of the workers.

“2. To obtain co-operation of the various Australian Governments with a view to
enable the Australian employers of labor to enforce all or any agreed terms of the
employers by force of arms.

“3. To enforce, through Government, freedom of contract by the force of ‘law and
order.’

“4. The maintenance of a high standard of wages as applied to shearers and others
until such time as the unions agree to receiving freedom of contract under any
conditions.

“5. The disbanding of unions by means of freedom of contract, and then the rapid
reduction of wages at once (25 per cent.) for all employment.

“6. The Pastoralists' Union, in conjunction with the Employers' and Shippers'
Unions, to agree to the conditions and act as a body when either party's interests are
involved.

“7. The Shipping Union to arrange as part and parcel of capital to introduce
German, Italian, and Coolie labor by the importation of 5000 men per year.

“8. That arrangements be at once made to secure the adoption of General Booth's
emigration scheme—the flooding of the Australian labor market with men of all
sorts and conditions.

“9. That free passes be granted to all men desirous of leaving the city in time of
metropolitan strikes, or vice versa, to enable men to come from the country districts.

“10. The arming of all free labor in self-defence.

“11. To discharge gradually all union labor from shipping and other circles of
employment. The prevention at all hazards of one-man-one-vote.

“12. The Labor candidates to be opposed by good local men, or where no local
men, to put up a Labor candidate favorable to capital, all his expenses to be paid by
the Association.

“13. That the representatives of shipping commerce, and pastoralists combine to
make the combination of labor illegal.”

The original of the above was given to me by one who said he was
present. He gave me at the same time a good deal of verbal information
which I have since verified. We have had evidence in various ways of
efforts made to carry out this plan, and whether it was laid down or not on
the date mentioned (24th April, 1891) by the 65 alleged to have been
present, we have other and ample evidence of a combination amongst



Australian capitalists to accomplish the objects set out in the foregoing list
of proposals.

To anyone acquainted with the history of the Trade Union movement and
its wonderful achievements in the face of the most powerful forces brought
against it, it would seem incomprehensible that any body of intelligent men
in this age should dream of attempting to crush it out of existence. The fact
1s that the leaders in the employers' organizations were ignorant of the real
strength of Unionism, and knew nothing of the spirit underlying it.

The workers are rapidly awakening to the fact that they are being taken
advantage of, and are no longer willing to be treated as so many wage
slaves willing to accept just what i1s offered them by a fellow-man who is
termed an employer. The trade union introduces the collective bargain;
and, to secure this, conferences between employer and representatives of
the workers are necessary. Where unions stood alone the employer met his
own employees as delegates representing the rest of the workers. The fear
of the boss's displeasure and of the resultant loss of employment were
always over them, hence the employer had not so much to fear.

As the number of unions increased, and those in one industry became one
body with a paid secretary. the circumstances were altered. Often the
employer refused to meet unless the delegates were all his own employees.
The most outspoken would often lose his position, and as a consequence a
strike would result until his reinstatement was secured. Employers termed
this an interference with the management of their business. If a conference
resulted in improved conditions in one industry it inevitably led to a
demand for improvement in others.

The greedy unscrupulous employer would reduce wages, and a strike
would take place. Other unions would be drawn in, and in any case they
would support the one in trouble, realising that injustice to one should be
the concern of all. All these influences combine to force organization and
federation on both sides.

At a banquet tendered Mr. E. M. Young, President of the Employers'
Union, on the 26th February, 1891, that gentleman, after referring to the
necessity for unity said that “with that intent he invited all who were
available at the time to meet him, and from that small beginning arose their
Pastoralists' Union. But he had dreams far greater than the Pastoralists'
Union. He dreamt of uniting the vast Western Plains of New South Wales
and the distant West of Queensland; and he thought recent events had
shown—in view of the scheme of federation which he had recently
successfully carried through, and which had bound all together—that he
was justified in dreaming that the scheme was possible.”

The attitude assumed by this federation of employers is clearly set forth



in another portion of the same address as follows:—

“The working men here were simply asking for control. There was no
question of wages, of hours, nor of terms in any shape. All that the
employers insisted on was that they should be allowed to conduct their
business as they pleased, and to employ whom they pleased, whether the
men were in unions or not.”

This sets forth two extreme views. Firstly, that the workers' unions ask
for control of the industry— a statement entirely devoid of any foundation.
Secondly, that there was no question of wages and conditions, when the
facts were and still are that wages, hours, and terms are the only questions
about which troubles are made, the question of who is to be employed
being rarely raised. Experience has shown that ever since its establishment
the Employers' Union has set itself against conferences with the workers'
unions, and has fought for freedom of contract. It seeks to ignore collective
bargaining, and tries to force into practice individualism between employer
and employee.

In an age specially characterised by the disappearance of the private
employer and the growth of corporations, public companies, combines,
trusts, and monopolies on one side—necessitating as it does the
organization and federation of labor on the other—to attempt to introduce
something so foreign as freedom of contract was not only bound to cause
trouble, but was certain to be found practically impossible. Mr. Young and
his federation certainly made a great effort.

The P.U. was first organized in 1889. In 1890 it began on the Darling
Downs, Queensland, to employ non-unionists only. This was by a
collective understanding amongst pastoralists, as admitted by Mr. Williams
in conference in May, 1890. To checkmate this the Australian Labor
Federation of Queensland took action. They selected the Jondaryan Station,
and refused to allow the wool to go on board the s.s. Jumna unless the
pastoralists agreed to employ unionists. The P.U. gave way, for the time
being only.

This was in May, 1890, and in June an attack on the Shearers' Union in
New South Wales was proposed at a meeting of pastoralists held in
Maitland, New South Wales, and a leading pastoralist in Sydney offered
£5000 towards a £50,000 fighting fund. The Amalgamated Shearers'
Union, covering New South Wales, Victoria, and South Australia, took
action at the same time by issuing a manifesto on the lines so successful in
Queensland, and would have met with similar success but for the action of
the Employers' Union. That body precipitated the Maritime Strike of 1890.

The year 1891 saw the war carried into Queensland, and it extended from
there into New South Wales, but owing to the cost having proved too much



for the pastoralists they came to terms with the A.S.U. in August of that
year. Next year the miners of Broken Hill silver field were attacked. The
big mine, which has paid over £11,000,000 to its shareholders, had during
the trouble of 1890 stopped, on the paltry pretext of not being able to get
supplies, but in reality to cut off supplies of cash to the strikers on the
coast. The miners had sent on £700, and had struck a levy of 2s. 6d. per
week. The mine-owners had an agreement with the Miners' Union, arrived
at in 1889, which runs as follows:—

Agreement of November, 1889.

“It being distinctly understood that the only question at issue is the employment of
union or non-union men, it is hereby mutually agreed between the officers of the
A.M.A. and the Broken Hill Proprietary Company, Limited, the British Broken Hill
Proprietary Company Limited, the Broken Hill Proprietary Block 14 Company
Limited, the Broken Hill Proprietary Block 10 Company Limited, and the Broken
Hill North S.M. Company Limited—

“l. That the A.M.A. will as early as possible take means to have the Barrier
District made a colonial district so that the executive may control their own affairs,
and draw up such rules as will be approved of by a committee of managers.

“2. Shift bosses and foremen are not to be compelled to join the Union, but may
form a union for themselves.

“3. The surfacemen and furnace hands may form a union of their own, and may be
affiliated with the A M.A.

“4. Tradesmen and mechanics already members of recognized
societies are not to be compelled to join the Amalgamated Miners'
Association.

“5. The companies undertake to collect the dues for each of the
unions on pay day and hand the same over to the duly appointed
officer of the Union, who will be present on pay day.

“6. Work to be resumed on the mines forthwith—that is, as far as
practicable.

“7. It 1s understood that no local union will be recognized by the
employers unless exceeding the number of one hundred; if below
that number, permission must be obtained from the A.M.A.
executive and Managers' Association before it can be formed.

“8. All past differences to be forgotten.”

It will be seen from the reading of clause 1 in the agreement that the
officers meeting the representatives of the mine-owners had given way a
great deal when they allowed the managers to have a say in the approval of
the rules. I was so strongly opposed to it that I immediately, as general
secretary of the A.M.A., wired to the secretary at Broken Hill objecting to
the clause, and followed it by letter, giving my reasons. There was no



objection to the miners of the Barrier forming themselves into a separate
district, as that had been agreed to by the A.M.A. as a body.

When the stoppage of the big mine took place in 1890, a conference was
arranged for and was held in Melbourne, at which all difficulties in the way
of carrying on the mine were removed and a new agreement arrived at
which reads as follows:—

The Agreement of 1890.

“l. That in the event of any future trouble existing, the point or points at
issue shall be referred to a Board of Aribtration of equal numbers of either
side, say three; and failing their being able to agree, that an umpire be
appointed, who shall be either a Chief Justice or a Judge of the Supreme
Court or any of the Australian colonies. In the event of the Board not being
able to agree, the Judge shall be chosen as umpire; or upon his declining to
act, the selection shall be made by lot out of the list of Judges of the various
colonies. The decision when given to be final and binding on both sides.
The award to take effect from date of notice of arbitration on either side.

“2. That until the said Board, as provided above, shall have been appointed
and delivered its decision, work in every branch of the mine shall continue
as is usual without let or hindrance.

“3. That the A.M.A., Barrier Colonial District No. 3, agrees that no question
of any kind in connection with any other Labor organization shall form the
basis of dispute, and only a question affecting the mines and the employees
is to be considered a matter on which arbitration shall be resorted to when
trouble takes place. The meaning of this being that in the event of a Trades
Council or any Labor body outside the A.M.A. of the Barrier Colonial
District No. 3 calling the latter out for a dispute foreign to the mine, they
will refuse to come out and will not raise such questions as between the
mines and themselves.

“4. That contracts other than stoping of ore shall be allowed as heretofore.
“5. That on the foregoing being agreed to, work shall be resumed at the
earliest date possible on the various mines represented by this conference;
the same rate of wages as before the present cessation of work to obtain,
and the week's work underground shall consist of an average of 46 hours
arranged as follows: Day shift eight hours, the afternoon shift on Saturdays
to work only from 4 to 10 p.m., and the morning shift on Monday to start at
4 a.m. and work till 8 a.m. All other days than Mondays and Saturdays to be
full time.“6. That the November, 1889, agreement as it stands shall hold
good as heretofore, and the conditions thereon be upheld by all the
companies represented at this conference.

“7. That the foregoing shall come into force on the Port Pirie Working
Men's Association agreeing to ship by ocean-going steamers without further
trouble the bullion now at the Port, and hereafter to be produced when work
is resumed at the mines; also to handle and receive timber now afloat or to
be shipped in sailing vessels as required. This clause to apply only until the



maritime strike is adjusted, when the decision come to will apply to Port
Pirie as a natural consequence.

“8. On the above undertaking by the Port Pirie working men being supplied
in writing orders to be given to resume working forthwith, and the men
employed as rapidly as the circumstances will admit.

“9. That even in the event of a delay at Port Pirie on the signing of the
agreement it is understood the managers be instructed to start all dead work
forthwith, also the pumps, and that the necessary men to do so be put on.
This clause only to be subject to the approval of the Labor Defence
Committee of Broken Hill.

“10. That all past differences are to be forgotten.”

This agreement provided clearly for the settlement of all future
differences and also narrowed down the area, as it prevented the miners
taking up any other organization's troubles. It was loyally observed by the
A.M.A., but the mining companies broke away in several matters without
the Union making a noise about it.

In 1892, however, the mine-owners were ready, and having saved up a
quarter of a million of a reserve fund they took up their share of carrying
out the policy of the Employers' Union, and deliberately forced on a strike.
The first step was taken by Mr. Knox, the mine-owners' secretary, who
wrote to the A.M.A., stating that the companies wanted to introduce the
competitive contract system into the stopes of the mines at Broken Hill.
The officers of the Miners' Union replied, asking for more particulars as to
what was proposed. Mr. Knox answered that the Board did not consider it
necessary. The miners asked for arbitration as per the agreement of 1890.
No reply was vouchsafed, so they wrote again. This time they were met
with a refusal and a notice that the agreement was determined. The mine-
owners' manifesto stated that they wanted “freedom of contract.” The
miners, after exhausting all means of avoiding trouble, came out on strike.
This lasted from July 4 to November 6, 1892, and the arrest, trial, and
jailing of the leaders of the miners provided enough excitement and
gratification for the Employers' Union for 1892-3.

In 1894 the next move was made. When the conference of 1891 was
being arranged for between the pastoralists and the Shearers' Union a
blunder was committed by one of the branch secretaries, and the Union
was committed to agreeing to work with non-members. The press in
general, and the president of the P.U. in particular, constantly asserted that
men were only members of the Shearers' Union by coercion; hence when
the concession was made they fully expected to see vast numbers refusing
to pay up their subscriptions.

Three years' experience had shown the fallacy of this idea, as the Union
had become stronger than ever, and had organized the shed hands as well.



Men had been coerced into remaining outside the Union, but the settlement
had allowed these to join. The P.U., therefore, in 1894, without notice,
broke its agreement of 1891. The Australian Workers' Union had no
alternative but to fight. With an over-crowded labor market and
Government aid to the employers, the fight was a bitter one. It cost the
A.W.U. over £12,000, and proved a big loss to the pastoralists. The
A.W.U. was temporarily crippled, and the P.U. was enabled to reduce
wages and shearing rates for a couple of years.

The action of the P.U. proves that there is more than what the Employers'
Union terms “freedom of contract” behind the actions of that body. The
Shearers' Union (now the A.W.U.) had agreed to work with non-members,
and had consented to the shearing agreement bearing the P.U. definition of
what they meant by freedom of contract. This was printed at the top of
every agreement signed by the men, and read as follows:—

“Shearing Agreement for New South Wales adopted at a conference held in
Sydney on the 7th and 8th of August, 1891, between representatives of the
Pastoralists' Federal Council of Australia and representatives of the Amalgamated
Shearers' Union, at which the following was agreed to: That employers shall be free
to employ and shearers free to accept employment, whether belonging to shearers' or
other unions or not without favor, molestation, or intimidation on either side. (This is
the definition of freedom of contract of the Pastoralists' Union of Australia.)”

The heads of the P.U. expressed themselves as well satisfied, and
promised to use every endeavor to see the agreement carried out. Their
break-away, therefore, can only have one interpretation. It was simply
carrying out the plan of the Employers' Union, whose ambition was to
crush the workers' organizations throughout Australia. The persistent
refusal, either straight out or by subterfuge, to meet the organized workers
in conference proves that they did not wish to recognise unionism amongst
the workers. All mediation, however influential, was refused, and in some
cases snubbed.

In 1894 Sir George Dibbs, as Premier of New South Wales, sent a
telegram, drafted by myself, to the Premiers of all the other colonies,
soliciting their aid as mediators. He also asked the managers of the various
banks to meet him. They at first refused, but a peremptory message
brought them, and he then asked them to use their influence with their
clients to prevent trouble arising in the big industry of wool-growing. They
agreed to submit his request to the Associated Banks. They did so, but that
body refused, thus showing that they were all behind the Employers' Union
in its aggressive attack on Labor.

Australian employers acting collectively will not avoid conflicts with
Labor. They will not settle either by voluntary conciliation or arbitration,



nor will they keep to any agreement they make with the workers'
organizations any longer than suits their pockets. They have absolutely no
sense of honor when acting together. The only exception to this has been
the Mine-Owners' Association of Victoria. The Broken Hill mine-owners
broke their agreement of 1889. The P.U. of South Australia came to terms
with the A.S.U. in 1891, but failed to keep the arrangement, as they were
over-ridden by the Federal Council of their own body. The Federal
Council's agreement with the A.S.U. in 1891 was broken in 1894. In 1902
an agreement was arrived at with the Victorian section of the P.U. The
South Australian section followed suit, but only kept it one year. The
Victorians broke away again in 1906. The experience of the Coalminers'
and the Seamen's Unions has been somewhat similar.

It was such experiences as these which led to the strong desire on the part
of the workers for a Court of Arbitration, with powers of compulsion, not
only for settlement of disputes, but for the enforcement of awards when
made. Employers do not like this method of securing industrial peace, but
the system of compulsory settlement has come to stay, and the employers
themselves have been the cause of the demand for such Courts.

After all, why not settle matters in this way? The State provides courts
with highly-paid staffs for the collection of private debts, the enforcement
of private contract, and the settlement of every quarrel no matter how
trivial. Two persons are not allowed to resort to fisticuffs to settle their
differences without the Court interfering, yet no provision was made
anywhere until recently for the settlement of disputes involving serious
consequences or for the enforcement of agreements voluntarily entered into
between employers and organized workers Compulsory Arbitration must
be preserved as a better expedient than any other so far put forward, and,
with all its drawbacks, can be put up with until the disappearance of the
competitive system with its natural corollary of wage slavery.

Time has not changed the Employers' Union. In November, 1906, the
building trades of Melbourne demanded a reduction of hours from 48 to 44
per week. The contractors by whom they are mainly employed were on the
point of giving way when the Employers' Union took a hand. This body put
the screw on them by calling upon all firms from whom they purchased
material to decline to supply them if they gave way. The combine of
brickmakers refused bricks, and so this body, which did not believe in
dictation as to how a man should manage his business, used all its powers
to prevent employers doing so.

A large proportion of the Unionists, however, were able to keep at work,
and thus support came for the rest. Contractors secured supplies from the
back doors of firms who had their front doors closed, and who belonged to



the employers' combine. The men were winning when the matter was
remitted to Justice Cussen, who gave an award raising wages but leaving
the hours as they were. The strike lasted eleven weeks. It was the
beginning of a demand for shorter hours than 48 per week, which is
spreading and growing.

The Employers' Union has a paid secretary at £1000 per annum, and he
goes around preaching the economic gospel of the organization. In a
speech delivered at Lilydale, Victoria, in April, 1902, he set forth their
creed very neatly. He said:

“Marriage was a luxury for the workers, as were also long sleevers,
attending theatres, and the like; and it was not fair to compel employers to
pay for such things.”

This gentleman's name is Walpole, and he has recently been on a trip to
America to pick up points to be used in resisting every demand for
improved conditions put forth by Australian Unionists. He makes much
trouble for the employers, but really helps the Labor organizations; and we
are sorry that the Employers' Union does not employ about a score of such
men. The more that body intrudes itself the more clearly its character and
aims become understood. The more apparent it makes its opposition to the
masses, the more it weakens in power and influence.



Chapter XI. The Turning Point.

THE great turning point in the history of Australian Labor was
undoubtedly the maritime strike, as it was termed, in 1890. In reality it was
a lock-out, and came about in this way. There had been a boom in land
speculation, good seasons in pastoral pursuits, and capitalists had
somewhat lost their heads. On the Labor side there had been steady
advance, and quite a number of requests of various kinds had been
submitted to different sections of the employers. Labor was considered too
aggressive.

The year 1889 had been full of trouble. There had been a big strike at
Broken Hill in November of that year, a strike of miners in Ballarat, and
strikes in the building trades of Sydney, in the collieries of New South
Wales, and amongst the waterside workers in Queensland. The Seamen's
Union had one or two matters which they asked should be adjusted; whilst
the shearers in Queensland, backed up by the Labor Federation, were
asking for full recognition of Union men and the withdrawal of the boycott.
The shipowners were then, as now, more or less closely associated with the
pastoralists. The former were organized, whilst the Pastoralists' Union had
just come into existence. Both were intercolonial bodies.
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Early in 1890 a meeting of representatives of employers' organizations of
each colony was held in Melbourne, and it was determined that steps
should be taken to stop the aggressiveness of Labor Unionism. A
Federation of employers' organizations was formed, known as the
Federated Employers' Union. A strong feeling against Unionism soon
developed, and it was argued that the dictation—as they termed it—of
trades unions and their “irresponsible” leaders must be put a stop to. The
term “freedom of contract” was adopted as if it were some great and sacred
principle. They gave no definition of it, but as time went on what they
really meant came out. At a conference in Adelaide between the bakers and
the employers, the President of the Master Bakers gave the following
definition of the term:—

“1. That they have the right to discharge any man without being asked the
reason for so discharging.

“2. They shall have the right to bring a man into their shop without being
questioned whether he is a union or non-union man.

“3. They shall have the right to employ whom they please.

“4. They shall pay what they choose without being questioned on the matter



by anybody.”

Mr. E. M. Young, then president of the Employers' Union, gave the
following statement of its meaning as reported in the Capitalists' own
official organ, the Melbourne “Argus,” of the 27th February, 1891:

“All that employers insisted on was that they should be allowed to conduct their
business as they pleased, and to employ whom they pleased, whether the men were
in unions or not.”

Practical proof of what they meant was given by the following notice
posted by Messrs. Flood and Co. in Sydney on the 19th August, 1890:—

“Let it be understood that for the future all men working for us will be expected to
do such work on such terms and arrangements as may be required by us.”

Some time prior to this the “South Australian Register,” when engaging
compositors, compelled them to sign a thirty-six months' agreement
containing the following clause:

“The employee shall not, during the service aforesaid, be or become a member of
the South Australian Typographical Society or any of a similar nature or having
similar objects.”

It was clear that the employers, though becoming organized themselves,
set up the aim of refusing to recognise the right of the worker to organize.
They wanted to revert back to the days of the iron law of wages and
unrestricted competition by workmen for work on such terms as the selfish,
greedy employer might choose to fix. Whilst the capitalists were nursing
this grand idea of freedom of contract the workers' unions kept steadily on
in their own way, and no doubt by some of their actions helped to add fuel
to the fire of hatred burning in the breasts of capitalism.

Finally, in 1890, the Employers' Union conceived the ambition of wiping
out Australian Unionism at one blow. They first had the idea of a universal
lock-out. With this end in view the co-operation of certain bodies which
had hitherto held aloof from the Employers' Federation was sought. The
Mine-owners' Association of Victoria, whose head-quarters were in
Ballarat, were asked to join in this grand coup. They, however, declined, as
they were on good terms with the Miners' Association. The mine-owners of
Broken Hill were sounded, but mainly through the influence of two of the
directors, support in that direction was declined. The heads of several large
firms in the cities were also humane enough to decline to be a party to such
a plot. These rebuffs caused a change in tactics, though not in design; and
it was decided to take the unions in detail.

Meantime, in pursuance of the policy of ignoring Unionism, the



pastoralists in Queensland had instituted a boycott of union men, and the
Australian Labor Federation determined to bring things to an issue. The
Darling Downs pastoralists were the aggressors, and, as stated in the last
chapter, the Waterside Workers' Unions were asked to refuse to load non-
union shorn wool from the Jondaryan Station unless the pastoralists agreed
to recognise Unionists. A big demonstration was made, and the co-
operation of all the southern organizations of Labor was readily granted.
The waterside men refused to load the s.s. Jumna with the Jondaryan wool,
and when it was seen that Labor was determined the pastoralists gave way,
a conference was held, and an agreement arrived at in Brisbane on the 17th
May, 1890.

In the meantime keen interest had been taken in other parts. Careful
enquiry had shown that in a large part of New South Wales pastoralists had
become tired of an unsuccessful fight year after year with the Shearers'
Union, and were in an unsettled state of mind as to the best course to
pursue. On ascertaining this we felt that some movement on our part was
necessary to make them decide one way or the other prior to the beginning
of the shearing season. Following the lines of Queensland, the A.S.U.
issued a strong manifesto appealing to the other unions, and especially to
the waterside and maritime workers. At the same time we appealed to the
Pastoralists' Union to meet in conference and settle matters amicably.

The move was so far successful that several sections did meet us, and
agreed to leave the matter in the hands of their executive. The latter also
agreed to meet us, and everything was working smoothly, when suddenly
the maritime trouble was sprung upon us owing to the action of the
employers, who put into force the new policy laid down in secret, namely,
to take the Unions in detail. The marine officers were an organized body,
and in Melbourne they were affiliated with the other maritime bodies. In
Sydney they were not affiliated with any other section of Unionism.
Communications had passed between them and the shipowners in both
colonies, and their Union was fully recognised, as also was the fact that
they had reasonable grounds for increased pay.

No considerations of fair-play actuated the Employers' Union, however.
They, like the Zulu chief, tackled the weakest Union first. They placed the
matter in the hands of the late Mr. Alfred Lamb, of Sydney, who acted
promptly by ordering the refusal of a conference to the marine officers.
The latter, acting without consulting anybody, refused to sail; and when
others took their places the seamen refused and stood by the officers, and
thus the whole trouble was precipitated. The president of the Employers'
Union (Mr. E. E. Smith), when responding to a toast at a function in
Victoria, said:



“They had to thank the executive of the Employers' Union for the way in
which the strike had eventuated, as well as the secretaries and the other
gentlemen who had worked so amicably with the executive through a
difficult and trying time. The late Mr. Alfred Lamb, of Sydney, was the
man who had really brought the thing forward. He knew it was the
intention of the Labor bodies to postpone the difficulty until the height of
the wool season, and he thought it was better to bring it on sooner. He was
very sorry that the country should have lost over a million of money in
proving to a section of the community that it could not coerce the whole.
This was now, however, laid down, and it would be difficult to disturb the
position which matters had assumed.”

The statement that Labor intended to postpone the difficulty had no
foundation in fact. Labor had no desire for trouble, and as it had no
executive or other head managing affairs in the way the employers had,
each union was simply dealing with its own affairs in its own way. The
only threatened action was with regard to non-union shorn wool, and this
was only a factor in Queensland and New South Wales, and would have
been out of the way had the promised conference between the P.U. and
A.S.U. taken place.

In Melbourne the shipowners' excuse for declining to meet the officers
was that they objected to their being affiliated with any other body. In
Sydney they had no excuse of this kind, and so simply refused straight out
without any reason being given. After the seamen and cooks and stewards
had refused to sail under blackleg officers, some creatures were obtained to
take their places, and a steamer called at Newcastle for coal. The miners in
the mine from which coal was being obtained at once dropped their tools
and went out without any orders from their union. This excuse was eagerly
taken advantage of by the mine-owners, as next morning the white flag was
up, and all the miners were locked out.

When the trouble was precipitated there was no organization to take
charge on the Labor side, so I at once called together representatives from
the Trades and Labor Council, the Maritime Council, and such unions as
were directly concerned in the matter. In addition to the councils
mentioned there was also in Sydney at that time a Builders' Trade Council,
and many unions were not affiliated with any of the Councils. The
Committee organized by myself was called the Committee of Defence, and
took charge of affairs so far as Sydney was concerned. In Melbourne a
Committee of Finance and Control was set up, whilst in other colonies the
local councils dealt with matters as they cropped up.

The principal centre was Sydney, and there the burden of supporting over
30,000 men, most of whom were married, became a serious problem.



Throughout the continent the loyalty of the Unionists was wonderful, and
astonished the employers. Unionists employed on buildings in the city of
Sydney, and entirely unaffected by the strike, came to the committee
begging permission to come out also, and it took all the efforts of the
committee to prevent a universal strike taking place. The committee had
promised the mayor and the people of Sydney that the city would not be
put in darkness, and had great difficulty in inducing the gas stokers at the
gas-works to continue work. As a matter of fact, they refused unless a
written order was served upon them showing that they, as individuals, were
not blacklegging, and not responsible for handling coal which was “black”
from a union point of view as well as by nature.

Out of all the hundreds of unions in Australia, but one was found to side
with the employers. The Marine Engineers held the key of the position.
Every possessor of a certificate was a member of their union, and under the
law no ship could sail without a certificated engineer in charge. Every
influence was brought to bear to induce them to throw in their lot with their
brother Unionists and thus end the trouble with a win for organized Labor.
Not only did the refuse, but they took a selfish advantage by accepting a
bribe of better terms from the ship-owners. As might have been foreseen,
they have had to accept a reduction since. Fortunately for the credit of
Australians, this was the only exception, but, together with the luck of fine
weather, it had the effect of enabling shipowners to carry on in a rough sort
of way.

The trouble having extended around the coast, it was found necessary to
have a committee to deal with intercolonial affairs, and so, on the 12th
September, delegates from each colony met in Sydney in conference. This
sat continuously until the end of the strike. As the official records of this
conference were very foolishly destroyed since—though they contained
nothing which might not have been published—some particulars from my
own notes taken from the minutes ere handing them over may prove of
interest.

The conference met at noon on Friday, 12th September, 1890, in an
upper room in the Protestant Hall, Sydney. There were present Messrs. J.
Finch, G. Herbert, R. McKillop, W. A. Murphy, P. J. Brennan, and T. M.
Davis for New South Wales; J. A. Thomson, Newcastle miners, N.S.W_; J.
B. Nicholson, Illawarra miners, N.S.W.; W. Trenwith, C. Cox, F. Hall, C.
E. Parkin, J. M. Mansfield, and W. G. Spence for Victoria; R. S. Guthrie,
G. Mellor, and J. MacGillivray for South Australia; A. Hinchcliffe, H.
Turley, F. E. Holmes, and C. Seymour for Queensland. Messrs. Davis,
Mansfield, and Seymour also acted for New Zealand. Messrs. J. H. Cann,
R. Sleath, and P. Quinn, from Broken Hill, attended on the 27th. Mr. P. J.



Brennan was appointed chairman, Mr. G. Herbert vice-chairman, Mr. W.
A. Murphy treasurer, and Mr. W. G. Spence secretary.

Reports were obtained from the representatives of each colony, giving
cause of trouble, number of men affected, and funds in hand.

In South Australia the trouble was over the marine officers only. They
had 500 men out; had received £800, and spent £400.

In Victoria it was marine officers only. There were 3500 men out, and
they had £4000. Had expended about £500.

In Queensland there was the Corinna case, the marine officers, and the
non-union wool. There were 2000 out; they had spent about £1000, and
had about £500 in hand.

New Zealand had 5000 men out. No report as to funds.

In New South Wales it was marine officers first and non-union wool
question second. In Sydney there were 4748 out. They had expended
£2253, and had a balance in hand of £5553. Newcastle men had been
locked out because a few men in one mine had refused to supply coal for a
blackleg crew. There were 4500 men idle in consequence, and they had
£7000 in hand. Illawarra reported 1600 men locked out.

Summed up, the reports showed that there were 28,500 men idle, with
about £20,000 at their back.

The first resolution was one asking the employers for a conference, and
appointing delegates to meet them. These were given a free hand as to
terms. The representatives of the employers' organizations were sitting at
the time in an intercolonial conference, and we sent on the appeal to them
at once by letter. They refused to meet us, and at once closed up their
conference and cleared out of Sydney. Every effort was made to induce
them to meet in unconditional conference, but without avail. Lord
Carrington (then Governor of New South Wales), Mr. S. Burdekin (Mayor
of Sydney), Cardinal Moran, the Chief Justice, and others all tried hard to
get them to meet us, but in vain.

The fight became more severe, and on the 15th the miners of Lithgow
and Broken Hill were asked to cease work, and the stevedores and others at
Melbourne and Adelaide were asked to block vessels in those ports. It was
decided to allow coal to be supplied to the various Governments. We tried
to arrange for running a steamship in opposition to the steamship owners,
but the miners objected to cut coal. By the 18th everything was at high
pressure, and it was felt that some decided and strong step must be taken so
as to help on the efforts of those who were still trying to secure a
conference.

Early in the struggle the shearers had been asked to stay at home and not
accept engagements. It must be remembered that the Pastoralists' Union



had in the beginning thrown itself into the struggle by uniting with the
shipowners. The call to stay at home did not affect many, as shearing was
in full swing in New South Wales and in parts of Queensland. On the 19th
the following telegram was sent to every shearing shed where men were
working:—

“Instruct all shearers, laborers, and carriers to cease work after Wednesday night
next at all hazards. No man to go to work till further notice. This step absolutely
necessary to protect Australian Unionism.”

This notice had splendid effect. It brought some of the big squatters to
the city, and caused them to throw their influence on the side of a
conference. Unfortunately, the press ridiculed the idea that men would
forfeit their earnings and lose employment for the sake of the marine
officers and at the behest of an irresponsible body. Writing daily in this
strain had some effect on the employers. On the 23rd a motion was
proposed, delaying the call-out till the Monday following. There was a
long discussion, lasting until the afternoon of the 24th, when it was
defeated, the only two voting against the call-out being Mr. (now Senator)
Trenwith and myself.

I was president of the Shearers' Union at the time, and that fact no doubt
added to the loyalty of the shearers, as the wires were sent in my name—
though in my capacity as secretary to the strike conference. The wires were
sent, and the result proved the press to be false prophets, for 16,000 men
ceased work at once on the day fixed. Their loyalty stands out as a
magnificent monument of what true Unionism means. They asked no
questions, took all risks, and left their work, in most cases penniless and
not knowing where their next meal was to come from. Before the end of
the month the effect on the employers was such that they promised Mr.
Burdekin (then Mayor of Sydney) that if the shearers were sent back they
would meet us in open conference.

A resolution that the shearers be sent back to finish their contracts had
been discussed for nearly three days, and was carried late on the afternoon
of the 2nd October. The men were ordered back; and though on that very
day the employers had definitely promised Mr. Burdekin that they would
meet us in open conference, they failed to keep to their promise. Had they
kept their word the call-out would have been a success, and those who
voted for it would have been lauded amongst Unionists. As matters stood,
it proved a mistake, as it had cut off supplies and involved the men and
their union in serious loss. It cost the A.S.U. about £9000 afterwards to pay
for fines and forfeited wages.

Though the men had only been out for a week, most of the squatters



refused to let them go back, and so wires daily poured into the conference
asking what they were to do. Delegates at conference, in the face of this
demand, frankly owned up that they had more than they could manage, so
on the 4th October they passed a resolution that the question of dealing
with the shearers be left entirely in the hands of Mr. Spence. Conference
saw that Labor was defeated—not from lack of loyalty, but from want of
funds. On the 9th it adjourned sine die, leaving the executive to wind up
affairs, which they did on the 13th.

Twelve of the delegates were subsequently elected to Parliament as
Labor men. Two of these have since died, and seven are still members—
four in the Commonwealth Parliament, two in New South Wales and one
in Queensland State Houses.

During the sittings of Conference a good deal of information was
supplied to us by an anonymous writer, of whose reliability we had
evidence. He was in some position in close touch with the Government of
the day, and we found his hints useful. In one letter he stated:

“Your bitterest enemy is Lamb; your best friend Lady Parkes—she has
the curb on Sir Henry.”

In Donnelly's “Caesar's Column” the clever schemer is a Jew with a
crooked neck. During our sittings a Jew, a man of independent means,
came to me with a scheme which had much merit in it. This particular Jew
had a crooked leg. He said he knew there would be no freedom if the
capitalist won, and his race were ever lovers of freedom. His scheme was
that we should arrange that a large body of the miners of Newcastle, who
were idle by reason of the lock-out, should commence to march to Sydney,
carrying their tools, or at any rate a pick each. They were to walk, and not
to hurry.

Meantime, secrecy as to why they were coming to the city was to be
maintained. As they came nearer, arrangements could be made for bringing
the shearers down from inland, and the city Unionists were also to be in
readiness. It was the mystery of the procedure that was to tell. The
reporters would be busy; they would interview all and sundry; but as
nobody could tell them anything the effect would be to frighten the wits
out of the capitalists, whose whole life is bound up in property and
business. The chairman of the Defence Committee and I were prepared to
act on the suggestion, but we could not get the representative of the
Newcastle miners to agree, and of course we could not do anything without
his consent.

During the sittings of the conference the first post one morning brought a
letter addressed to Messrs. Brennan and Spence. Mr. P. J. Brennan
(chairman of the conference) having arrived first, opened the letter and got



somewhat of a shock when he found it to be a notice of doom, with a rough
drawn coffin and cross bones at the bottom. There was a warning to both of
us, and a note to each couched in similar language. That to myself read as
follows:—

“Mr. Spence,—We have had enough of this game. I and a few others have stuck to
the cause, but you and the cause have not stuck to us. Our wives and children are
starving, and we see misery everywhere. You and your mates have ruined us all for
the b— cause—what cause? Curse the delegates. We had a meeting and drew lots,
and you are a marked man. So your b— life is not worth much. We have sworn to do
it. You have ruined us. You are to be followed; prepare to meet your God. It is our
rule to warn our victims. God help you. It is to be done.”

It was handed to me on my arrival, and I could see that Mr. Brennan,
who was somewhat emotional, was upset and took it rather seriously. I
laughed at it, as possibly some trick. That evening Mr. Brennan was on his
way home just after dark, when by some peculiar accident a portion of a
brick fell from the top of a building as he passed it, and striking him on the
head caused him a slight injury but a worse fright, as he thought it was the
threat of the letter-writer being put in force. He was laid up three days
through it.

The manifesto issued at the close of the intercolonial conference read as
follows:—

“To Unionists and General Public.

“We have the honor to submit the following brief report:—This conference of
delegates from the committees, having the management of the strike in each colony,
was convened by the Labor Defence Committee of New South Wales as quickly as
possible after the Intercolonial Conference of employers had met in Sydney. It was
felt that in view of the disastrous effect produced upon the community by long
continuance of a strike it was the duty of both sides to endeavor to arrive at an
honorable and amicable settlement as early as possible. Delegates met in the
Protestant Hall, Castlereagh Street, Sydney, on 12th September. The first act of the
conference was to pass the following resolutions:—1. ‘That this conference requests
the conference of employers, now sitting, to appoint six of their number to meet six
members of this conference with a view to (if possible) deciding upon a basis of
settlement in connection with the present Labor struggle. 2. That a copy of the
foregoing be forwarded to the employers’ conference, with a request that, if
approved of, they will meet our representatives at 2 p.m., at the Town Hall, on
Saturday, the 13th instant.' This was sent at once to the secretary of the employers'
conference, but, we regret to say, was not dealt with by their body, who, we were
informed next day, had dissolved on the afternoon of the day of our first sitting.

“A manifesto was issued to the public by the employers' conference, containing
the following statement of the position assumed by them:—I1st resolution—"‘That
this conference re-affirms the principle of “freedom of contract” between individual
employers and employees, and asserts that any infringement of that principle is not



only destructive to commerce, but is also inimical to the best interests of the working
classes.” 2nd resolution—"‘That any attempt to apply force, or the threat of force, or
any persuasion, other than that permitted and defined by law, to men who are not
Unionists, or any other form of boy-cotting, should, in the opinion of this
conference, be resisted by united action.” 3rd resolution—‘This conference is of
opinion that employers should declare that they will not be coerced in the dismissal
of any labor that has taken service with them in the present emergency, and in the
event of any attempt being made to coerce such labor to join any trade organization,
or to interfere with them in the discharge of their daily work, the combined
associations represented at this conference will take all possible means to insure
their personal safety.” 4th resolution—°That this conference declares that to maintain
discipline, and thus protect life and property, owners of shipping in the coastal and
intercolonial trades should not engage or retain in their employ any captains or
officers who may be members of a union affiliated with any Labor organizations.’
Sth resolution—*‘That with a view to the extension of the various employers’ unions,
it is desirable to encourage employers and others connected with all trades,
businesses, and interests to join existing employers' unions, and form other unions
where necessary for mutual protection and defence upon the basis of resolutions
passed; that such unions form federal councils for each colony; that all such federal
councils be affiliated and confederated. This conference desires a speedy termination
of the present unsatisfactory state of affairs, and to facilitate a resumption of work
employers are urged to proclaim as soon as possible the terms upon which
engagements will be made.'

“Our conference at once prepared a reply and set forth the position taken up by
Labor in the following resolutions:—1. ‘That this conference agrees with the
principle of freedom of contract between employer and employees, but holds that
combination is absolutely necessary in the best interests of the people, and that
trades unions, being legal institutions, are entitled to the recognition of all classes.’
2. ‘The basis of Unionism being voluntaryism, it is against their principles to use
coercion of any kind, and they therefore use moral suasion only. They claim that
every workman should have freedom to join any organization he may choose, and
deny that employers have any right to use any influence other than moral suasion to
prevent his doing so.” 3. “This conference claims that it is absolutely necessary in the
interests of the working classes that they shall have the right to refuse work when the
conditions under which they are asked to continue work are such as to be detrimental
to their interests.” 3. ‘This conference is heartily in accord with the general
principles contained in the proposals of the Employers’ Conference as set forth in
their fifth resolution, and on similar grounds claims that the workers should have
absolute freedom to affiliate their various organizations.' It will be seen that there is
evidently considerable difference in the position taken up by each side as set forth,
and that to arrive at the real meaning of each resolution some explanation was
required before either side could reasonably be expected to accept the principles
involved therein. We deemed it best for both parties to the dispute to meet in
conference without any conditions ‘a priori,” and made a proposal to that effect.

“During the whole of the 20 days' sittings of our conference we have used our best
endeavors to bring about a settlement by conference with the other side. The Most
Worshipful the Mayor of Sydney (S. Burdekin, M.L.A.), and a number of other



gentlemen, have also done all they could to induce the employers to meet us in
conference, but without avail. The Employers' Union have during the whole period
evaded the question as much as possible by shuffling and delay, putting forth the
excuse that they must await the issue of negotiations going on in Melbourne; the
Employers' Union in Melbourne acted on similar lines there, by putting forth the
plea that they must consult the Employers' Union in Sydney. No definite reply as to
whether they will meet us or not having been obtainable, we regret that we have
been compelled to adjourn. Before doing so we make the following
recommendations:—*‘We are of opinion that no settlement of a satisfactory character
can be arrived at except at an intercolonial conference of both sides.” ‘In the event of
the employers being at any time prepared to meet us in any of the colonies, we
recommend that the delegates be at once called together by the committee having
control of strike matters in the colony the conference is proposed to be held in.’
‘That no terms of settlement be accepted by any strike or defence committee in any
colony without first consulting kindred committees in all the other colonies
interested; also, that no single society accept terms of settlement without first
consulting the committee having control of affairs in the colony in which such body
is situated.’

“The refusal of the employers to even meet and discuss matters, can only be
construed as an evidence that they prefer to let the strike continue, in hopes that they
may crush Unionism; hence it becomes necessary to close up our ranks, and loyally
resist this unwarrantable attack on the rights of Labor. We recommend that each
union, and every friend of humanity, be appealed to, so that full financial support
may be secured. We suggest to each committee the desirability of directing their
energies in the direction of a systematic collection of funds. We would also call
attention to the actions of the Governments of each colony in regard to the strike,
and recommend active, energetic work throughout all Labor organizations in
preparation for taking full advantage of the privileges of the franchise by sweeping
monopolists and class representatives from the Parliament of the country, replacing
them by men who will study the interests of the people, and who will remove the
unjust laws now used against the workers and wealth-producers, and administer
equitable enactments impartially. We are pleased to be in a position to congratulate
the unions on the splendid loyalty to the cause displayed throughout the strike. Every
effort has been put forth by our opponents, assisted by their agents, the Governments
of at least three of the colonies, to provoke breaches of law and order. We are proud
to say that everywhere their efforts have failed. The workers of the colonies have
demonstrated their powers of self-government, and proved that it is the discipline of
Unionism, and not the power of armed force, which has guided their behaviour
under most trying circumstances. We look forward with confidence that the loyalty
and unity of our members will be maintained, and that in a short time victory will be
on the side of humanity and progress.

(Signed) “P.J. BRENNAN, Chairman.

“W. G. SPENCE, Hon. Sec.

“Sydney, N.S.W., 8th October, 1890.”

In Melbourne the only question involved was that of the marine officers,
and so far as the public and official statements of shipowners were



concerned they only objected to the officers being affiliated with the
Trades Hall Council. It will be remembered that in Sydney they were not
affiliated with any other body, yet they were refused a conference just the
same. However, no sooner had the trouble arisen in Melbourne than the
Hon. James Service, M.L.C.—himself a shipowner—mediated between the
parties, and on the 14th August the shipowners, by official letter to him,
agreed to meet the representatives of the marine officers in conference. Mr.
Service communicated with the Committee of Finance and Control at once,
a meeting of the marine officers was held the offer was accepted, and
delegates appointed.

An official letter so informing the shipowners was sent direct so as to
save time. No reply coming next day inquiries were made, when it was
found that the shipowners, who had loudly objected to dealing in any other
way than direct with their officers, had suddenly brought up a question of
etiquette, and said that the letter should have been sent through Mr.
Service, and without explanation they failed to meet or keep the promise
officially made. The Hon. James Service said in the Legislative Council
afterwards that “it was the refusal of the shipowners to meet the Trades
Hall delegates that had precipitated the catastrophe.”

The fight in Melbourne went on; and, as in Sydney, quite a number of
influential men tried to mediate, always to find the employers obdurate.
They met with the same shuffling and lack of honesty as was our
experience in Sydney. Of course, we could understand it later, when we
found out the secret plot of the Employers' Union, but at the time no one
could understand why men supposed to be reputable citizens should so far
fall short of honorable dealing as to fail to keep official promises. Public
opinion in Victoria was considerably aroused by their action, and leading
men expressed their sympathy by monetary aid. That grand democrat, the
late Chief Justice Higinbotham, sent the following letter:—

To the President of the Trades Hall Council.

“The Chief Justice presents his compliments to the President of the Trades Hall
Council, and requests that he will be so good as to place the amount of the enclosed
cheque for £50 to the credit of the strike fund. While the united trades are awaiting
compliance with the reasonable request for a conference with employers, the Chief
Justice will continue for the present to forward a weekly contribution of £10 to the
same object.

“Law Courts, Melbourne, September 29th.”

Another letter appeared in the “Age,” as follows:—

To the Editor of the ‘Age.’
“Sir,—Enclosed is a cheque for £50 in favor of the treasurer of the strike fund,
which sum I intend to give weekly so long as the struggle continues.



“Yours, etc.,
“JOHN ANDREW.
“383 Latrobe Street, 3rd September, 1890.”

The Victorian committee were in a much stronger position for carrying
on the fight than that of Sydney. They had only 3700 on the strike list. Of
these the marine officers numbered but 150, and yet they were the men the
whole of Australian Labor was fighting for. The strike, so far as Melbourne
was concerned, was suddenly ended by the marine officers giving way
without consulting those who had put up such a brave fight in their
support. On the 30th October, 1890, Mr. C. E. Parkin, their secretary, sent
the following telegram to all concerned:—

“Shipowners have agreed to recognise the association. We have agreed to forego
affiliation. Settlement shortly.”

Whilst there was no doubt about the loyalty of the unionists, and whilst
all concerned did their best, the event brought out the fact that if Labor was
ever to go into such a struggle again it must be better prepared, and must
have some governing head of an intercolonial kind. The calling together of
the Intercolonial Conference on the 12th September was an attempt to
provide this, but there was still lack of a recognition that only one central
authority could properly deal with the whole trouble in the large sense.

For instance, the very day before the meeting of the conference in
Sydney the Committee of Finance and Control in Melbourne had taken
action by placing in the hands of Mr. Andrew Lyell, of Melbourne,
proposals for settlement without consulting other bodies concerned. The
first that our conference knew of it in Sydney was through an outsider, in
the person of Mr. Champion. Three of us, as delegates from the
Intercolonial Conference, were by appointment having an interview with
the Mayor. Whilst there, Mr. Champion walked in and produced the
document marked “private and confidential” which had been given to Mr.
Lyell, and which contained proposals we did not agree with.

In Sydney we had been negotiating for an open conference without any
beforehand restrictions, whilst in Melbourne proposals in black and white
had been made without our knowledge, and which an unauthorised person
brought to Sydney, and for all we knew might already have been submitted
to the employers. The whole face of things has altered since, and hence it
will not be necessary to make provision against any such thing again
occurring.

Even with more perfect organization, the employers would have had the
advantage. The question of whether it has paid them is one they may not
care to answer, as it is pretty clear that they have placed themselves in a



worse position owing to the fact that they aroused a sleeping, allpowerful
giant, and by the peaceful method of straight voting for straight men of his
own class, giant Labor is going to rule shortly over shipowners as well as
shearers. The monetary cost to Labor, exclusive of loss of wages, of the
various troubles the Employers' Union has brought upon the community by
its secret plot of 1890, I estimate to be in round figures about £190,000. If
we could estimate the good resulting to Labor it will be found to be cheap
at the cost. The Employers' Union has no gains to count.



Chapter XII. Incidents of the Big Strike.

CAPITALISTS are great believers in law and order so long as they can
control its administration. Having so long held the ruling power in every
country, they rush to coercion whenever the workers show a determined
front. During the maritime strike they were very anxious in Sydney to find
an excuse for having the military called out. There had been no
interference with the procession of 10,000 unionists who marched through
the streets of that city on 6th September, 1890. Everything passed off in an
orderly manner. This good behaviour on the part of the strikers did not suit
the employers.

The Trolly and Draymen had joined the strikers, and had refused to carry
wool or goods to be handled by blacklegs on the steamships. A number of
squatters and their friends therefore arranged to drive the teams themselves
from Darling Harbor to Circular Quay. They laid their plans in such a way
as would, they hoped, provoke a riot and provide an excuse for having the
military called out. Those who took on the job were the Hon. W. Halliday,
M.L.C., and Messrs. Vincent Dowling, Harry Graves, H. Doyle, H. C.
White, W. Cope, H. Cunningham, Irving Winter, George Maiden, Solling,
and Allister Lamb.

On Friday, 19th September, 1890, these valiant men, safely guarded by
special constables and mounted police, paraded the streets of Sydney in a
lengthy procession of teams loaded with bales of wool. When they reached
Circular Quay there were 60 mounted police, 200 foot police, and 200
special constables on the spot, selected for the hoped-for riot. Mr. Nugent
W. Brown was in waiting to read the Riot Act, and at a given signal he
came forward and is alleged to have read it. It was not clear to listeners
whether he was too drunk or too nervous to make understandable what he
was trying to read. He had no sooner collapsed, however, than there was a
rush made by the police, and those who, out of pure curiosity, were quietly
looking on, were surprised at being suddenly hustled about and charged by
the troopers. There was no riot nor semblance of one, in spite of the efforts
to produce one.

Following this up, the employers by deputation waited upon Sir W.
McMillan, who was Acting Premier during Sir Henry Parkes's illness.
They urged that more extreme action should be taken by the Government,
and that the military should be called out. Sir William was entirely
sympathetic with them, and would certainly have had the military brought
into requisition had not Sir Henry Parkes at once intervened and disclaimed
all sympathy with the utterances and promises of McMillan. The latter was



hit so hard that he sent in his resignation as a Minister. It was not, however,
accepted.

An incident occurred at this time which is known only to a few, and is
worth recording. A fine, strong-charactered member of one of the unions
concerned felt annoyed at the very evident desire of the employers to use
force, so he said to some of his mates:

“D— them, if they want a riot, let them have it.”

The P.U. members had publicly notified that on the Monday following
they were going to take the wool to Circular Quay in spite of everything.
Our friend practically accepted this challenge, and carefully and with the
utmost secrecy picked out about 100 men upon whom he could rely, and
all of whom had been drilled in connection with the volunteer movement.
These men were to muster at 6 a.m. on the Monday at the spot where the
wool teams were to start from. They were to arm themselves with a keen-
edged knife each. The knife was to be used to hamstring the horses in the
wool teams, and those of the troopers likewise. This was to be done on a
given signal from the leader.

The plot was only found out by one of the officers of the Seamen's Union
late on the Sunday night. He came to me with the information, and I took
steps at once by getting together the executive heads of the various unions
and arranging for a demonstration to be called for in the Domain so as to
draw off the union men. I inserted advertisements in the newspapers
accordingly, and at the same time the leader in the hamstringing movement
was persuaded to call his men off the job.

Our move was successful, as on the Monday morning the streets were
practically deserted when the procession of wool teams paraded the streets,
escorted by specials and foot and mounted police as before. The specials,
being in plain clothes, and marching next the teams and between
uniformed constables, had the appearance of being prisoners on the way to
a lock-up. Some of the big squatters again made a display of themselves by
driving the teams. The cavalcade proved a source of amusement to the few
onlookers, and the girls in upstairs workrooms had an especially good time
jeering the “Johnnies” who acted as special constables by asking them
what they were “in” for. The drivers this time were Messrs. J. L. Hayes, W.
L. Thompson, C. Brown, H. M. Deakin, Byron Baily, W. C. Jones, S. F.
Walker, H. A. Podmore, and M. McMahon.

The Sydney “Daily Telegraph” said of it: “The whole affair, as it passed
solemnly out of the station and marched slowly along the wretchedly
muddy thoroughfares leading into George Street, looked more like a
section of a State funeral than a purely commercial or business operation.”

In the city of Melbourne there was not so much cause for excitement.



The numbers affected were very much fewer, and owing to the difference
in the topography of the two cities were much less congested than was the
case in Sydney. Nevertheless, the Government of the day took the most
extreme measures, and did what was calculated to promote disorder rather
than to prevent it. A special meeting of the employers had been held in the
Atheneum on the 26th August, 1890, when a very strong attack had been
made upon the workers and charges of boycotting levelled against them.
The Committee of Finance and Control decided to call a mass meeting for
the afternoon of Sunday, 31st August. They applied for the use of the
Friendly Societies' Gardens, which practically belonged to the workers. A
member of the Government (Dr. Pearson) blocked them, however, as he
had some power as President of the Board of Land and Works. The
Committee then arranged for the use of Flinders Park, adjoining.

The mere announcement of the intention to hold a public meeting of
Victorian citizens struck the Government with panic. A special meeting of
the Cabinet was held on Friday, the 29th; proclamations were issued; Mr.
Shuter, police magistrate, was commissioned to read the Riot Act; and
orders were wired to the different centres to call out the Mounted Rifles,
the Horse Artillery, the Cavalry, Permanent Artillery, and Victorian
Rangers. The city was placarded with proclamations and copies of the
Unlawful Assemblies Act.

By Saturday evening there were about 1000 military in barracks. On the
evening of that day Colonel Tom Price formed the Mounted Rifles into a
hollow square and addressed them as follows:—

“Men of the Mounted Rifles: One of your obligations imposes upon you
the duty of resisting invasion by a foreign enemy, but you are also liable to
be called upon to assist in preserving law and order in the Colony. This
latter task is now asked of you in the event of circumstances requiring your
aid. Should the necessity arise, I have no fear that you will do your duty
like men and soldiers.

I do not think that your aid will be required; but if it 1s, let there be no
half measures in what you do. To do your work faintly would be a grave
mistake. If it has to be done, let it be done effectively. You will each be
supplied with forty rounds of ammunition and leaden bullets, and if the
order is given to fire don't let me see one rifle pointed up in the air. Fire
low and lay them out—Ilay the disturbers of law and order out, so that the
duty will not again have to be performed. Let it be a lesson to them. Treat
any comment that may be levelled at you in the street with the silent
contempt which it deserves. Don't lose your heads or your tempers. That
you will do your duty faithfully and well I am sure of.”

Next morning the men were paraded in Victoria Barracks for divine



service, and the blessing of the God of Battle invoked to help a set of
warlike armed citizens to lay out another set of peaceful and unarmed
citizens who dared to attend a public meeting. If certain statements made to
me by members of the Mounted Rifles were true, it was a lucky thing for
Colonel Price that he did not get a chance to give the order to “fire low and
lay them out.” Knowing that a moving crowd is more orderly and more
under restraint when in procession, the Committee of Finance and Control
had intended to march from the rendezvous at the Burke and Wills
Monument in Spring Street. The authorities, however, prohibited a
procession, so we simply strolled along to the Park.

There was an immense gathering of 60,000 people—men, women, and
children—well-dressed, orderly, and peaceful, but intensely interested in
the utterances of the several speakers. A slight shower fell during the
proceedings, calling up umbrellas, but not one person moved away. The
vast sea of faces, as seen from our raised platform, was something to
remember. Mr. W. T. Carter, M.L.A., occupied the chair.

Mr. (now Senator) Trenwith moved, and Mr. T. Porter, of Ballarat,
seconded the first resolution, as follows:—

“That this meeting desires to express its indignation at the action of a
section of the employers of labor throughout Australasia who, by their
unjust and arbitrary action, have precipitated an industrial crisis which
must necessarily entail a large amount of suffering and inconvenience on
the entire community.”

The second resolution was moved by the late John Hancock, and
seconded by myself:—“That this meeting expresses its surprise that the
members of the Employers' Union, at their meeting at the Atheneum,
should have declaimed so vigorously against the principle of the boycott,
in face of the fact that they practise it daily.”

A third resolution pledging support, and a fourth conveying thanks to the
workers of Britain, were also carried unanimously and amidst much
enthusiasm and the waving of the British and Australian flags crossed.

Public feeling was at fever heat, but again it was proved that the best
outlet for excitement is the right of free speech and public meeting—that
the right to voice their grievances is the safety valve of the English-
speaking race. Any interference is resented strongly.

The late John Hancock and myself had been specially asked to deal with
the question of the boycott. We had such a fund of facts and details of
typical cases showing how systematically and cruelly the employers had
always used it, that we silenced the other side and turned public opinion
against them. From that day to this they have not had a word to say about
the boycott. It was one of those occasions where, by means of the press,



public opinion was affected, and many previously adverse to union
methods modified their views. Meetings similar in aim were held in the
country towns afterwards, so that the attitude of the unionists could be
placed before the people.



Chapter XIII. The Industrial Fight in Queensland

THE attack on the Labor organizations of Queensland in 1891 was but
part of the great scheme of the Employers' Union, referred to elsewhere.
The banks controlled the squatters, the latter formed a Pastoralists'
Association, and the Government were but a committee for carrying out
the behests of employers. All the powers of the colony were used against
the workers. The public service was terrorised into helping the
Government. Railway men were ordered to leave their union, and if one of
them was reported as giving any assistance to the shearers he was
dismissed. Every magistrate and officer of police knew that promotion
depended upon his activity in getting unionists jailed on any pretext.

Pastoral employees had made no new or unreasonable demands. The
squatters had cut wages. This was bad enough, but when they were going
to fill white men's places with Chinese, and further insisted on “freedom of
contract,” shearers and shed hands had no alternative but to go on strike.
Even Sir S. Griffith admitted to a deputation that the request of the Union
for open conference was reasonable. He did nothing to help, however; but
on the contrary put his great ability at the disposal of the employers. He
was one of the Cabinet at the time.

Every effort at conciliation was made by the workers without avail. It has
become clear since that the ruling authorities had never intended to give
fair play. They laid their plans to crush the men, and it stands to the credit
of the workers that in spite of all the powers of State, of suffering and
imprisonment, they stood true to the cause they fought for, and proved
themselves worthy sons of the great white race. Their Union was registered
under the Trade Union Act, which they understood would protect them
from the old law of conspiracy, but how they were deceived is explained in
the remarks of Chief Justice Lilley in the appeal case of George Taylor. He
saidi—

“I think the Trade Union Act is something like a sham; it is a delusion
and a snare. It does away with the old law of conspiracy to some extent,
and provides that you may call yourself a trade union, and that shall not be
a conspiracy. The fact is that all through the history of trades combination
the law has been made to help the master and not the man. The present
statute 1s a milk and water Act. It is, so to speak, simply a sprinkling of
rosewater.”

(The Shearers' Union was registered in Victoria, but, in spite of the fact, a
member named Waters was sent to jail for twelve months on the charge of
conspiring to raise wages. He was in a camp of men who were on strike for



union rates and by union orders, but it did not save him.)

The fight was bitter. It could not be otherwise. The marvel was that it did
not result in civil war. The efforts of the leaders to try to effect settlement
on reasonable lines, and the fixed idea of the men that they were engaged
in an industrial strike, alone saved the country from civil war. At one time
it was feared that it would come to that, and to prepare for such a
contingency one of the leaders of the A.L.F. and myself held a private
conference at three o'clock in the morning whilst travelling on the Adelaide
express to Melbourne, and came to an understanding as to certain action to
be taken by myself in the southern colonies. The men were becoming very
exasperated at that time, and had they gone to extremes they would have
taken possession of the country.

The Government had an idea that they maintained law and order by the
force of military and police, but such an idea is an illusion. The
Governments admitted breaking the law in their treatment of unionists.
They did all they could to tempt men to break the law, so as to have an
excuse to lock them up. Spies were sent into every camp. The scum of the
cities of Australia was raked up to take the work from decent workmen.
The use of the railways was given the squatters. The “scabs” were armed,
and if they shot any union man they knew it would be to their advantage.

The police magistrate at Barcaldine (Mr. McArthur) was a fair man, and
had an influence for good accordingly. He had reported that the unionists
in camp there were law-abiding. He was removed to Muttaburra, which is
known as the “Siberia” of the service. Mr. C. A. M. Morris, P.M., was put
in his place with a promise of promotion if he “did things.” The P.M. at
Rockhampton (Mr. R. A. Ranking) was put in charge of the whole affair.
The secretary of the P.U. (Mr. Sherwood) stayed in the same house as
Morris at Barcaldine, and at least on one occasion a meeting of the
squatters was held there. Morris entered into the business of helping the
squatters with a zest, and must have pleased them, as he secured
promotion. That the Government had placed Morris and Ranking at the
disposal of the Pastoralists' Union is clear from the following letters sent to
Morris in April:—

“Queensland Pastoralists' Association,
“20th April, 1891.

“C. A. M. Morris, Esq., P.M., Barcaldine.

“Dear Sir,—The twenty specials were engaged yesterday, and will leave here
tomorrow by steamer. They should arrive at Barcaldine on Wednesday next, where
they have been told they will be met by you. They go up in civilians' clothes, and
will require to be sworn in when they reach Muttaburra, or possibly at Barcaldine.
See Ranking as to what would be best. Saddles, bridles, four pack-saddles, rifles,



revolvers, and ammunition for each man go by same boat, packed up and addressed
your care. The men carry their uniforms and blankets in their valises. They must not
carry arms till they have been sworn in, and it might not be advisable then either.
They are young gentlemen that have been promised treatment as such. It has been
clearly explained to them that no one holds position over another, except that they
will have attached to them a sub-officer and constable of police. They could be
divided into squads of five if necessary. Sub-inspector White will be in full charge.
Have twenty-four horses with you ready for them at Barcaldine waiting.
“Yours, etc.,
“F. RANSON.
“Secretary Federal United Pastoralists' Union of Queensland.”

“Darr River Downs,
“Muttaburra, 2nd May, 1891.

“C. A. M. Morris, Esq.

“Dear Morris,—I enclose copy of wire received by me from Secretary Pastoralists'
Union, which of course explains itself. It is impossible for me to get down to see
personally to these men. May I therefore ask you to take the matter in hand for me. I
think it will be advisable to have them sworn in as specials immediately they arrive
in Barcaldine; then, as there does not appear to be any boss man amongst them,
kindly get police to put an official over them to conduct them up here with all speed
consigned to care of P.M., Muttaburra. Upon arrival here I will hand them over to
the authorities to guide their youthful minds in the way they should shoot. I am
sending Messrs. H. Atkinson and Goss down with twenty horses for the men, and
with instructions to report themselves to you and receive your orders. I fear I am
rather adding to your trials just now, but see no other way to get the men put through
to Muttaburra without a hitch.

“With kind regards, and hoping to see you soon,

“I am, yours sincerely,
“GEORGE E. BUNNING.
“P.S.—If any hitch occurs, wire Mr. Klugh as to what is to be done.”

The following advertisement appeared in the press:—

“The Government are prepared to provide free rations and protection in police or
defence camps to all men, union or otherwise, who are willing to return to their work
at once. A list will be kept of the names of all such men, and those applying first will
receive the first engagement. Plenty of men can find work on those stations where
shearing is about to commence, and on all other stations about the central district.

“CHARLES A. M. MORRIS,
“Assistant Government Agent.
“April 7th, 1891.”

One of the Union leaders (Mr. W. Mabbott) called attention to this
advertisement publicly, and Boss Ranking at once saw the mistake of
Morris, and sent him the following letter:—



“Rockhampton,
“18th May, 1891.

“Dear Morris,—

“Above is an extract from ‘The Courier’ of the 11th May. There is no doubt that
Mabbott has intended to refer to your advertisement. Lane, of ‘The Worker,” who is
here, tells Blair this is so. Of this advertisement Tozer, of course, is ignorant. We
must not allow Tozer to remain any longer in ignorance, or he will commit himself
and the Government unwittingly. However painful it may be to us, we must, without
a moment's loss of time, put Tozer in possession of the whole facts. Such an
explanation will come better from you than from me. I rely on you doing it by return
mail. You can easily refer to par. and say you feel that he ought to be placed in
possession of the facts. Send him copies of your telegrams to me when at Clermont,
and my reply. Dwell on the fact that we were all expecting his approval of French's
scheme, and let him understand that immediately you and I met you withdrew the
advertisement. Don't lose a moment. It can make no difference to you, as you've got
your promotion, and if you do not see your way to do it I must, in self-defence. I
could not let the Government go to Parliament to have such a bombshell burst on
them unawares.

Yours,
“R. A. RANKING.”

“TELEGRAM.
“Rockhampton,
“May 21st, 1891.

“Message for C. A. M. Morris, Barcaldine.

“Send a wire saying that you have by press of business been
prevented from answering. | shall be up before Sunday, and you can
reply Monday.

“R. A. RANKING.”

Of course it was never intended that such letters should become public
property, and it fell like a bombshell on the Government when they were
read in the House by the leader of the Labor Party. They howled at him,
charged him with stealing, etc. Morris was asked to account for their
getting into the hands of the unionists, and he said that he had them in a tin
box, which was abstracted from his luggage at Rockhampton railway
station. This was untrue. By mistake, his luggage was sent with that of
another man of the same name. The letters were not in his tin box at all. He
did not take them with him from Barcaldine.

Strong effort was made to provoke the men to bloodshed. The
Government sent a wire saying: “Don't dilly-dally. Exercise vigor, even if
it cause bloodshed.” This was supposed to have been sent to Colonel
French, but that was an error; it was sent to Ranking. The latter put vigor
into his work. He wrote Morris, assuring him that if the leaders were run in



it would stop supplies from the south. The Union Committee at Barcaldine
was at once arrested by Inspector Douglas and Constable Malone. Outside,
200 military stood at attention. Secretary Kewley was locked up; a spy was
put into the cell with him, and he was supplied with liquor in order to see if
he would talk.

The strike committee was tried in private. The members of it were sent to
jail in 1891 for three years, and ordered to find sureties afterwards. They
served their full term, and did not come out until November, 1893. They
were Messrs. H. C. Smith-Barry, W. Fothergill, A. Forrester, J. A. Stuart,
G. Taylor, P. F. Griffin, E. R. Prince, W. J. Bennett, D. Murphy, W.
Hamilton. Long after the 1891 trouble the Government was appealed to,
and urged to release these men. They offered to do so if the men
themselves would petition for release. This the men refused to do. They
declined to crawl and cringe to such a ruffianly crew as the “continuous
Government.” Two other men, named Lowry and Heathcote, did petition,
and were released. After getting £18 15s. each from the Union Prisoners'
Relief Fund they went away south and turned traitors to their fellows.

When the office was taken possession of, all the papers were seized, and
any letters which could be used against the unionists were produced, but
they refused to allow any in their favor to be read. Everything was
glaringly one-sided. A Justice of the Peace was struck off the roll because
he had been seen in company with unionists, whilst not a word was said to
Mr. Newton, J.P., who wrote to Brisbane “Courier” advocating the
shooting of unionists. A number of men were arrested and charged with
arson. James Toohey tried to communicate with them, and was fined £15
or three months' imprisonment. The strong bias of judges is illustrated by
the following quotation from the report of the trial of men for
conspiracy:—

“There were 200 men in the crowd at Clermont.

“His Honor: It is a nice, pleasant country this, where such a state of
things can exist.

“Mr. Dickson: How many policemen were there?

“Witness: Four.

“His Honor: Let me see. They all had six-shooters. Four times six are
twenty-four. That would have been twenty-four shots. There would not
have been many boohooed the second time if I had been one of them.

“Mr. Lilley: You cannot shoot men for disorderly conduct.

“His Honor: Very probably they could have found justification.”

The authorities were active in locking up every man who was a strong
unionist. James Martin was “sent up” for two years in 1891, and for fifteen
years in 1896. Justice Cooper sentenced unionists Jeffries and Murphy to



seven years each for burning wet grass. Another man, Irwin, also got seven
years. Ranking acted the autocrat. Letters were opened, also telegrams. A
press wire of importance, addressed to “The Worker,” was detained for
three weeks. Anything and everything was justified by the Government
which tended to crush out the Union which was the only protection the
workers had against the sweating and robbery of the banks and boodlers.

Looking retrospectively at the events of those years, and the happenings
since, the capitalist class which ruled then must see how foolish they were.
They gained nothing. On the other hand, Labor was aroused, and has taken
up the challenge, and is now almost in possession of the reins of
government. William Lane, founder and editor of “The Worker,” sitting in
the Court House at Rockhampton, wrote the following, which appeared in
that journal on 30th May, 1891:—

“In the court-room at Rockhampton. A close, drowsy afternoon. A wearied, listless
audience, being lulled into greater listlessness by the droning charge of the judge.
For the great conspiracy trial is drawing to its close, and to-night, apparently, the
jury will retire and the prisoners will know their fate—or rather Society will know
its fate, for it is evident on the face of it that the prisoners are not on trial at all. A
paradox, this, is it not? Ah, well, life is full of paradoxes, as you would think if you
were sitting here in the Rockhampton court-room and began to ruminate over things
as I have just begun to do.

“This is the court-room and the bushmen are here on trial, the judge will say; and
the press and the lawyers and the squatters smile cheerily as Judge Harding ‘rubs it
in.” But it seems to me, sitting here, that they are not on trial. It is Society which is
being tried, and the verdict of this jury will not matter, whatever it is. Society is
being tried here as a whole, prisoners and squatters and judge and jury and lawyers,
tried here as it is being tried wherever the opposing elements of Society are brought
face to face, wherever the upspringing of Humanity finds an advocate or meets a foe.
And its judge is God—the eternal God which has no defining and no dimensions,
but which holds the stars in their places and makes Right Might, and Justice strong,
the same God—call it Law, or Nature, or anything you like, what do names
matter?—the same God that laid Rome low and shattered Greece, the home of art
and slavery, and that judges our Society now, weighing it in the balance, as Olive
Schreiner says, to know whether it be wanting. And it is ‘wanting,” indeed it is, as
you would think if you were here—and thought as I do. For justice here is a farce
and Patriotism a mockery. Here in this court-room the class-fight is being fought
out. Here squatter and laborer face one another, and the Government and the judge,
and the whole judicial system chum in with the squatter, and one sees how hollow
the Law is and how useless it is ever to think of working together, capitalist and
Laborer, for the settlement of our social troubles. It is boiling over here—class-
jealousy, class-hatred, class prejudice, class-bitterness; and penned up in this boiling
cauldron are the bushmen, officially said to be standing their trial, and they have not
two friends sitting together except in the public gallery, and there—well, there the
squatters could not find two friends, only the public gallery does not count yet.



“In the prisoners' dock are the bushmen, rough-looking men, roughly dressed, with
broad, browned hands, with poses that lack the grace of Vere de Vere and of the
squatter who lounges easily on his bench half a dozen paces away. They wear
moleskin pants, mostly, and few wear vests; one or two who are better dressed, with
all the town-bred attachments, are lost in the general effect. I saw them in a dark,
windowless, ill-ventilated cell, two hours or so ago, wherein they were awaiting the
re-opening of the court, and they looked a pretty rough lot. And so would Judge
Harding and his associate and young Lilley and Virgil Power and these aristocratic
squatters, if they were dressed in nondescript garments and inducted in the same
conditions. If you were to see these men out West, as I have seen them, camping
under the starry sky and gathering in on horseback to the great bush meetings, free
handed and free hearted, open as children and true as steel and simple in their habits
as Arabs you would not have said they were ‘rough-looking’ then. You would have
said that they fitted—but they don't fit here.

“For my part I would rather be prisoner at the bar than any one of them. Foolish
some of those prisoners may have been; not one of them but has sought to aid his
mates against the oppressor, not one of them but is being victimised now on general
principles for having given that aid. They to-day, us to-morrow, you some other day;
under some pretence or other those who love the people are doomed to suffer. And
when our time comes, as theirs has come, may we be as they are, patient,
courageous, and fearless, ready for the worst that can be done to us, comforting
ourselves with the sure and certain knowledge that we prepare the way for those who
will triumph in the end. And surely when the People's Jubilee has come when Labor
shakes off its fetters, when Wrong and Misery and Poverty are rolled away like
clouds before the wind, surely then men will give a thought to the martyrs who have
made redemption possible, surely here in Australia men will remember those who
stood their trial for Labor's sake at Rockhampton in 1891.”

What Lane wrote then is being verified to-day. It was Capitalism on
trial—not Labor. It was the beginning of the end of capitalistic misrule. It
was not a trial. The men were really sentenced ere a witness was called. It
was a farce arranged in order to still further deplete the Union funds. The
summing-up was but an excuse to browbeat the jury so that capitalism
should have its victims. It was left to Lane and perhaps a few others, whose
faith in the great cause never wavered, to see glimpses of the future when
some of these very rough bushmen then “on trial” would take a place in the
country's Parliament. More than one of them have done so. As the world
grows older they, and many others of that period, will be placed on the
Roll of Martyrs in the cause of human progress and the setting up of
Justice.

In spite of the big cost though little gain in the industrial war of 1891, the
P.U., aided by the Government under Nelson and Tozer, had another try in
1894. This time they passed a Coercion Act, which was practically a copy
of Buckshot Forster's Irish Coercion Act. Anybody having or suspected of
having fire-arms could be arrested without warrant and would be tried



privately, no person other than the magistrate to ask any questions. No one
could see him tried unless the magistrate permitted. A witness could be
compelled to give evidence, even if he incriminated himself. A person
could be kept locked up without trial for 30 days—and, under special
warrant, two months—without trial. The bill was rushed through in one
night. The Labor members put up a fight, but the gag was applied. Messrs.
Browne, Reid, McDonald, Dawson, Turley, Dunsford, and Glassey were
suspended for one week from attendance at the House. Mr. C. McDonald,
who is now Chairman of Committees in the House of Representatives,
shouted out as they removed him from the chamber, “A brutal Speaker and
a brutal Chairman.”

Not long before a most awful case of gross violation and murder of a
woman had taken place, and a reward of £250 only had been offered. Eight
or ten men had been murdered up in the North, but scarcely any effort was
made to find the murderer. Some men had been out eighteen days in an
open boat, and the Government did nothing. These concerned human life.
When it came to property they offered £1000 reward for the discovery of a
fire on a ship, and £500 for conviction of anyone setting fire to a woolshed.
Later £1000 was offered for conviction of damage to property.

The military was sent out West, and had to drag Nordenfeldts, Gatling
guns, and a nine-pounder about over the back country. Colonial Secretary
Tozer issued a manual of instructions, and under the heading, “Firing to be
Effective,” they were told to pick out the leaders and not to fire over their
heads, but to shoot straight. Major Ricardo, when addressing them before
they started, said:

“Go forward, gentlemen, and defend your hearths and homes.”

In what way they were in danger he did not say, and probably had not the
remotest idea. The officers were all made Js.P. The soldiers were a huge
joke to the bushmen. They played tricks on them, but the officers seemed
to take the business with immense seriousness. They kept up sentry duty,
and turned out on the slightest alarm. One night a black gin went to the
camp. It was raining and pitch dark. She only wanted to see her husband,
who was a tracker, and wanted to know what they meant when the sentry
took alarm and called out the whole regiment. Another night a pig got
loose and kicked over some tins. The whole army was promptly aroused
into action.

The military was only brought out at first through a joke. A considerable
body of shearers were camped outside Clermont, and to amuse themselves
a portion mounted and rode through the town and returned to camp. Later
another body would ride through, and so on until, without any inquiry, a
wire was sent to Brisbane that over a thousand armed men had passed



through Clermont. The military was hurried out West at once, to find on
arrival the ashes of a camp fire. The anti-Labor press had worked up a
scare. A statement was made by the Colonial Secretary in the House one
night to the effect that a homestead had been attacked, and that but for the
police using their arms there would have been murder. The real fact was
that a ram had wandered round the homestead, and the police had fired and
shot it dead.
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Photograph facing p.160. Marked Tree, Union Strike Camp o 800 Men, Hughenden, 1891.

Amongst the many extraordinary things done by the Government and
their pliant tools I can only give space to a few. At Augathella six men
were kept on one chain day and night for ten days. Fourteen men were kept
in two cells 7 x 8 each. A man named Gavin was kept in handcuffs all
night, though it was known that he was suffering from fever and ague. Men
were taken long distances on horseback in leg-irons and handcuffs. When
the horses knocked up the men had to walk. When Macnamara and
Latrielle were arrested out at Augathella, Inspector Stuart covered them
with a revolver and threatened to shoot if they did not move faster.



Latrielle stopped and said:

“Fire, that's all you are good for—firing on defenceless men.”

The inspector then ordered them to be handcuffed, saying,

“Screw them together like dogs.”

Hughenden woolshed and homestead are about one mile from the town
of Hughenden. Edward Cowling was taken past the town lock-up and kept
at the woolshed for six weeks. They had an idea that he knew something
about the burning of Ayrshire Downs, and so they kept him, hoping to
induce him to say something. He was offered £1000 and a free pardon, but
had nothing to say. He was then paid £3 to sign a document; was let go, to
be immediately re-arrested. He was tried at the woolshed by the manager
of the station, and committed to Muttaburra. From there he was taken to
Townsville in a first-class compartment. He was then ordered to dress well,
and was taken by boat in the saloon to Rockhampton, where he was
brought before the famous Ranking. Ranking sent him back to Muttaburra,
but when the train reached Alpha he was taken out there. Cowling, together
with James Martin, John Loyola, and D. Bowes, was tried by Judge Miller
at Rockhampton on the 8th June, 1896, for burning Ayrshire Downs, and
Martin was sentenced to fifteen years, the others to ten years each.

Another severe sentence was recorded by Judge Real in the case of a man
named Prior, who was charged with shooting a man at Combe Martin. The
evidence was notoriously weak, as the man who was wounded said it was a
police officer, and not Prior, who had shot him. Still, Prior was sent up for
six years. Six men were arrested and tried, and they decided that Prior was
the right man!

To enforce the Peace Preservation Act it was necessary that some
complaint should be sent in. Kyuna was proclaimed, and immediately a
man named Finn went to the police and informed them that he had 2500
rounds of ammunition, which he would be glad if they would take care of
for him. Inspector Cooper said it was unnecessary, as it was alright where
it was. Shortly afterwards the police raided Finn's place, arrested him and
two others, and brought them up for trial. They got off, and when Cooper
was asked why he did not take the ammunition when offered, he replied:

“Oh, well, old man, it is like this: If we did not make some fuss up here,
they would think down in Brisbane that we are doing nothing at all.”

Ten men who were engaged kangaroo-shooting left McKinley when it
was proclaimed, but were arrested, brought back 80 miles, and chained by
legirons to a log in a bough shed. They were fined five shillings, and had
their rifles taken from them. These were returned afterwards, as the men
were found to be of good character.

Maxwelltown Station was included in a proclaimed district, and four



constables called there and began to search the men's huts for fire-arms.
Hearing a noise in the shed hands' hut, the shearers came over to
investigate. A dispute soon arose, and resulted in the men disarming the
police. Jim Martin was shot in the hand, owing to a constable's revolver
going off accidentally The men then ordered the police to leave the station.
Next morning, seeing that the police had not gone, Martin said:

“How is it you have not gone? Didn't we tell you to clear out?”

At the same time he was approaching the place where the police stood,
when the sergeant took aim at him with a rifle, saying:

“If you come any further I will shoot you.”

Martin did not pause, but calmly walked up to the muzzle of the rifle, and
taking hold of it wrested it from the sergeant. The police were then ordered
off, and they went and camped some distance away. Later the station
manager came to the men and urged Martin to return the weapons to the
police, pointing out that they would be obliged to report their discomfiture,
and would lose their billets. The men admitted that they did not want to
injure the police, as their quarrel was not with them. Eventually, to help the
police out, Martin agreed to return the weapons on condition that they
would arrest such person as he would point out to them, and that
afterwards nothing should be said about the matter on either side. This was
agreed to, and a quiet man who had taken no part in the affair at all was
arrested, and charged with resisting the police. He pleaded guilty, and was
fined five pounds.

In another district a number of men were camped in some scrub when
they heard that the police were on the warpath for arms. The whole crowd
crept up to the edge of the scrub with sticks in their hands, with which they
took aim at the police. The latter did not come close enough to investigate,
but rode away out of rifle range as rapidly as they could. Another party of
shearers rode out of their way to meet the police, and slung their rifles over
their shoulders before riding up and saying “Good day.” They were not
meddled with. The report of the Chief Commissioner of Police on the 1894
strike states that 78 men were arrested, of whom 44 were convicted for
various offences.

One of the actions most characteristic of the Government took place in
connection with this report. Colonial Secretary Tozer ordered an alteration
in the report so as to make it justify his Coercion Act.

The Commissioner said: “That is the truth according to my light.”

Tozer replied: “I want the truth according to my light.”

Mr. D. T. Seymour, the Commissioner, had written in reference to the
Act: “It was not necessary to enforce any of its provisions.” This was
erased, showing to what lengths Tozer would go. Oakden, who had charge



out West, dared to say that there were faults on both sides. Under the cross-
examination of Labor members in the House, Tozer became so notorious
for the unreliability of his statements that all over Queensland to-day, when
you don't believe a statement, you say, “That's a Tozer.”

The Peace Preservation Act referred to was only put into force after the
strike was declared off. Evidently the Government was not satisfied that
the men had been sufficiently crushed. It quite realised from past
experience that men of the stamp of the Australian bushman may be forced
to give up a fight for want of funds, but that it makes no difference in his
spirit or intention. He only intends to get ready to renew the attack, and
will never stop fighting until his reasonable demands are acceded to. The
country was saved the disaster of a civil war by the efforts of the Union
leaders. If it had come to such a pass the Unionists would have taken
possession.

Australians do not carry arms. In a camp of Union shearers and shed
hands there would not be two per cent. who have arms, and these are in all
cases men who keep a rifle as a tool of trade to make a living in the off
season by kangaroo shooting. But the action of the Queensland
Government and its grossly unfair administration of justice so provoked
men that at one time it was probable at least 800 rifles, with ammunition
for same, were in possession of the unionists. The business people of one
town subscribed £200 for the purchase of rifles and ammunition, and one
hundred rifles were secured in Brisbane and taken from there by rail under
the very eyes of the police and detectives and safely landed in the Union
camp. These were Mauser and Mannlicher rifles of up-to-date pattern. Men
of the resource of the Australian bushmen could have taken possession
with ease and without much bloodshed. In the “Sydney Morning Herald”
of September, 1894, the following paragraph appeared, having been wired
from Brisbane under the head of news from Winton district:—

“The mounted infantry men sent to the Winton district, with a few exceptions, are
unfit for police duty. Several are utterly undisciplined and untrained. Some are very
bad riders, with a mixture of plain clothes and uniform. The general impression is
that a serious mistake has been made in sending such men to this district.”

The correspondent also says that one was charged with sleeping whilst
on sentry duty. To take such a body of men prisoners would have been
amusement to the organized unionists of the West. Assistance would have
come from New South Wales of a very practical kind had such extremes
been forced upon the men of Queensland. All along the Australian worker
has asked for peaceful methods of settling industrial disputes. It has been
the employing class and its pliant tools—who hitherto have had charge of



the affairs of Government—who have adopted the coercive attitude.
Unionists prefer constitutional methods to the adoption of force, hence the
restraint always placed on the extremists. It was a lucky thing for
Queensland that union leaders had more influence and more intelligence
than the Government, as no Government ever did more to provoke and
justify revolt than the Ministry ruling Queensland in 1891 and 1894.

Capitalism has hitherto ruled by force and foolery. The days of force are
gone, and the days of foolery are nearly departed, as the worker is awaking
to the realisation of his own power and his duty. The press no longer
dominates him as it once did. The political dust-thrower can no longer
blind the unionist with the foolery of platitudes and promises. Industrial
organization and political education run together, and soon in every State
and in the Commonwealth the masses will elect their chosen
representatives who will make laws for the welfare of all the people; and
class misrule and misgovernment, with all its attendant injustice and
misery, will have become a thing of the dark ages of the past.



Chapter XIV. Law and its Administration.

“ALL men are equal in the eye of the law.” This is one of the fallacies
common to mankind. It is not even true in the abstract. It is not true, to
judge even by the reading of the Statutes themselves; much less is it true in
fact. The capitalists of the world claim and enjoy all the good things, and
men have been so perverted in their judgment that even the masses seem to
concede to the rich rights and privileges denied to others. Not only are the
rich able to succeed at law because of being able to hire the ablest brains as
advocates, but they start off with the advantage of having all the bias of
administration in their favor.

The worker is told that it is a creditable thing for him to improve his
position in life; but the moment he attempts to do so by seeking better
conditions, or even when he refuses to be sweated or put on starvation
wages, the view of his well-to-do adviser is suddenly changed. The striker
1s put upon the footing of a man taking part in a rebellion—one who ought
to be shot on sight.

[ can only recall one case in a thirty years' experience where the
Government acted in such a way as to help the workers. That was in
Victoria. The miners of Bendigo were on strike, and the mine-owners were
fighting them. The latter held leases from the Crown on certain labor
conditions—that is, they must employ a certain number of men per acre or
the lease was liable to forfeiture. They applied for suspension of the labor
covenants, but the then Minister for Mines (the Hon. Francis Longmore)
refused. He took the correct neutral attitude by simply saying that work had
to go on. The mine-owners soon came to terms with the workers after that
message reached them.

In all our big industrial battles the Government has invariably aided the
capitalists. We have not had a Government in power during any trouble
which really trusted the people. Australians are a law-abiding people. They
believe in law and order, and in good government. Above all, trades
unionists are disciplined to a recognition of the principle of the common
good being the first consideration. Absolutely without justification the
police—and on many occasions the military—have been called into
requisition to help degrade the workers and reduce their already small
earnings.

Nothing will destroy the love of a people for law and order so quickly as
to see its power abused by making it a weapon to do injustice. Where
employers are so unreasonable as to refuse mediation or decline to meet
delegates from the employees, they should have no consideration or help



from the Government. If no police or military were placed at their disposal
they could not, in Australia at any rate, get enough non-union labor to
count at all in any case of industrial war, and would be forced to come to
terms at once.

In mining they have not of late years been able to get men to take other
men's places except in rare instances, and in these it was through the
influence of the Government. In the Newcastle coal field they do not even
now try to fill the men's places. They have not been fortunate in the past. In
1861 the employees of the A.A. Co. in the Borehole mine were on strike.
The manager (Mr. Winchip) brought a number of men from South
Australia to take the strikers' places. These men found that they had been
misled, and refused to go to work. They went to prison rather than work
against their fellows. A strike took place in the Australian Shale and Oil
Co.'s mine, Joadja Creek. N.S.W,. and the company brought men from
Scotland on a two years' engagement. These men likewise refused to work,
and many absconded when they found out how they had been misled.

The class of men obtained by employers at strike time is invariably a low
type, and not to be trusted. They will “take down” the employer just as
readily as work against their fellow-man. They are always inferior
workmen, and would not be kept on for a day except as tools to crush the
unionist. This is the class the Government has backed up in the past as
against the respectable honest worker.

If a ship enters one of our ports it is visited by the health officer, and if
there are signs of any dangerous epidemic disease amongst passengers or
crew the ship is sent into quarantine at once, and no one is permitted to
land. Every one agrees that such an extreme step is quite justifiable on the
grounds of public safety, and because to do otherwise would probably
allow misery, suffering, and perhaps death to come to the people of the
country in which we live. Governments profess to desire to see the masses
improve their position and set up a high standard of civilisation; yet they
not only permit a small minority of the people to introduce that which is
worse than smallpox or plague, and which is deliberately directed to
produce suffering, misery, loss, and death, but they help them to do so.

To introduce blacklegs and “scab” labor is to degrade the workers upon
whom the prosperity of the country depends. “Scab” should be treated in
the same way as smallpox. The Commonwealth Parliament has vaguely
recognized this, as in the Immigration Restriction Act certain clauses
prohibit bringing in labor under contract when any labor trouble is on. The
principle should be adopted by the States and applied generally, unless
they take the other method of providing proper tribunals to settle matters of
industrial difficulties, and prevent strikes or lockouts taking place at all.



There is also the evidence of strong bias on the part of judges and others
who administer the law. In 1894 some “scabs” were being escorted through
Walgett, in New South Wales. As it was customary for unionists to
interview all such in order to post them up as to the situation, a number of
union men rode alongside the coaches as they passed through the town.
Along the street a man standing on the footpath threw a stone at the
coaches. He was caught in the act, arrested, and brought before a police
magistrate the next day, and was fined £1. Thus the opinion of the
magistrate was that a penalty of twenty shillings met the case. During the
trial the sergeant of police was busy getting the names of the men who had
interviewed the “scabs.” He then arrested them, and after being committed
they were tried before Judge Docker, and twelve out of the thirteen were
sentenced to terms of imprisonment of from ten to eighteen months. They
had made no disturbance; but they were all union men, whilst the man who
had thrown the stone was let off with a twenty-shilling fine because he was
not a member of the Union.

In one place in Queensland in 1891, 200 men had assembled. There were
60 armed military in charge of a number of non-unionists. There was no
disturbance, but a Justice of the Peace who was in readiness read the Riot
Act. The unionists kept calm, and asked permission to interview the non-
unionists. They were allowed to do so, and sixteen came away with them.
Next day the six who had carried out the interview were arrested, and five
of them were sent to prison for three months for intimidation. During that
year some scores of unionists in Queensland were sent up for periods
ranging from three months to three years.

In 1894, in New South Wales, 87 men were sent to jail for periods of
from fourteen days to seven years. It was not necessary to have done
anything—it was enough to be in a camp, and above all to be a unionist.
Chief Justice Darley, when passing a sentence of seven years on a union
man (C. Murphy), said that it did not matter if the man was 100 miles away
when the offence was committed; so long as it was proved that he had been
in the camp it made him guilty. At all times it is a common practice for
men to form a camp when waiting for shearing to start, so clearly there was
no offence in that.

Another man—a very quiet decent fellow, named Richardson—who took
no part in anything, and did not know anything about it, stayed at the camp
and was arrested. He was sent up for four years. He could easily have gone
away, but very naturally thought that the courts of his country were courts
of justice and would only punish the guilty, and that therefore the innocent
had nothing to fear. In this particular case the real offenders were never
caught.



In another case a very fine young man, named Wm. McLean, was shot in
the chest by a “scab.” McLean was one of a party of unionists who went
out to interview some non-unionists who were working at Grassmere
Station, some 40 miles from Wilcannia, N.S.W. The unionists were
approaching the hut to speak to the “scabs” when they were fired upon.
McLean was shot in the chest, the lung being pierced; another unionist (J.
Murphy) was shot in the shoulder; and a third man in the foot. The
unionists were unarmed, as was usual, and had given no provocation. They
hurried away so as to have the wounded attended to in the hospital, and on
the way were arrested by the police. McLean was sentenced to three years'
imprisonment. The wound and the coldness of the prison cell killed him.
He was released in time to go home to his good old mother to die. No
action was taken against the scoundrel who shot him—indeed, the
president of the P.U. (Mr. W. E. Abbott) sent him his congratulations and a
medal. He was also given a considerable sum of money. I have heard the
same Mr. Abbott on a public platform boast that he had armed his non-
union shearers with rifles and ordered them to shoot any unionist who
came on the board.

It is not denied that many things were done which were wrong. Those
men not only had no sanction from the Union, but they were strongly
condemned. What the unionists complained of was the panic manner in
which law was administered, and the evident bias against union men. They
were placed on the footing of persons entering on a civil war against the
State. Everything the employers did was right; everything the unionists did
was wrong. Any interference was called “hindering.”

“Riot” and “unlawful assembly” were real dragnets. Any shearers' camp
could be called an unlawful assembly. For these alleged offences thirty-two
members of the Australian Workers' Union were sentenced in 1894—one
to 15 months, five to 18 months, seven to two years, three to two years and
a half, four to one year, one to two years and three months, nine to three
years, and one to four years. For setting fire to station buildings four were
jailed for seven years, and one received a like sentence for setting fire to a
steamer. In all about fifty were sentenced to over a year's imprisonment
each. Many of the disturbances were first of all started by city larrikins
who were not union men at all. The plan of holding all responsible who
were assembled in a camp gave a fine opportunity to pick out all well-
known unionists—or, as in some cases, the most innocent and well-
behaved members.

In 1890 the Defence Committee and the members of the Intercolonial
Conference sitting in Sydney would have been arrested but for leading
counsel advising the Government that the employers would also have to be



arrested. The idea of locking up “leading” citizens was too shocking, so we
escaped.

At Broken Hill during the strike of 1892 the strike leaders kept splendid
order. There were a large number of Italians and other foreigners amongst
the strikers. One night these men held a meeting, and after discussion sent
for the strike leaders, who were the officers of the A.M.A. On the arrival of
the latter, the chairman of the meeting explained that the large body of men
present were all trained soldiers who had seen service, and they were at the
disposal of the strikers. If the Union said “Keep out the blacklegs,” they
would do it. They were armed, and knew how to use their weapons, and
would take the risk. If, on the other hand, they were told to maintain law
and order they would do so. The union leaders said, “Maintain law and
order, and do no violence”; yet five of those leaders were sentenced to
terms of imprisonment of from three months to two years.

“Shearers' Troubles at Brookong.

“A State of Siege.

“Brookong Station, Urana, is in a state of siege by the shearers. Police have been
telegraphed for, as the local force are powerless to prevent outrages. The servants on
the station have been dragged from their beds and ill-treated. The Hon. W. Halliday,
the proprietor, has wired for forty Colt's revolvers. and one hundred rounds of
ammunition for each. He intends to fight the shearers to the last.”

The above appeared in the columns of the “Wagga Wagga Advertiser”
on the 16th August, 1888. It was the second year of enforcing the rules of
the Shearers' Union. At first about 25 men were camped on a reserve near
Brookong Station, N.S.W. By the date named in the paragraph the numbers
had increased to about 150. Two union organizers were there, who, on
behalf of the men, tried to induce the manager of the station to grant union
terms. He refused, as he reckoned he had enough non-union labor. Shortly
afterwards some of the wilder spirits left the camp at night, and entering
the shearers' hut near the station, took away the men who were there, and
who had engaged to do the shearing. They took them into the camp. The
manager, together with the sergeant of police and two constables, visited
the camp next day, and some of the “scabs” tried to leave with them, but
were nearly all prevented by the men in camp. Some of them were roughly
handled, but no serious injury was done to any. The servants at the
homestead were not interfered with in any way. All that was done took
place under the eyes of the police. The Union organizers took no hand in
the matter. These facts are taken from the sworn evidence. Nine men were
arrested, and on being tried before Judge Windeyer were sentenced to
terms of imprisonment as follows:—Three to one year each; four to two
years; and the two Union organizers, John Parker and Brian Lee, to three



years each.

When one compares these sentences with those meted out to city
“pushes”—bands of low ruffians who rob and ill-treat helpless old men and
women—an idea is gained of the strong bias ruling on the Bench. The trial
took place at Wagga Wagga, and, curiously, Windeyer had just been put on
that circuit. The office of the local branch of the Union was in Wagga
Wagga. The secretary (Mr. W. W. Head) and myself went to the court to
hear the trial. We found a cordon of police round the court-house and the
gates well guarded. Business people and squatters were admitted, but
unionists were shut out. However, we managed to get in. I was president of
the organization at the time. We had engaged counsel to defend the
accused, and Mr. Head and myself were pushing our way to the front when
I was rudely pushed back by a constable, whilst Mr. Head was rushed with
rapidity into the dock and placed on trial with the others.

The dock in New South Wales is a remnant of the convict days, and is
made of enormous iron bars with spiked tops about six feet high. It is more
formidable looking than the tiger cage in any menagerie. To place men in
the dock is to prejudice their case at once. When you look at them you feel
instinctively that they must be dangerous to society, and unconsciously the
jury finds each guilty before it hears the evidence. The judge was on the
Bench when we went in. He had a look on his face which indicated that he
meant business this time. It was he who had ordered the arraignment of
Head. No doubt he felt sorry that he could find no excuse for running me in
also. Mr. Head was given no warning. The others had been tried in the
lower courts and committed for trial, so there was time to prepare a
defence. No such chance was given branch secretary Head. He was not
permitted to instruct counsel nor arrange for his office work, nor to say a
word to his wife. All that Head was guilty of was that he had ridden out to
the camp to see Mr. Halliday and the Union organizers. He had not stayed
at the camp any length of time. Nevertheless, Windeyer tried hard to
convict him, saying in his summing up:

“If a man came in and took a hand, so to speak, for ten minutes, that was
quite sufficient to make him guilty, though perhaps not so guilty as some
others.”

The jury, however, were not so biased as the judge, and Head was
acquitted.

In commenting on the severe sentences given in this and other cases of a
similar kind, we must remember that many of the men were persons of
strong mentality, and of such character that they felt punishment much
more than men of the low criminal type. A sentence of three years in New
South Wales carries with it the awful cruelty of solitary confinement. So



notoriously evil is this in effect that at least one judge (Simpson) has
refused to give a three years' sentence in any case, no matter how bad the
crime may be. Several of our unionists who served the longer sentences
came out mental wrecks and ruined for life through the solitary system. As
further illustration of law and its administration I make the following
extract from my official report as President of the Shearers' Union issued to
members at the close of the maritime strike in 1890:—

“In connection with the actions at law, the most extraordinary decisions have been
given and strange courses followed by the administrators of our laws. Full advantage
was taken of that unfair old fossil of a statute, the Masters and Servants Act. The fact
that the maximum penalty under the Act is £10 was quite ignored. In the cases tried
at Louth, one man who had been stinting himself in order to save his hard earnings
to clear off a debt, had £35 wages due forfeited. Another man, who had put his
earnings in various articles, had only 10s. to come. Both had committed the same
act—one was fined £35, the other 10s., the decision being forfeiture of wages in
each case. In a number of cases at Narandera, members' wages to the amount of £25
each were forfeited. Take two cases again as an illustration. One man was £2 in debt
to the station, another on the same board had only 10s. to his credit. The latter was
let off by forfeiting his 10s., but the former, not having a farthing to his credit, which
would have saved him, was fined £10 or fourteen days in jail. Take, again, the
following facts:—Sixteen members who had been fined elected to go to jail, as they
had no money. They went to the lock-up, but the authorities declined to put them in.
It was on a Saturday, and they were told to call on Monday. They accordingly did
s0, but were again refused, and told to go about their business for sixty days.

“Another peculiar case is that of the Union agent, Mr. Arthur Rae, at Hay. As
agent, he gave a letter to the shed representative at Mungadel, and another to the
shed representative at Toogimbie, notifying the men to come out. Rae was
summoned by the owners of the sheds (named Messrs. Simpson, Parsons, and Dill
respectively), although he had only done his duty, yet under that peculiarly elastic
Act of our capitalistic Parliament sixty-one cases, one for each shearer, were taken
against him. One set, that of the Mungadel cases, was taken, evidence being heard in
one case only, that of the shed representative, which, although totally unlike all the
others, was enough excuse for the individual who, unfortunately, has been made a
magistrate, instead of being put in some position more suitable to his intelligence.
He was dealing with a union man and an agent, and, after showing a bias sufficiently
strong to have him kicked out of office in any country not ruled by wealth, he fined
Rae £5, or fourteen days' imprisonment, for each of the twenty cases, costs added.
He thus had to pay £155 12s. 8d., or go to jail for over twelve months. The other
thirty-two cases had yet to be tried, as part of the evidence was taken and cases
adjourned. As the magistrate must follow the same decision, Mr. Rae, for carrying
out instructions—for doing his work honestly—must serve nearly two years and a
half in jail, or pay over £320 fines.

“Another point is worthy of notice in this case. Mr. Rae stated in Court that he
would not pay the fine, but would go to jail. Whether the gross injustice of taking
away a man's liberty merely to gratify the spite of a squatter struck the magistrate or



not, he would not let Rae go to jail. He first suggested bail, but, on being reminded
by someone in Court that he could not let a man off on bail who had been convicted,
he fixed it up by accepting Rae's cheque for £155 12s. 8d., same not to be payment
of the fines, but to be held by the C.P.S. until Mr. Rae elects to take out his term. Mr.
Rae did not know how much was to his credit at the time, and the fact was there was
not sufficient to meet it, so that the cheque was practically valueless. This is one out
of many samples of the free and easy style in which law is administered in New
South Wales.

“As you are aware, we consulted counsel, and took the very earliest opportunity of
bringing a test case before the Supreme Court in Sydney, where subsequently the
decision of the Full Court was adverse to the A.S.U.

“We intend to see that every member who lost his wages by the call-out shall be
paid. A large number of those pastoralists who had taken action, and even secured
verdicts, have already paid shearers, as your officers took steps to induce them to do
so, and members very properly refused to work for them until they agreed to pay.

“In Deniliquin district, a number of pastoralists have been mean enough to retain
the hard-won money of the shearers, without even securing the co-operation of the
magistrates to take possession. If these men do not give up that which is not theirs, it
is probable that they may have to do their own shearing in future, as no one will
work for them. We are collecting a list of amounts due, and will see that they are
made good as early as we can, although we are not sure yet as to the amount; and if
it is very large, the more fortunate will, we are sure, be willing to help their fellow-
workmen who have suffered in upholding the principles of unionism.”

Payment of forfeited earnings and law costs put the Union to an
expenditure of about £9000. In all cases where men were imprisoned the
Union maintained their wives and families, and also raised a fund to give
them a start of a few pounds when they were released. According to law
Mr. Rae, as medium for inducing men to leave their hired service, was
liable to two and a half years' imprisonment. Under the same law [ am
liable to over 643 years. I issued the order for the shearers and others to
cease work, and over 16,000 men ceased work in consequence. So far the
Government have shown no desire to start me on this long term. They have
apparently seen the foolishness of applying a law made for one set of
conditions to circumstances to which it was never intended to apply. Mr.
Arthur Rae afterwards became a member of Parliament for the very district
in which the farce of his trial was enacted.

The big strike forced on the Broken Hill miners in 1892 was full of
incident, as showing how professedly democratic Governments attack
Labor when it needs protection instead. The police magistrate in charge
acted in the most glaringly partial manner by using his powers to help the
wealthy mining company. The Government of the day helped them by
suspending the labor covenants, and, when one extension was not enough,
by giving them another. Further, they sent up a Crown Prosecutor to make



doubly sure of getting hold of some of the men's leaders. The strike lasted
from July 4th to November 6th, 1892.

After it had gone on for some time and good order had been maintained,
it evidently did not suit, so eight men were arrested, including the leaders
of the union. With well simulated sympathy the Government, on the
pretence of getting the men a fair trial, had them sent to Deniliquin, where
a jury of farmers might be got. Further, they specially sent up Judge
Backhouse to try them, letting it be known that this was because he was not
only unbiased against Labor, but rather the other way.

All this was sham and hypocrisy, and was said simply to mollify public
opinion, which was against the Government. Usually persons out on bail
are tried last when a Court sits. On that occasion there were seventeen
other cases set down for hearing; but they had to wait and rot in jail, owing
to the hurry of the Crown to run in the Labor leaders. The trial began on
24th October, and lasted six days. At its close the wonderful jury which
they had been brought so far to be tried by declared all hands except one
guilty of conspiracy. All of the accused were coupled with somebody
excepting one, whom this marvellous jury wanted to convict of having
conspired with himself. The judge pointed out the impossibility of such a
thing, when they calmly asked if they could couple him with a certain other
whom they named, but were informed that there was no evidence of his
having had anything to do with the man mentioned.

Evidence mattered not to this jury, just as it did not matter to the Crown
Prosecutor who acted for the Government in ordering the arrests. However,
the man had to be discharged. As a reward for maintaining order the
officers of the union were sent to jail—the leaders for two years each, two
others eighteen months each, one nine months, and one three months. Two
out of the eight were discharged, as there was not a tittle of evidence
against them.

The sham of the whole thing was fittingly completed by the jury
expressing surprise at the severity of the sentences, and saying that they
had been misled by the judge, who had indicated in his summing up that he
was not going to give them seven years even if they were found guilty. If
he had not said that apparently the jury would have let them off altogether,
which is only in keeping with most of what occurred. The best proof of
how the public looked at the matter lies in the fact that both the two years'
men (Messrs. Sleath and Ferguson) were sent into Parliament for some
years afterwards, and by more than one constituency.

The trades unionists of Australia have received far worse treatment than
those of the old world. The Governments have been more cruel and unjust,
and judges have displayed a bias which can only be characterised as class



hatred. Whatever judicial capacity may have been exercised in other cases,
unionists met with neither justice nor mercy. Whenever a report appeared
in the press of an alleged union outrage the authorities demanded that some
one should suffer for it. A number of men were arrested for the burning of
the steamer “Rodney.” There was no evidence against them, and when the
Court adjourned for dinner it is alleged that a telegram was sent to
headquarters at Sydney to the effect that the men were innocent. The reply
was that some one must be punished for it. A victim was eventually found
and sent to prison for seven years, though he was 200 miles away when the
steamer was burnt. The real culprits were never punished.

If the advice of the judges before whom some of our unionists were haled
had been taken, it would have led to the practice, so degrading to the
masses in Western America, of being ever ready to shoot on sight—a
practice hitherto unheard of in Australia. The great majority of the “scabs”
were notorious criminals, well known to the police. Many of them were
bullies and larrikins who in dark city lanes *“dealt it out,” as they termed it,
to weak old men. This was the advice Justice Stephen went out of his way
to give such characters:—

“He had often been surprised that free laborers did not arm themselves
and resist the outrages that were perpetrated against them. They were, of
course, entitled to resist—and to resist, he maintained, with fire-arms—if
they had a reasonable idea that their lives were in danger. . . . If Baker had
to stand his trial for killing one of the men, he would go so far as to say
that the jury might well have returned a verdict of justifiable homicide.”

The above is from the report of the trial of the Grassmere case at Broken
Hill on the 18th October, 1894. Baker was the “scab” who shot McLean,
referred to elsewhere.

Look also at the remarks of Sir George Innes when trying the cases of
alleged riot at Weil-moringle:

“. ... The case tried before me yesterday, in which the jury unhappily
have not been able to agree, presented features of worse and more revolting
barbarity; and serves to illustrate still more forcibly the fearful menaces to
liberty and order which are now rampant.”

The case he commented on had to go before a fresh jury at Sydney, and
his remarks were calculated to give that jury an unfair bias. The same
judge, in the case before him, spoke as follows:—

“Possibly you are to some extent misled by the leaders, who are well
paid, and who for their own sordid and selfish ends and purposes—under
the guise of pretended sympathy with the poor and suffering—fan the
flame of discontent and thrust you and others into the forefront of the
battle, taking very good care to keep themselves comfortably out of the



meshes of the criminal law. But it is to be hoped that justice will yet
overtake these designing and unscrupulous men. In the meantime, the law
must be vindicated and order maintained.”

The reckless way in which this judge slanders the leaders only shows
how strongly he is influenced by the views set out in the capitalistic press.
He had no evidence that any union official was paid at all. As a matter of
fact, the highest officials of the organization were at the time and are still
unpaid. The most bitter and unfair of the whole bench was Chief Justice
Darley, before whom the Kallara men were tried—it would be more
correct to say sentenced.

The camp was some three miles from the woolshed on the opposite side
of the river. Some of the men, quite unknown to the rest, went across to the
woolshed and came to the men's hut, which contained some “scabs” and
police constables. The attacking party got close up against the walls of the
hut, and when a constable put his arm over a wall and tried to fire on the
men his revolver was quickly knocked out of his hand with a stick. The
leader of that gang always used a stick. No damage was done, and the men
returned to camp. Of course, those who had taken part knew the risk, and
they left. The leader was an able man. The police looked for him towards
Queensland. He expected that, so he rode the other way, and came right
into the heart of the enemy, taking up his residence in Sydney for months
after.

The police never arrested anyone who was really in the affair. A man
named Murphy, who had been spending his time at the Kallara Hotel, step-
dancing and drinking, and who had nothing to do with the so-called riot,
was arrested, however; and, after being bashed about in a most disgraceful
manner by the police on the banks of the Darling River, was locked up. He,
with another innocent man named Richardson, had the bad luck to come
before Darley, who spoke of unionists as “a closely knit band of criminals
with commissariat arrangements, with waggons and fire-arms and
ammunition, devastating sparsely inhabited country, holding the few
inhabitants in terror, and compelling honest laborers to desist from work.”
He also said they ought to be shot down like dingoes, or something to that
effect.

His remarks not only show gross bias, but they are absolutely untrue as to
fact. Waggons, for instance, are unknown and never seen in a union camp
or on the road. Neither do unionists, as has already been pointed out, carry
arms and ammunition. No evidence was given in that case that they had
done so, hence he went out of his way to influence the jury. If the advice of
these judges of New South Wales had been acted upon it would have led to
men becoming armed, and as unionists are in the majority, and are braver



men, there might have been a civil war, and the “scab” would have been
annihilated. Fortunately, the Australian working man has more knowledge
and more sense in these matters than the judges, so their advice was not
acted upon.

It is a noticeable fact that whenever public opinion got a chance to
express itself it was always against the action of the judges. Peter Lalor, the
leader of the great strike of gold diggers which culminated in the fight at
the Eureka Stockade in December, 1854, and for whom the Government
offered a reward of £200, was sent to Parliament the following year, held
the position of Speaker for four Parliaments, and when he retired was
granted £4000 honorarium. Of unionists who suffered imprisonment in the
years 1891-1894, over half-a-dozen were returned to Parliament so soon as
an election came after their release. Several who are in Parliament to-day
suffered justice's injustice for being unionists.

It may be urged that, as unionists were tried before a jury of their fellow-
men, they had no reason to complain. But the juries were mostly as biased
as the judges. The jury list is a limited one at best. When the Crown
challenged it they weeded out working men likely to favor unionists, the
other side challenged capitalists; and generally the result of the weeding
out was to leave a jury mostly composed of shopkeepers or other men with
little intelligence and no force of character.

This story of the jury-room will illustrate this: Away back in the eighties,
there was a serious industrial trouble at Newcastle, N.S.W. It was the time
that Henry Parkes sent up the military with Nordenfeldt guns. A number of
men were arrested. Several were sent to jail for fairly lengthy sentences.
One lot was sent for trial before a Sydney jury. Both sides challenged
freely.

One juror who passed was a young man who was then a builder and
contractor. He took very full notes during the hearing in regard to the
evidence as it affected each of the accused. There were eleven men on trial.
On the conclusion of the evidence the jury retired to consider their verdict.
Of course, our friend who had taken notes naturally expected that they
would take each man's case on its merits, but soon found, to his
consternation, that ten out of the twelve had no such idea. They held that
their duty was to find all hands either guilty or innocent.

Our friend was stubborn, however, and at last they agreed to ask the
judge. They retired again, and our friend decided to leave them alone for a
while. They took the list; and, as it chanced, the first name was that of the
worst case of all. If any were guilty it was this man. They found him not
guilty. The next was treated the same way, and so they went on until about
six had been found not guilty. They then reckoned that the rest ought to be



brought in guilty, as it would never do to let all of them off.

It was here our friend took a hand. He had notes. the others had none; for,
though a few had begun well in that respect, they had stopped after a few
men had been dealt with. Our friend argued, and read from his notes to
show that the men then under consideration were innocent—and especially
when compared with those already let off. His notes were disputed, and
eventually, at about eleven o'clock at night, the judge was called into
Court, as was also the accused, and His Honor was asked to read his notes
for the benefit of the jury. Again there was argument, and finally the jury
went to bed.

The leader of the ignorant section of the jury was a suburban alderman
with a big sense of his own importance, but without an atom of sense of
justice. Our friend started on him at four in the morning, flattered his
vanity and self-importance to such an extent that he got him to agree to let
off two men, and disagree on the other three. He followed up by seeing
another of the leaders of the party who held that it would never do to let all
go unpunished, and by 8 o'clock in the morning he had his way; and so the
eight who were most guilty—if any were—were found not guilty, and the
jury reported disagreement in regard to the others. Needless to say, the
latter were never tried again, and, further, owing to the verdict in the case
of the others, the men already in jail had the remainder of their sentences
remitted. The man who so successfully fought for fair play for each of
those accused unionists is now a member of the Labor Party in the
Commonwealth Parliament.

Here is an incident of another kind: After the English decisions in the
celebrated Taff Vale and similar cases, the law was made use of in the new
form in Australia so soon as opportunity offered. The A.W.U. conducted a
big strike for an increase in shearing rates in 1902. It had a large camp at
Coonamble, just outside the town. An injunction was obtained against us,
and the camp had to be broken up. The first case connected with this camp
had been heard in the Equity Court by Justice A. H. Simpson, and resulted
in our favor. A second case was to come before the same judge, but by
some means it was called on before Justice Walker. From the opening of
the case it was evident that his mind was made up, and the Union would
get no consideration from him.

The case was argued on affidavits, and we wanted a trial, so that we
could cross-examine and compel some of the “scabs” who had made false
affidavits to admit having been paid for doing so. Our funds had been
drained, and apparently the judge knew that, because he insisted upon our
paying the full amount of costs claimed—over £1500—into Court at once.
We asked that costs should be made costs in the cause, and offered to pay



in £1000 at once; but the judge was adamant, and it was with difficulty that
our counsel (Sir Julian Salomons) could get three days' grace for this. We
of course managed to raise the money in time, but it was clear that the
pastoralists thought they had a chance to come down on the Union and take
possession of “The Worker” newspaper, and also force General Secretary
Macdonell and myself into insolvency and thus out of Parliament. When
the costs were taxed afterwards the Taxing Master reduced the amount to
about £800, so that our offer of £1000 was ample security.

The dodge of getting a favorable judge sent to try a case is a favorite one
with those who have any influence with the men in authority. If an
Attorney-General wants to get a man off he has him charged on a count on
which the evidence is weak. Under capitalism the rich wrong-doer escapes
in quite a legal way; the poor man has all the legal forces arrayed against
him, backed by prejudice and class bias.



Chapter XV. The Press.

THERE is an old song, the refrain of which runs “It must be true because
it's in the papers.” The majority of people believe what they see in cold
type if it does not conflict too strongly with their own opinions. Only those
who have had an opportunity of getting behind the scenes realise how
unreliable the ordinary newspaper is. Part of the blame rests upon the
system. Take ordinary news, which may be classed as the gossip and
scandal of the community put into print. The reporter does his best to give
a correct report of a public meeting or some other incident, but owing to
the exigencies of space the sub-editor cuts slabs out of it, and alters the
whole tenor of the report.

Again, every paper has a policy laid down by its proprietors, and the man
whose brains are hired to act as editor must build according to design and
specification. The paper caters for a certain class of readers, and only prints
what makes the paper sell, and thus secures advertisements. Readers like
an organ which clearly puts ideas that are floating more or less vaguely in
their own minds, and throw down in disgust any paper which exposes the
falsity of long-cherished opinions. The people generally are not seekers
after truth. They like what panders to their own vanity, and they get it.

The big, well-established newspaper is a money-making concern. Its
income is mainly derived from advertisements, and it will not get these
unless 1in its policy it favors the commercial classes. All advertisements are
not found in the regular advertising columns nor are they even denoted
with an asterisk or the abbreviated “advt.” at the bottom. The American
system has already secured a place in Australian journalism, and in
ordinary news items, if the name of a company or firm is mentioned, it is
nearly sure to be an “ad.” The reports of the half-yearly meetings of banks
and the annuals of insurance companies are mostly paid for as “ads.” The
report of an alleged street accident, in which a hotel is named, is an
advertisement. The accident has not occurred, and the account of it was
pure fiction.

As for the cable news, there is probably a substratum of truth sometimes,
but how much no one can tell, because it is amplified in the office of the
paper which publishes it. Only one cable comes to Australia, and it is
controlled by a ring composed of the leading dailies in our cities. In honest
amplifying, the way it is interpreted depends on the acquaintance of the
person doing it with old world movements. Boiled down, it is safe to say
that the average man who depends for his education upon newspapers will
be a very misinformed man, to say the least. He would be better informed



if he only read novels.

Then the system of getting country news is bad, and invariably leads to
the coloring of “facts,” if not to their creation. The country correspondent
is paid by the line, generally a penny half-penny. He is not allowed to wire
news unless it is important and sensational. He is only paid for what is
published, and he may lose his connection with the paper if he telegraphs
matter not, in the opinion of the editor, good enough for publication. Hence
the correspondent, if he has a vivid imagination, takes care that the matter
wired is such as will make good reading.

One or two illustrations out of scores known to me will do. During strike
time news is eagerly looked for. In Queensland, in 1891, a shearer who
was a bit of a wag rode into a town and was at once pounced on by the
newspaper correspondent of one of the Brisbane dailies. He was asked if
there was any news. He replied:

“Oh, haven't you heard of the riot and burning down of — woolshed?”

Pressed for further particulars, he gave them splendidly out of his own
lively imagination. He reckoned he was doing a good turn to the poor
correspondent. The shed named was thirty miles out, so the correspondent
had no time to visit it. He telegraphed a graphic account of the alleged
disturbance to his paper, and it was published under big cross-heads next
day. As all the papers are associated, the same account was sent south, and
every reader in Australia next day had the excitement of reading about the
alleged outrage, and doubtless many joined in denunciation of unionists
who would do such things. Probably the item was also cabled to the old
world also. What happened to the correspondent is not known.

In another case a shed was reported as having been burned to the ground
by unionists, while as a matter of fact there were two feet of water all
around it at the time, and no one near it, unionist or otherwise. When we
remember that the leading press is bitterly hostile to Labor, we can
understand how eagerly it circulates lying statements of this kind. The
press is therefore utterly unreliable to take as an authority on any industrial
dispute. Press inaccuracies have been exposed in the official reports of
police inspectors, but of course the papers carefully suppress anything
calculated to destroy or weaken that superstitious faith which the average
reader has regarding his favorite journal.

Practically all the big daily papers in our cities are against Labor. In 1890
more than one editor gave up his position on leading Sydney dailies
because he was ordered to write down Labor. As a matter of fact, it 1s hard
to find a journalist on our press who is not a believer in and supporter of
the Labor movement; but he has to earn his living, and like many another
under our cruel social system, he cannot be honest and gain a crust. The



remedy is, after all, in the hands of the workers themselves. They have the
power, if they had the will and the patience, to build up papers for the
presentation of the truth.

There are papers which now pose as being in the interest of Labor,
which, if every man stopped taking them, would soon amend their policy
to suit. Public opinion is to a large extent made by the press, but public
opinion could also, if it willed, mould the press utterances. The present
tendency of the workers, however, is to have a Labor daily, owned by
themselves and run in their interests. The ideal method would be to have it
on the lines of the present weekly “Workers,” namely, owned and
controlled by the co-operating unions. There would then be no shares to be
sold, nor any chance of capitalists getting possession. In Broken Hill,
N.S.W., the unionists have already realised that ideal, as on the 2nd
November, 1908, appeared the first issue of a union owned Labor daily—
“The Barrier Daily Truth.”

The Australian Workers' Union is taking a ballot of its members during
this year to ascertain whether they favor paying a couple of levies of £1
each for starting a Labor daily in Sydney. Money is being subscribed in
South Australia for starting a Labor daily in Adelaide. When such papers
start they will require to arrange for a special cable service, as the present
combine will not allow them to join.

The attitude of the existing newspaper proprietors was made apparent
some time ago, when a Labor daily was mooted in Sydney. The directors
of the “Daily Telegraph” immediately issued a circular to all their
newsagents warning them that if they sold the Labor daily the sale of the
“Telegraph” would be taken out of their hands. Yet in its leading articles it
advocates freedom of trade, and denounces all forms of boycott. In regard
to the cable combine, it asserted that there was no such thing—that there
was full freedom for any journal—whilst at the same time the chairman of
its board (Major Randal Carey) told the shareholders in his report that the
arrangement had been renewed for another five years, and that it practically
prohibited any other newspaper coming into the field.

In connection with the big Sydney dailies some highly interesting facts
came out under examination by a Select Committee of the New South
Wales Parliament, obtained by Labor members in 1902. The Sydney press
i1s strongly capitalistic, and openly anti-Socialistic and anti-Labor.
Capitalistic Governments depend upon the big dailies for their political
existence. The influence of the big newspapers was sufficient to get a law
passed granting free carriage of newspapers through the post. So far back
as 1874 the two morning papers began sending their parcels direct to the
railway station, and the Postal Department paid one-quarter parcel rates for



them.

In May, 1887, Minister for Railways John Suther